

Ingo Tews D · Zohreh Davoudi · Andreas Ekström · Jason D. Holt · Kevin Becker · Raúl Briceño · David J. Dean · William Detmold · Christian Drischler Thomas Duguet · Evgeny Epelbaum · Ashot Gasparyan · Jambul Gegelia · Jeremy R. Green · Harald W. Grießhammer · Andrew D. Hanlon · Matthias Heinz · Heiko Hergert · Martin Hoferichter · Marc Illa · David Kekejian · Alejandro Kievsky · Sebastian König · Hermann Krebs · Kristina D. Launev · Dean Lee · Petr Navrátil · Amy Nicholson · Assumpta Parreño · Daniel R. Phillips · Marek Płoszajczak · Xiu-Lei Ren · Thomas R. Richardson · Caroline Robin · Grigor H. Sargsyan · Martin J. Savage Matthias R. Schindler · Phiala E. Shanahan · Roxanne P. Springer · Alexander Tichai · Ubirajara van Kolck · Michael L. Wagman · André Walker-Loud · Chieh-Jen Yang · Xilin Zhang

Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: A Collection of Perspectives

Received: 24 March 2022 / Accepted: 30 March 2022 / Published online: 10 September 2022 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer-Verlag GmbH Austria, part of Springer Nature 2022

Abstract This is a collection of perspective pieces contributed by the participants of the Institute for Nuclear Theory's Program on *Nuclear Physics for Precision Nuclear Physics* which was held virtually from April 19 to May 7, 2021. The collection represents the reflections of a vibrant and engaged community of researchers on the status of theoretical research in low-energy nuclear physics, the challenges ahead, and new ideas and strategies to make progress in nuclear structure and reaction physics, effective field theory, lattice QCD, quantum information, and quantum computing. The contributed pieces solely reflect the perspectives of the respective authors and do not represent the viewpoints of the Institute for Nuclear theory or the organizers of the program.

Contents

Pre	eface	3
1	Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Status, Challenges, and Prospects	
	by Zohreh Davoudi, Andreas Ekström, Jason D. Holt and Ingo Tews	4
	1.1 Current Limitations of Nuclear Hamiltonians and Calibrating Nuclear Forces Using Data for Few- and Many-Body	
	Observables	4
	1.2 Improving Nuclear Forces Using Novel Computational Methods and Going to Higher Orders in EFT	5
	1.3 Improved Power-Counting Schemes and Constraining Nuclear Forces from Lattice QCD	6
	1.4 Prospects of Quantum Information Sciences and Quantum Computing in Nuclear Physics	7
2	Reflections on Progress and Challenges in Low-Energy Nuclear Physics	
	by Dean Lee and Daniel R. Phillips	8
	2.1 Unitary Limit and Nuclear Physics	9
	2.2 Some Questions About Power Counting in Chiral EFT	9
	2.3 Does a Quantum Phase Transition Make Zero-Range Interactions a Poor Tool with Which to Describe Nuclei?	9
	2.4 Some Questions About Eigenvector Continuation	10
3	Dependence of Nuclear Ab Initio Calculations for Medium Mass Nuclei on the Form of the Nuclear Force Regulator	
	by Petr Navrátil	10
	•	

	3.1 Inclusion of the 3N Contact Interaction at N ⁴ LO 3.2 Importance of Calculations that Include Continuum Effects	. 11 . 11
4	Collective Observables for Nuclear Interaction Benchmarks	
	by Kristina D. Launey, Grigor H. Sargsyan, Kevin Becker, David Kekejian	. 11
	4.2 Recommendations	. 13
5	Role of the Continuum Couplings in Testing the Nuclear Interactions	
~	by Marek Płoszajczak	. 13
0	Comments on the χ^2 values in the Three-Inucleon Sector by Alejandro Kievsky	14
7	Perspectives on an Open-Source Toolchain for ab initio Nuclear Physics	
	by Matthias Heinz, Thomas Duguet, Harald W. Grießhammer, Heiko Hergert, Alexander Tichai	. 15
	7.1 Introduction	. 15
	7.3 Tools for Matrix Element Usage	. 15
	7.4 Explorations of Nuclear Forces in Medium-Mass Systems	. 16
	7.5 Ensuring Proper Credit and Acknowledgment	. 16
	7.6 Considerations for Publishing Codes	. I7 17
8	Few-Body Emulators Based on Eigenvector Continuation	. 17
	by Christian Drischler, Xilin Zhang	. 17
	8.1 Making the Impossible Possible: Emulators	. 17
	8.2 Setting the Stage: Two-Body Scattering and Reactions	. 18
	8.4 (Not Really the) Final Act: Few-Body Systems with Discrete Energy Levels	. 19
9	The Relevance of the Unitarity Limit and the Size of Many-Body Forces in Chiral Effective Field Theory	
	by Harald W. Grießhammer, Sebastian König, Daniel R. Phillips, Ubirajara van Kolck	. 20
	9.1 Chiral Limit or Unitarity Limit: Which One is More Relevant for Nuclei with $A \le 4$?	. 21
	9.1.1 Connectores	. 21
	9.2 The Perpetually Vexatious ${}^{1}S_{0}$ Channel	. 22
	9.3 What About "Real" Nuclei?	. 23
10	Nuclear Forces in a Manifestly Lorentz-Invariant Formulation of Chiral Effective Field Theory	22
	by Xiu-Lei Ren, Evgeny Epelbaum, Jambul Gegelia	. 23
	10.1 Introductory Pamarka	22
	10.1 Introductory Remarks	. 23 . 24
11	10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges	23 24
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 	23 24 . 25
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from x EET. Current Status and Open Questions 	23 24 25 25 25
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χEFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χEFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χEFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from <i>x</i>EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from <i>x</i>EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 27 27
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from <i>x</i>EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 27 27 27
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from <i>x</i>EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 <i>x</i>EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from <i>x</i>EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 <i>x</i>EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of <i>x</i>EFT 	. 23 . 24 . 25 . 25 . 25 . 25 . 25 . 25 . 25 . 26 . 26 . 26 . 27 . 27 . 27 . 27 . 27 . 27 . 27 . 27
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from <i>x</i>EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 <i>x</i>EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear <i>x</i>EFT: Open Issues 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 28 300
11	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from <i>x</i>EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 <i>x</i>EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear <i>x</i>EFT: Open Issues 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 28 300 30
11	10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χ EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the $\Delta(1232)$ Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 χ EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of χ EFT 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear χ EFT: Open Issues 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 30 30 30
11	10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χ EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the $\Delta(1232)$ Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 χ EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of χ EFT: 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear χ EFT: Open Issues 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 11.5 Concluding Remarks Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27
11 12 13	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from <i>χ</i>EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 <i>χ</i>EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of <i>χ</i>EFT 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear <i>χ</i>EFT: Open Issues 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 11.5 Concluding Remarks Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Chieh-Jen Yang On the Determination of <i>π N</i> and <i>NN</i> Low-Energy Constants 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 28 30 30 30 31
11 12 13	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from xEFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 xEFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of xEFT 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear xEFT: Open Issues 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 11.5 Concluding Remarks Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Chieh-Jen Yang On the Determination of πN and NN Low-Energy Constants by Martin Hoferichter 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 30 30 31 32
11 12 13 14	10.1 Introductory Remarks10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation TheoryNuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challengesby Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χ EFT: Current Status and Open Questions11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge11.2.3 Nuclear Currents11.2.4 On the Role of the $\Delta(1232)$ Resonance11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT11.3.3 χ EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of χ EFT11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of Nuclear χ EFT: Open Issues11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof11.5 Concluding RemarksChallenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physicsby Chieh-Jen YangOn the Determination of πN and NN Low-Energy Constantsby Martin HoferichterThe Possible Role of the Large- N_e Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCD	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 30 30 30 31
11 12 13 14	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χEFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of χEFT 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of Nuclear χEFT: Open Issues 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 11.5 Concluding Remarks Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Chich-Jen Yang On the Determination of π<i>N</i> and <i>NN</i> Low-Energy Constants by Martin Hoferichter The Possible Role of the Large-<i>N_c</i> Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCD by Martin Hoferichter 	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 30 30 30 31 32 33
11 12 13 14 15	10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χ EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the $\Delta(1232)$ Resonance 11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of χ EFT 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of Nuclear χ EFT: Open Issues 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 11.5 Concluding Remarks Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Martin Hoferichter The Possible Role of the Large- N_c Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCD by Thomas R. Richardson, Matthias R. Schindler, Roxanne P. Springer Towards Robustly Grounding Nuclear Physics in the Standard Model by Zohreh Davoudi, William Detmold, Marc Illa, Assumpta Parreño, Phiala E. Shanahan, Michae	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 27 277 277 277 277 277 277 273 28 300 300 300 300 300 31 32 33 33
11 12 13 14 15 16	10.1Introductory Remarks10.2Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation TheoryNuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challengesby Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs11.1Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer11.2Nuclear Interactions from χ EFT: Current Status and Open Questions11.2.1The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector11.2.2The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge11.2.3Nuclear Currents11.2.4On the Role of the $\Delta(1232)$ Resonance11.3.1Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting11.3.2Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT11.3.3 χ EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice11.3.4The RG-Invariant Formulation of χ EFT:11.3.5A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example11.5Concluding RemarksChallenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physicsby Chieh-Jen YangOn the Determination of πN and NN Low-Energy Constantsby Martin HofericherThe Possible Role of the Large- N_c Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCDby Thomas R. Richardson, Matthias R. Schindler, Roxanne P. SpringerTowards Robustly Grounding Nuclear Physics in the Standard Modelby Zohreh Davoudi, William Detmold, Marc Illa, Assumpta Parreño, Phiala E. Shanahan, Michael L. Wagman <td>23 24 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 31 32 33</td>	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 31 32 33
11 12 13 14 15 16	10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χ EFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon-Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the $\Delta(1232)$ Resonance 11.3.1 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of χ EFT 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.3 Concluding Remarks 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 11.5 Concluding Remarks Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Chieh-Jen Yang On the Determination of πN and NN Low-Energy Constants by Martin Hoferichter The Possible Role of the Large- N_c Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCD by Thomas R. Richardson, Matthias R. Schindler, Roxanne P. Springe	23 24 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 30 30 30 31 32 33 33 33 33
11 12 13 14 15 16	10.1 Introductory Remarks10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation TheoryNuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challengesby Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χ EFT: Current Status and Open Questions11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge11.2.3 Nuclear Currents11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT11.3.3 χ EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of χ EFT11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of Nuclear χ EFT: Open Issues11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof11.5 Concluding RemarksChallenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physicsby Chrieh-Jen YangOn the Determination of πN and NN Low-Energy Constantsby Martin HoferichterThe Possible Role of the Large- N_e Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCDby Thomas R. Richardson, Matthias R. Schindler, Roxanne P. SpringerTowards Robustly Grounding Nuclear Physics in the Standard Modelby Zohreh Davoudi, William Detmold, Marc Illa, Assumpta Parreño, Philala E. Shanahan, Michael L. WagmanOn the Reliable Lattice-QCD Determination of Multi-Baryon Interactions and Matrix Elements <td>23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 28 300 300 300 301 302 303 31 32 333 336 337 37 37</td>	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 28 300 300 300 301 302 303 31 32 333 336 337 37 37
11 12 13 14 15 16	10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χEFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3.1 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 xEFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of xEFT 11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.5 Concluding Remarks Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Martin Hoferichter The Possible Role of the Large-N _c Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCD by Tohmas R. Richardson, Matthias R. Schindler, Roxanne P. Springer Towards Robustly Grounding Nuclear Physics in the Standard Model by Zohreh Davoudi, William Detmold, Marc Illa, Assumpta Pareño, Phiala E. Sha	23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 28 300 300 301 302 31 32 333 336 37 39 39 39 39
11 12 13 14 15 16	 10.1 Introductory Remarks 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory 10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs 11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer 11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χEFT: Current Status and Open Questions 11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector 11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge 11.2.3 Nuclear Currents 11.2.4 On the Role of the Δ(1232) Resonance 11.3.1 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting 11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT 11.3.3 χEFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice 11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of NEGT Naviant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example 11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear χEFT: Open Issues 11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof 11.5 Concluding Remarks Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Chieh-Jen Yang On the Determination of π<i>N</i> and <i>NN</i> Low-Energy Constants by Martin Hoferichter The Possible Role of the Large-<i>N_e</i> Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCD by Thomas R. Richardson, Matthias R. Schindler, Roxanne P. Springer Towards Robustly Grounding Nuclear Physics in the Standard Model by Zohreh Davoudi, William Detmold, Marc Illa, Assumpta Parreño, Phiala E. Shanahan, Michael L. Wagman On the Reliable Lattice-QCD Determination of Multi-Baryon Interactions and Matrix Elements by Raúl Briceño, Jeremy R. Green, Andrew D. Hanlon, Amy Nicholson, André Walker-Loud 16.1 Reliable Spectral Analysis 16.2 Quantization Conditions at Nonzero Lattice Spacing 16.2.1 Applying Quan	23 24 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 30 30 30 31 32 33 33 33 36 36 379 39 39 40 40
11 12 13 14 15 16	10.1 Introductory Remarks10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challengesby Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer11.2 Nuclear Interactions from χ EFT: Current Status and Open Questions11.2.1 The Nucleon-Nucleon Sector11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge11.3.3 Nuclear Currents11.4.4 On the Role of the $\Delta(1232)$ Resonance11.3.1 Renormalization or Drive Counting11.3.1 Renormalization on Chiral Perturbation Theory11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT11.3.3 χ EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of χ EFT11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear χ EFT: Open Issues11.711.7 Concluding RemarksChallenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physicsby Martin HoferichterThe Possible Role of the Large- N_e Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCDby Thomas R. Richardson, Matthias R. Schindler, Roxanne P. SpringerTowards Robustly Grounding Nuclear Physics in the Standard Modelby Zohreh Davoudi, William Detromold, Marc III, Assumpta Parreño, Phila E. Shanahan, Michael L. WagmanOn the Reliable Lattice-QCD Determination of Multi-Baryon Interactions and Matrix Elementsby Zohreh Davoudi, William Detromold, Marc	23 24 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 30 30 30 30 30 31 32 33 33 33 36 37 39 39 39 40 40

17	Entanglement in Nuclear Structure
	by Caroline Robin
	17.1 Entanglement in Nuclear Structure Calculations
	17.2 Entanglement to Guide Quantum Computations of Nuclei
	17.3 Discussion and Questions to Address in the Future
18	A Perspective on Quantum Information and Quantum Computing for Nuclear Physics
	by Martin J. Savage
19	A Perspective on the Future of High-Performance Quantum Computing
	by David J. Dean
Ref	erences
Aut	hors and Affiliations

Preface

A sound theoretical description of nuclear forces is pivotal for understanding many important physical observables over a wide range of energy scales and densities: from few-nucleon physics to nuclear structure and reaction observables as well as astrophysical environments and associated phenomena.

Within the last 3 decades, significant progress in nuclear physics has been made possible, in part, thanks to the development of powerful ab initio many-body methods for approximately solving the nuclear Schrödinger equation, and the development of nuclear forces using effective field theory (EFT), in particular chiral EFT (χ EFT). This progress means that it has now become increasingly important to quantify the theoretical uncertainties of the predictions, in particular the uncertainties stemming from the nuclear Hamiltonian itself because they often dominate the theoretical error budget. These uncertainties, primarily due to unknown or neglected physics, can lead to sizable errors when predicting nuclear observables of interest for next-generation experiments and astrophysical observations and, therefore, need to be managed and reliably quantified to enable precision nuclear physics. Indeed, theoretical predictions with quantified uncertainties facilitate the most meaningful comparisons with experimental and observational data.

The Institute for Nuclear Theory at the University of Washington hosted a virtual 3-week program to assess the state of low-energy nuclear physics and to evaluate pathways to further progress, with an emphasis on nuclear forces. The overarching questions addressed during the program were:

- What are the current limitations of nuclear Hamiltonians? Which few- and many-body observables are ideal to constrain nuclear forces?
- How can novel computational and statistical tools be used to improve nuclear forces and their uncertainty estimates? What precision can be achieved by going to higher orders in χ EFT?
- What is a suitable power counting for χ EFT? What is the role of lattice quantum chromodynamics (LQCD) studies of few-nucleon systems in constraining nuclear EFTs?
- What can be learned from quantum-information analyses of low-energy nuclear systems? Can quantum computing change the computational paradigm in nuclear physics in the upcoming decades?

The program brought together researchers with expertise in nuclear many-body techniques, EFT, and LQCD for nuclear physics, to share recent advances and new developments, and to discuss shortcomings, generate new ideas, and identify pathways to address to the questions above.

To finish the program with a summary of outstanding problems and questions, possible benchmarks and solutions, and clearly stated tasks for the community, all participants were invited to contribute short *perspective pieces*. These have been collected and merged into the present document. The wide range of topics covered by the contributed perspectives reflects the rich and stimulating developments that presently characterize a highly active nuclear-physics community. The various pieces touch upon a range of topics; renormalizability, power counting, unitarity, emulators, determination of low-energy constants, the complex nature of open-source computing in science, the three-nucleon continuum, collectivity, regulator dependencies, matching LQCD to EFTs, variational LQCD spectroscopy, quantum information and quantum entanglement, and quantum computing and its migration to nuclear physics.

The hope is that this document will serve as an anthology for the community and help guide future developments, facilitate collaborative work between different sub-communities, and allow assessing the progress to be made in the next few years.

The program organizers and collection editors: Zohreh Davoudi, Andreas Ekström, Jason D. Holt, and Ingo Tews

1 Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Status, Challenges, and Prospects by Zohreh Davoudi, Andreas Ekström, Jason D. Holt and Ingo Tews

This first contribution to this collection contains the perspective of the editors as well as a brief overview of the discussions during the program and the contributions to this collection. It therefore spans over a wide range of topics: current limitations of nuclear Hamiltonians and the calibration of nuclear forces, improved nuclear forces using novel computational and statistical methods, and improved power-counting schemes. It also enumerates ideas and questions related to large- N_c analysis for low-energy nuclear processes, LQCD calculations for nuclear physics and their matching to the EFTs, and the role of quantum information sciences and quantum computing in theoretical nuclear physics.

1.1 Current Limitations of Nuclear Hamiltonians and Calibrating Nuclear Forces Using Data for Few- and Many-Body Observables

A reoccurring question in the field is why some interactions derived in χ EFT, even though adjusted to reproduce similar data, work better than others for particular observables across the nuclear chart. This question is related to several open challenges pertaining to the (chiral) Hamiltonians used in ab initio many-body methods: uncertainty quantification, the regularization scheme and scale dependence, and the possibility of identifying an ideal set of observables to constrain Hamiltonians. In the coming years, it will be crucial to address these questions to identify which components of nuclear interactions are most important for accurately reproducing and predicting relevant nuclear observables.

When talking about different interactions and their success in describing various nuclear observables, it is important to distinguish between the EFT itself and the individual model realizations of it. The latter are typically referred to as interactions and depend on choices for where, and how, to truncate the (asymptotic) EFT series, how to identify the low-energy constants (LECs) and their numerical values, and how to regularize the potential. These choices all contribute to the theoretical uncertainty of the interaction and the resulting predictions.

In addition, when comparing theoretical predictions for individual observables, additional uncertainties arise due to approximations pertaining to the employed many-body method used to approximately solve the Schrödinger equation. Of course, the underlying assumptions made when estimating theoretical uncertainties will also play a significant role.

It is crucial to estimate uncertainties in theory as well as experiment, without which one cannot identify relevant tensions/discrepancies among model predictions and experiments. Bayesian statistical inference is becoming the prevailing approach for uncertainty quantification, parameter estimation, and various statistical analyses of theoretical predictions and models. In recent years, Bayesian tools and prescriptions have become available to, e.g., estimate truncation errors in EFT, and it is very informative to specify such uncertainties in theoretical analyses of nuclear observables. Alongside any uncertainty estimation, it is key to specify the assumptions made and, if possible, enumerate any additional sources of uncertainty not accounted for.

In this context, a relevant question arises: how to best estimate the uncertainties due to approximations made when solving the many-body Schrödinger equation? This is sometimes referred to as the (many-body) method error. It will be very important for the community to find ways of better estimating these uncertainties, e.g., by comparing many-body methods at different levels of approximation against available benchmark data, and by comparing predictions between different ab initio methods against each other and potentially against phenomenological models when data are not available. To facilitate such comparisons, it will be useful to more freely distribute relevant interaction matrix elements within the community and, if possible, make the many-body codes, as well as accurate emulators for many-body methods, available to other researchers. One way forward might be to create an online repository for such resources. While many obvious questions arise regarding storage space, documentation, and a recognition of scientific credit to the developers, it is nevertheless important to find ways to tackle these practical and logistical challenges.

Additionally, it is crucial to quantify the effects of different regulator schemes that might influence the performance of nuclear interactions by regulating different parts of the nuclear interaction differently. It might be that some problems with nuclear interactions are more persistent in some schemes compared to others. Can the community find arguments for or against certain schemes? For example, it is difficult to maintain relevant symmetries of the interactions with most regulators and nontrivial to consistently regulate currents and interactions. It is expected that regulator artifacts, i.e., systematic uncertainties due to the regulator choices,

decrease at high orders in the EFT and for larger cutoffs. However, as was brought up in the program, if one needs very high orders in the calculations then one is likely working with the wrong expansion. Furthermore, high cutoffs are not accessible with most many-body methods, even though future method developments will enable the community to treat stiffer and bare χ EFT interactions.

Finally, it is important to investigate which observables are ideal to calibrate interactions. In principle, the LECs of a low-energy EFT, and any additional parameters necessary for uncertainty quantification, can be inferred from any set of low-energy data within the applicability domain of the EFT. The challenge lies in identifying and combining a set of calibration data with sufficient information content to yield useful predictions. In addition to commonly used calibration data such as nucleon–nucleon scattering cross sections and bulk nuclear observables, a calibration data set could also include, e.g., nucleon-nucleus or nucleus-nucleus scattering, astrophysical observations of neutron stars or data on collective phenomena. Hence, we can ask ourselves if it would be useful to come up with a minimal set of observables for validation of ab initio approaches and interaction models. Sensitivity studies might help to determine which observables are most useful to determine and test the various parts of nuclear interactions and should be included in such a set. We stress however that such a set is only useful in combination with robust estimates of all uncertainties.

1.2 Improving Nuclear Forces Using Novel Computational Methods and Going to Higher Orders in EFT

Since the introduction of nuclear EFTs, the EFT paradigm has proven itself as a useful principle for constructing high-precision interactions with the added benefit of systematic assessment of uncertainties. Going to higher orders in the EFT corresponds to including additional information on the short-range physics with the hope of improving the accuracy of the theoretical predictions. Predictions in the few-nucleon sector have now reached a high level of precision and accuracy when based on EFTs at sufficiently high order; even fifth-order calculations exist in some cases. One question is how to similarly improve the predictions for observables in heavier-mass systems? There are not yet any clear signs of systematic improvements in such systems when increasing the (chiral) order in EFT. More order-by-order comparisons of delta-full/delta-less interactions, constructed using the same methodology, are needed. Generally, it would most likely be useful for different groups to compare different schemes for constructing interactions in a more systematic way.

From a quantitative perspective, at least two complications arise when going to higher orders. First, with each additional order comes additional LECs and the numerical values of which need to be determined. Second, higher-order EFTs entail many-body interactions, e.g., three-nucleon forces, with associated unknown LECs that must be determined using data from three-nucleon systems, or beyond. It is computationally expensive to calibrate interactions using data from observables in few- and many-nucleon systems.

In recent years, a large number of nuclear interactions have been constructed by the community. The question arises if this "Skyrmification" of interactions is a positive or a negative trend. Clearly, as long as the predictions from various interaction models agree within uncertainties, there is, in principle no problem. Indeed, a systematically developed family (or distribution) of interactions enables coherent model predictions and allows us to assess correlations. In addition, operating with more than one interaction is a straightforward way of gauging theoretical uncertainties. As such, an "antidote" to this "Skyrmification" is a careful and honest uncertainty estimation. Theoretical predictions with relevant estimates of the underlying uncertainty will likely become standard practice in the coming years. It is important to note that the canonical χ^2 -per-datum measure does not account for e.g. model or method errors, but it is nevertheless a useful quantity for gauging the reproduction of, e.g., scattering data.

Emulators, i.e., computationally cheap, yet accurate, surrogate models for predicting the structure and reactions of few- and many-body systems, have emerged as powerful and useful tools since they provide access to an entirely new class of computational statistics methods for parameter estimation, sensitivity analysis, model comparison, and model mixing. In particular, emulators based on eigenvector continuation appear to be particularly efficient and accurate. This is an exciting development with the potential to facilitate new discoveries and to address several of the open problems mentioned before. Still, using emulators requires careful uncertainty quantification of the corresponding emulation error. Some methods, like Gaussian processes, yield uncertainties by design, but it remains to be established how to estimate the errors induced by eigenvector continuation, however, and the construction of emulators requires access to "split-format" interaction input. This again highlights the importance of a community repository for interaction codes and emulators.

1.3 Improved Power-Counting Schemes and Constraining Nuclear Forces from Lattice QCD

To achieve renormalization group invariance it is of key importance to have the correct operators in place at the respective orders in the nuclear EFT expansion. There are, however, decades-long diverging viewpoints in the nuclear-theory community about (non-perturbative) renormalization and power counting in χ EFT. This was also a prominent topic of discussion during the program.

In this context, the regulator cutoff plays a central role. It is an intermediate quantity necessary to regulate the interaction, and is often kept relatively small to converge present-day many-body calculations, but beyond this function it is not part of the underlying physical theory. It is clear that it is not meaningful to take the cutoff (much) smaller than the hard scale, or breakdown scale, of the EFT. In principle, the cutoff can be taken larger than the breakdown scale, but there are opposing viewpoints on how large it is meaningful to take it. This is intimately related to the question of inferring the importance of counterterms in the potential without understating or overstating their importance, as well as possible changes to the power counting in *A*-body systems.

To make progress, it is of interest to the community to find simple, or well-understood, benchmark systems to analyze renormalization, regularization, and power-counting strategies. The present list of relevant, or realistic, benchmark systems appears to be rather short, and includes the zero-range limit at unitarity, systems described by pionless EFT, and the two-nucleon system. In addition, when studying such systems at high values for the cutoff, spurious bound states might appear that could be difficult to treat in certain many-body methods.

An EFT does not dictate what the leading order (LO) should contain beyond what is necessary to fulfill minimal symmetry and renormalization-group requirements. Studies of finite and infinite nuclear systems at LO in χ EFT point to deficiencies regarding saturation and spin-orbit interactions, two important properties observed in nuclear systems. Several questions related to the topic of constructing a LO interaction emerged during discussions, such as: What is an "optimal" convergence pattern for an EFT if you have to choose between "smooth and steady but requiring more orders" or an "irregular" start and then a rapid approach or "convergence" within fewer orders.

A standard avenue for constraining the LECs of the EFTs is to match to relevant experimental data. This may not be a straightforward endeavor when direct experimental measurements do not exist, necessitating the use of other related quantities and indirect phenomenological constraints. Among various examples enumerated in this collection is a recent estimate on the LO nucleon–nucleon (NN) isotensor contact term in the neutrinoless double- β decay within a minimal extension of the Standard Model. This was enabled by the application of a formalism similar to the Cottingham formula used in the study of the neutron-proton mass difference, with the result expressed in terms of a renormalized amplitude. This example highlights the need for a direct matching of the EFT to calculations based in QCD for a variety of beyond-the-Standard-Model processes in the few-nucleon sector, from lepton-number non-conservation and CP violation to dark-matter-nucleus cross sections.

While LQCD is the method of choice for constraining unknown LECs, its computational cost has hindered precise computations in the nuclear sector to date. In the absence of direct LQCD constraints for the time being, large- N_c considerations can provide valuable insights into the size and hence relative importance of interactions in the EFT, and may motivate prioritization of certain LQCD calculations over the others. Among examples enumerated in this collection is the hadronic parity violation in the NN sector where a combined large- N_c and (pionless-)EFT analysis leads to only two independent LO parity-violating operators. Importantly, there is an isotensor parity-violating LEC that contributes at this order. Such a guidance has motivated LQCD calculations of the isotensor quantity that are computationally more accessible. Recent large- N_c analyses have also revealed how questions regarding naturalness of the LECs and hence the size of contributions at given EFT orders may be impacted by the choice of basis.

Open questions to be studied in the coming years concern the expansion of nuclear binding energies in $1/N_c$, better understanding of the role of Δ in the large- N_c analyses, and accidental cancellations that may ruin the large- N_c countings. LQCD can also play a role in the development of the large- N_c studies in nuclear physics by providing constraints on higher partial waves in NN scattering, parity-violating nuclear matrix elements, and three-nucleon observables for the organization of three-nucleon operators. Additionally, LQCD calculations at $N_c \neq 3$ may provide insight into many of these questions, including into the role of Δ in single-and multi-nucleon sectors.

The early and recent work in matching LQCD results to EFTs has resulted in constraints on the twobody nuclear and hypernuclear interactions, revealing symmetries predicted by large- N_c and entanglement considerations, albeit at unphysically-large quark masses. They have also enabled first QCD-based constraints on the LO LECs in the pionless-EFT descriptions of deuteron's electromagnetic properties, and of the npradiative capture, tritium β decay, pp fusion, and two-neutrino double- β decay processes. A significant advance in this matching program involved making predictions for nuclei with atomic numbers larger than those obtained by LQCD, hence demonstrating a full workflow involving LQCD calculations, EFTs matching, and ab initio many-body calculations based in the constrained EFTs, as described in this collection.

As the field moves forward, particularly once LQCD computations of light nuclear systems will become a reality at the physical quark masses, more possibilities may be explored in this critical matching program. LQCD in a finite volume matched to EFTs may help identify convergence issues in the EFTs, or help quantify the energy scale at which the nucleonic description of nuclei breaks down. Such a matching of LQCD and EFT results in a finite volume can also facilitate constraints on few-nucleon operators without the need for complex, and generally not-yet-developed, matching formalisms to scattering amplitudes. A similar matching may be considered between LQCD calculations at a given lattice spacing and the EFT-based many-body calculations at a corresponding UV scale. Additionally, phenomenological or EFT-inspired nuclear wavefunctions may lead to the construction of better interpolating operators for nuclear states in LQCD calculations. To make progress, many-body methods that are set up fully perturbatively to eliminate the need for iterating the potential (hence preserving the strict renormalization-group invariance) may be preferred, nonetheless these methods need to overcome their present drawback in underbinding larger nuclei such as ¹⁶O.

Since the first LQCD calculations of few-nucleon systems at unphysically large quark masses in early 2010s, the field has come a long way in pushing towards lighter quark masses and expanding the observables studied beyond lowest-lying energies, as described in this collection. A decade later, given advances in algorithms and methods and growth in computational resources, the field stands at a critical point where the first ground-breaking, but uncontrolled, calculations will give their place to a new generation of calculations that involve, for the first time, a more comprehensive set of two- and eventually multi-nucleon interpolating operators, enabling a systematic variational spectroscopy of nuclei with better control over excited-state effects. These will also involve ensembles with more than one lattice spacing such that the continuum limit of the lattice results can be taken systematically. Furthermore, the quark masses can be tuned at or near the physical values such that the results will correspond to those in nature.

The first variational studies of NN systems have emerged in recent years, albeit still at large quark masses, with variational bounds on lowest-lying energies that are in tension with the previous non-variational estimates. These tensions may be attributed to one or more of the following: (i) the variational basis of interpolating operators may be yet incomplete and while the upper bounds on energies are reliable, they may miss the presence of one or more lower-energy states if no operator in the set has significant overlap onto such states, (ii) the previous non-variational ground-state results were dominated by excited-state effects at early times and misidentified the ground-state energies, or (iii) as one study suggests, lattice-spacing effects may be significant, and comparing the results of two calculations at different input parameters may be ambiguous due to scale-setting inconsistencies. Investigating such possibilities will constitute a major endeavor in this field in the upcoming years, with promising directions already explored by various collaborations, as enumerated in this collection.

It is important to note that there are already a significant body of work, and related formal and numerical developments, in place in accessing phenomenologically interesting quantities in nuclear physics, from spectra and structure of light nuclei to nuclear scattering and reaction amplitudes. Therefore, once reliable and sufficient variational bases of operators are found and all systematic uncertainties are controlled, progressing toward the goal of matching QCD to EFT and many-body calculations will be within the reach.

1.4 Prospects of Quantum Information Sciences and Quantum Computing in Nuclear Physics

The field of quantum information sciences (QIS) has grown to become a major area of scientific and technological developments in current times, benefiting from various partnerships between academia, government, and industry, as well as an ever growing workforce. Nuclear theorists, among other domain scientists, have recognized the potential of quantum computing in advancing many areas of nuclear physics that currently suffer from computationally intractable problems. These problems include accurate predictions for finite-density systems such as nuclei, phases and decomposition of dense matter (of relevance in neutron stars), real-time phenomena for description of reaction processes and evolution of matter after high-energy collisions (of relevance in collider experiments), as well as nuclear response functions (of relevance in the long-baseline neutrino experiments) and nuclear-structure quantities (of relevance in the upcoming Electron-Ion Collider). In fact, the very first rudimentary (due to limited hardware technology) but ground-breaking (given their novel approach) calculations of small nuclear quantities have emerged, including quantum computing the binding energy of the deuteron and ⁴He, simulating models of nuclear response functions, and simple nuclear reactions, along with exploration of coherent neutrino propagation using simple models. Furthermore, with an eye on the grand challenge of obtaining nuclear dynamics from first-principle QCD-based studies, the field has witnessed a proliferation of concrete ideas, proposals, and algorithms for simulating quantum field theories, and illuminating hardware implementations in small systems. Additionally, by incorporating quantum entanglement and coherence in theoretical descriptions of nuclei, new understanding and insights have been reached in recent years. These research directions, which are still at an early stage, will form an exciting subfield of nuclear theory in the coming decade.

Many interesting open questions and underdeveloped areas will be studied by QIS-oriented nuclear theorists in the coming years: Can quantum entanglement provide a better organizational scheme for nuclear interactions, and a window into emergent symmetries beyond traditional considerations? Can the observed entanglement minimization in low-energy baryon-baryon interactions be understood from an ab initio QCD analysis? Can the intricate balance between repulsion and attraction in nuclear media leading to complexities be characterized via quantum-information measures? Do the highly regular patterns in the shapes of nuclei (pointing to an emergent approximate symplectic symmetry), as verified by recent ab initio studies based in chiral potentials, signal interesting quantum correlations and entanglement structure? Can entanglement structure of nuclear wavefunctions and Hamiltonians in given nuclear many-body methods provide guidance on the most efficient bases for classical or quantum computation of certain nuclear processes?

Can customized gates provide a quicker and more scalable road to simulating nuclear dynamics than standard universal gates? What would be the role of hardware co-design, a process in which domain scientists, such as nuclear theorists, work in a feedback loop with quantum-hardware developers to impact the design of the next-generation quantum devices? Can nuclear theorists bring any benefit to the QIS field, given their long and advanced expertise in numerical Hamiltonian simulations, by providing state-of-the-art tools for simulating, hence optimizing, the quantum hardware? Have nuclear theorists identified concrete problems, i.e., the first realistic applications of quantum computing, so that quantum supremacy in the realm of nuclear physics can be claimed in the upcoming years?

What are the lessons to be learned from the integration of new theory and computing perspectives in nuclear theory over the past 3 decades (such as EFTs and LQCD), such that we can effectively incorporate QIS tools and talent in nuclear theory too? What are the lessons to be learned, and projections to be made, from the course of developments of high-performance computing and its application in domain sciences, so that one can envision a high performance quantum-computing era in nuclear physics? Insights into these questions, and references to relevant recent progress, are presented in this collection.

Acknowledgements: We are grateful to the Institute for Nuclear Theory, as well as an engaged, thoughtful, and critical nuclear-theory community, in particular the speakers, discussion leads, and participants of the INT program 21-1b on *Nuclear Physics for Precision Nuclear Physics*.

Z.D. acknowledges support from the the U.S.Department of Energy's (DOE's) Office of Science Early Career Award DE-SC0020271, Alfred P. Sloan foundation, and Maryland Center for Fundamental Physics at the University of Maryland, College Park. A.E. acknowledges support from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (Grant Agreement No. 758027) and the Swedish Research Council project grant (Grant agreement No. 2020-05127). J.D.H. acknowledges support from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada uunder grants SAPIN-2018-00027, RGPAS-2018-522453, and the Arthur B. McDonald Canadian Astroparticle Physics Research Institute. I.T. was supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics, under contract No. DE-AC52-06NA25396, and by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Advanced Scientific Computing Research, Scientific Discovery through Advanced Computing (SciDAC) NUCLEI program.

2 Reflections on Progress and Challenges in Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Dean Lee and Daniel R. Phillips

During the program we enjoyed the many innovative talks and spirited discussions covering important and timely questions on nuclear forces, effective field theory, power counting, emulators, and lattice quantum

chromodynamics. Here we give some brief comments on a few of the topics. We hope our comments might have some value for others working in this field.

2.1 Unitary Limit and Nuclear Physics

It is clear that the unitary limit for two-component fermions is immediately useful for describing the physics of dilute neutron matter. Recent work also establishes that the unitary limit of four-component fermions is of relevance for understanding atomic nuclei [1]. In particular, the proximity of the (nucleon–nucleon) NN system to the unitary limit results in the presence of universal correlations between few-nucleon observables [2–6] and suggests that the Efimov effect may be nearly realized in the three-nucleon (3N) system [7–9].

If we consider quantum chromodynamics in the limit of large numbers of colors, then the most important NN interactions have an underlying spin-flavor symmetry [10–15] as do the dominant pieces of the threenucleon force [16]. For low momenta, the operators that are leading in large- N_c are those permitted by Wigner-SU(4) symmetry [17]. The Wigner-SU(4) symmetry [17] also emerges as a symmetry of nuclear forces in the unitary limit [18]. The combined use of the momentum and large- N_c expansion leads to useful insights into 3N observables [19] and the parity-violating NN force [20–22].

More recently, it has been suggested that the leading interactions in such a Wigner-SU(4) organization of the NN-force problem are also those that result in minimal entanglement in the NN S-matrix [23,24].

The fact that expansions around the unitary, chiral, and large- N_c limit *all* provide insights into nuclear forces leads us to ask whether one can systematically combine the around-unitarity and chiral expansions [25]? How about the chiral and large- N_c expansions? Which limit is nuclear physics closer to: $m_q \rightarrow 0$ or $N_c \rightarrow \infty$? And what if the success of large- N_c and/or the closeness of nuclear physics to the unitary limit are somehow a manifestation of a deeper quantum-information-theoretic phenomenon in QCD? If that were the case, how would it get built into an EFT for nuclear physics?

2.2 Some Questions About Power Counting in Chiral EFT

- 1. What order is the 3*N* force in such a unified EFT? LO—as suggested by Efimov physics [26]? NLO—as it is in χ EFT with explicit Deltas [27]? NNLO—as is currently practiced [28]? If it is NLO, is that just the Fujita-Miyazawa piece of the 3N force? Or should it also include the short-distance operators with undetermined LECs?
- 2. When we add higher-order corrections to a leading-order Hamiltonian in an χ EFT do we intend those higher-order corrections to be treated in perturbation theory? How should we view the results if those higher-order corrections happen to make the Hamiltonian unbounded from below in certain parameter ranges?

2.3 Does a Quantum Phase Transition Make Zero-Range Interactions a Poor Tool with Which to Describe Nuclei?

The parameters of nuclear physics appear to mean that nuclei sit near a quantum phase transition [29]. The phase boundary is between a Bose gas and a nuclear liquid. Which phase appears is controlled by the alpha–alpha scattering length. If the range of the nucleonic interactions are shorter than the size of the alpha particles, than the Pauli blocking between identical nucleons will cause the alpha–alpha interaction to be weakly attractive or even repulsive [30,31]. Therefore, the alpha-particle size takes on a critical role in the structure of alpha-conjugate nuclei.

The relationship between the alpha-particle size and the range of nucleonic interactions explains, for example, the instability of ¹⁶O against breakup into four alpha particles at leading order in pionless effective field theory [32]. The zero-range limit seems problematic for these systems, but a simple interaction near infinite scattering length with Wigner SU(4) symmetry, nonzero range, and significant local interactions seems to provide a useful starting point for studying atomic nuclei across the nuclear chart [33].

Similarly, if the nucleonic interactions have a significant range but the interactions are not local, then the alpha–alpha interaction may again not be sufficient to produce a nuclear liquid.¹ While the four-component

¹ We use the term "local" to mean interactions whose interaction kernel is diagonal with respect to particle positions.

unitary limit is relevant and useful for studying the physics of atomic nuclei with more than four nucleons, significant care must be taken regarding the range and locality of the nucleonic interactions relative to the size of alpha particles.

2.4 Some Questions About Eigenvector Continuation

Eigenvector continuation has recently emerged as a powerful tool that can reduce the computational load involved in solving the quantum many-body problem [34–38].

- 1. A meta-question is whether this method should really even be called eigenvector continuation. Recently the subspace-emulation strategy proposed in Ref. [34] has been applied without using any eigenvectors [38]. This raises the question of what the minimal conditions are for this very successful strategy to be used.
- 2. How do we estimate the errors/convergence of eigenvector continuation? Some work in this direction is reported in Ref. [39].
- 3. What does the workflow for improving nuclear forces with novel fitting strategies and eigenvector continuation look like in practice? A recent work on constraining 3N-force parameters by the BUQEYE collaboration [40], uses eigenvector-continuation emulation of 3N and 4N bound-state calculations to facilitate simultaneous calibration of both χ EFT parameters and the parameters of the statistical model that encoded the impact of the χ EFT truncation on observables.
- 4. Can we use eigenvector continuation to extend a power counting scheme where perturbation theory is not converging? For example, what happens if we do continuation in g_A (or g_A^2/f_π^2) to control the strength of the one-pion-exchange potential?

Acknowledgements: The perspectives presented here are informed by research supported by the U.S. Department of Energy under grants DESC0013365 and DE-SC0021152 (DL) and DE-FG02-93ER-40756 (DRP) and the Nuclear Computational Low-Energy Initiative (NUCLEI) SciDAC-4 project, DE-SC0018083 (DL).

3 Dependence of Nuclear Ab Initio Calculations for Medium Mass Nuclei on the Form of the Nuclear Force Regulator by Petr Navrátil

Ab initio calculations for medium mass nuclei with chiral nuclear interactions as input show that there is a substantial dependence of binding energies, radii and other observables on the regulator used in particular in the three-nucleon interaction. This dependence is rather weak in light nuclei and therefore it was overlooked at first. The chiral effective field theory (χ EFT) suggests that the regulator effects should be of higher order than the used perturbation expansion. However, in practical calculations for medium mass nuclei the effect is large, bigger than what one would anticipate from the chiral perturbation theory (χ PT).

The sensitivity is in particular significant to the functional form of the regulator, local versus non-local or semi-local. The use of local regulators in the chiral 3N interaction, i.e., depending on the transferred momentum, was widespread in the past as technically it is easier to implement the most complicated chiral three-nucleon (3N) terms with this type of regulator because the resulting interaction is local in the coordinate space [41]. However, obtained Hamiltonian with low-energy constants (LECs) typically determined in mass A = 2-4 systems overbinds medium mass nuclei and underestimates nuclear radii [42,43]. On the other hand, applications of non-local regulators in the 3N interaction that depend on the relative nucleon momenta, gives much better results in medium mass nuclei for both binding energies and radii [44]. It should be noted that most chiral nucleon–nucleon (NN) interactions used in ab initio calculations include non-local regulators [45–47], i.e., it appears that the use of a non-local regulator in the 3N interaction of semilocal regulators that preserve chiral symmetry [48,49]. However, the corresponding consistently regularized 3N interactions have not been developed yet beyond NNLO and results available so far show a similar overbinding problem as calculations with the local 3N forces [50].

Recently, 3N interactions that combine the use of both local and non-local regulators have been introduced [51]. These interactions provide a good description of binding energies of light and medium mass nuclei including ¹³²Sn [52]. At the same time, the calculated radii are typically underestimated compared to experiment [53] and compared to the most successful interaction for the description of radii, the NNLO_{sat} [54]. The strong dependence of binding energies and radii of medium mass nuclei on the regulator type needs to be further investigated and understood as it appears contrary to expectations from χ PT.

3.1 Inclusion of the 3N Contact Interaction at N⁴LO

Contact terms contributing to the chiral 3N interaction at N⁴LO order has been derived recently [55]. These fourteen terms accompanied by LECs impact the spin-orbit strength and the isospin dependence of the nuclear force among other effects. It has been demonstrated that analysing power puzzle in the d-p data can be resolved considering even a subset of these terms [56,57]. Having 14 additional LECs at disposal, a high-precision fit to three-nucleon data should be possible, i.e., a partial wave analysis similar to that performed for the nucleon-nucleon data should be feasible. Such an analysis would undoubtedly result in a much better quality 3N interaction for applications in nuclei across the nuclear chart.

Recently, the spin-orbit (E_7) N⁴LO contact term has been tested in calculations of ${}^7\text{Be}(p,\gamma){}^8\text{B}$ radiative capture. This term was shown to considerably improve the the analyzing power in the p-d scattering. Its inclusion improved the structure description of ${}^7\text{Be}$ and ${}^8\text{B}$ nuclei as well as of the ${}^7\text{Be}(p,\gamma){}^8\text{B}$ S factor when compared to experiment [58].

The 3N interaction N⁴LO contact terms include a T=3/2 contribution. It might help to improve the description of nuclei far from stability with a large neutron or proton excess. Applications of this T=3/2 3N contribution is worth exploring.

3.2 Importance of Calculations that Include Continuum Effects

Most of ab initio calculations used to test nuclear forces involve bound-state observables such as binding energies, excitation energies, radii, and electroweak transitions between bound states. It should be noted that considering nuclear properties affected by continuum provide a complementary and often more comprehensive and strict test of nuclear forces. The reason is that even a straightforward experimental information such as elastic scattering cross section comprises information from bound states of scattering nuclei, resonances of the composite system, background phase shifts etc. [59] Even for describing an isolated resonance, one needs to calculate and compare not only its energy but also its width. Methods capable of including continuum effects should be applied more broadly in tests of nuclear forces. This is obviously done in few-body systems, e.g., *NN* scattering and nucleon–deuteron scattering [60–62]. However, continuum calculations for light and medium mass nuclei should also be considered [63,64].

Acknowledgements: The presented perspectives are based upon work supported by the NSERC Grant No. SAPIN-2016-00033. TRIUMF receives federal funding via a contribution agreement with the National Research Council of Canada. Computing support came from an INCITE Award on the Summit supercomputer of the Oak Ridge Leadership Computing Facility (OLCF) at ORNL, from Livermore Computing, and Compute Canada.

4 Collective Observables for Nuclear Interaction Benchmarks by Kristina D. Launey, Grigor H. Sargsyan, Kevin Becker, David Kekejian

Wave functions are not observables, however, they can provide critical information about the nuclear correlations and spin mixing in nuclei. Correlations drive properties of nuclei beyond the mean field and define important observables such as transitions, excitation spectra, and reaction observables (see, e.g., Ref. [65]). Collective correlations are responsible for deformation of nuclei, and the ab initio symmetry-adapted no-core shell-model (SA-NCSM) approach [66,67] has unveiled the ubiquitous presence of deformation in light to medium-mass nuclei. The importance of deformation is anticipated to hold even more strongly in heavy nuclei [68–72]. Specifically, Refs. [67,73] show that nuclei and their excitations are dominated by only a few collective shapes that rotate (Fig. 1a), which naturally emerge from first principles. Typically, low-lying states have a predominant shape that is realized by the most deformed configuration in the valence shell and particlehole excitations above it. However, the probability amplitudes of these shapes vary to some extent from one parametrization of the chiral potentials to another, and this has a significant effect on reproducing collective observables.



Fig. 1 a Emergence of almost perfect symplectic symmetry in nuclei from first principles [65,66], enabling ab initio descriptions of clustering and collectivity in terms of nuclear shapes. **b** Observables for ⁶Li calculated in the SA-NCSM using only a small number of nuclear shapes (specified in the *x*-axis labels) and compared to experiment ("Expt."); dimensions of the largest model spaces used are also shown. **c** The same, but for ²⁰Ne; for comparison, the corresponding complete dimension is 3.8×10^{10} . **d** Experimental and theoretical $B(E2; \frac{5}{2}^+ \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}^+)$ values for $T_z = -\frac{3}{2}$; for A = 21, the ab initio SA-NCSM calculation is shown without the use of effective charges (figure adapted from Ref. [74]). **e** Symplectic Sp(3, \mathbb{R}) irreps or nuclear shapes that compose the rotational band states of ⁶Li; each irrep is specified by its equilibrium shape, labeled by the deformation β and total intrinsic spin *S*. Figures adapted from Ref. [67], unless otherwise stated

4.1 Nearly Perfect Symplectic Symmetry in Nuclei-Radii and Quadrupole Moment Operators

First-principle nuclear structure calculations with various chiral potentials show that the special nature of the strong nuclear force determines highly regular patterns in nuclei that can be tied to an emergent approximate symmetry, the Sp(3, \mathbb{R}) symplectic symmetry [66,67,75]. Since this symmetry does not mix nuclear shapes and is only slightly broken in nuclei, nuclear states are readily described by only a few subspaces that respect this symmetry, or a few nuclear shapes (Fig. 1a–c). These subspaces extend to higher-lying harmonic oscillator (HO) shells and are imperative for reproducing collective observables—see, e.g., Fig. 1d for *B(E2)* in ²¹F; see also the outcomes of a many-particle modeling [76,77] that utilizes interactions inspired by the symplectic effective field theory [78]; see also Refs. [79,80] for *E2* transitions in Mg isotopes. Besides the predominant shape(s), there is a manageable number of shapes, each of which contributes at a level that is typically at least an order of magnitude smaller, as shown in Fig. 1e. Furthermore, practically the same symplectic content observed for the low-lying states in ²⁰Ne, Fig. 1a, and for those in ⁶Li, Fig. 1e, is a rigorous signature of rotations of a shape and can be used to identify members of a rotational band. A notable outcome is that excitation energies and transition rates for a few nuclear shapes closely reproduce the experimental data, Fig. 1b and 1c.

This has important implications:

Deformation. The nuclear deformation is calculated by the quadrupole moment operator

$$Q_2 = \sqrt{16\pi/5} \sum_{k=1}^{A} r_k^2 Y_2(\hat{r}_k).$$

This operator is a symplectic generator, which means that it has zero matrix elements between two shapes $|\sigma_i\rangle$ and $|\sigma_j\rangle$: $\langle \sigma_i | Q_2 | \sigma_j \rangle = 0$, $\forall i \neq j$. This is important, since the largest fraction of the quadrupole

moments and E2 transitions strengths, and, hence nuclear collectivity, necessarily emerges within the predominant symplectic irrep(s) or nuclear shape(s). The more the mixing of shapes, the smaller these collective observables.

- **Radii.** The nuclear size is calculated by the monopole moment operator $r^2 = \sum_{k=1}^{A} \vec{r_k} \cdot \vec{r_k}$. This operator is a symplectic generator, which means that it has zero matrix elements between two shapes $|\sigma_i\rangle$ and $|\sigma_j\rangle$: $\langle \sigma_i | r^2 | \sigma_j \rangle = 0, \forall i \neq j$. Different from the quadrupole moment, the rms radius provides the average radius of a shape that describes the size of a shape regardless if it is deformed or not, thereby converging at comparatively smaller model spaces compared to deformation-related observables.
- **Spin mixing.** The total intrinsic spin is a good quantum number for each nuclear shape. Hence, more spin mixing implies more mixing of shapes, thereby reducing collective observables.
- **Shape vibrations.** A nuclear shape is composed of an equilibrium shape (typically, a configuration in the valence shell) and vibrations. An important point is that a nuclear shape becomes energetically favored only when vibrations are allowed to develop within a model space. In limited model spaces, collective observables are highly reduced for two reasons: (1) shapes of enhanced deformation are suppressed, while other less deformed shapes enter the eigenfunctions, and (2) vibrations are largely suppressed, thus for example, for ²⁰Ne's predominant shape, $B(E2; 2^+ \rightarrow 0_{gs}^+) = 13.4(14)$ W.u. in 11 shells (Fig. 1c), whereas it reduces to 4.2 W.u. for the equilibrium shape only (valence shell).

Note the critical difference between rms radii, $\langle \Psi | r^2 | \Psi \rangle = \sum_i c_i^2 \langle \sigma_i | r^2 | \sigma_i \rangle$, and quadrupole moments, $\langle \Psi | Q_2 | \Psi \rangle = \sum_i c_i^2 \langle \sigma_i | Q_2 | \sigma_i \rangle$: radii of individual shapes always add, whereas quadrupole moments can add (for oblate shapes), subtract (prolate) or be zero (spherical shapes). The quadrupole moments, and, hence, *E*2 transitions further decrease if largely deformed shapes are suppressed. This exposes the role of the symplectic symmetry, established as a remarkably good symmetry of the strong nuclear force in the low-energy regime, in guiding toward and calculating precise nuclear observables.

4.2 Recommendations

Collective observables are essential for parametrizing nuclear interactions and for benchmark studies to ensure the proper account of the physics of nuclear dynamics in ab initio modeling. First, it is important to monitor collective observables for various potential models and, in particular, perform global sensitivity analysis that probes the sensitivity of collective observables [81] to the low-energy constants that enter the chiral potentials, similarly to that of bulk properties [36]. Second, for benchmark studies, it is imperative to include quadrupole moments and/or *E*2 transitions. An ideal test case is the $B(E2; 2^+ \rightarrow 0_{gs}^+)$ in ¹²C, which is well measured 4.65(26) W.u.; alternatively, the quadrupole moment of the first excited 2^+ state in ¹²C could be used (requires a calculation of a single state), although there are still large uncertainties in the recommended value, 6(3) efm². A particularly interesting case is the $B(E2; 3^+ \rightarrow 1_{gs}^+)$ transition rate in ⁶Li that remains a challenge to realistic interactions. For such calculations, it is beneficial if a many-body approach is used, such as the SA-NCSM, that does not require renormalization of the chiral interactions in the nuclear medium, does not use effective charges, and admits any type of the nuclear interaction including non-local interactions.

Acknowledgements: This work was supported by the U.S. National Science Foundation (PHY-1913728) and benefitted from computing resources provided by the National Energy Research Scientific Computing Center NERSC (under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231), Frontera computing project at the Texas Advanced Computing Center (under National Science Foundation award OAC-1818253) and LSU (www.hpc.lsu.edu).

5 Role of the Continuum Couplings in Testing the Nuclear Interactions by Marek Płoszajczak

The development of the nuclear forces for precision nuclear physics demands reliable methods to improve interactions by analyzing the discrepancies between results of chosen many-body approach and experimental data. Hence, the appropriate many-body approach and the relevant choice of studied observables are the two essential ingredients of testing of the interactions.

The many-body calculation of nuclear observables brings new aspects to the problem of testing the interactions, such as the dependence of interaction in a given nucleus on nucleon number, or the role of couplings to reaction channels and scattering continuum. These two aspects are a consequence of the attempts to improve interactions by calculating various observables in heavier nuclei.

One aspect concerns the changing role of the many-body forces with increasing number of nucleons because the interplay between two- and higher-body forces depends on the number of possible 2-body, 3-body, etc. couplings (talk of C.-J. Yang) in many-particle systems. This induces the dependence of EFT power counting on particle number [82]. On the other hand, the relative number of the different k-tuple couplings depends on the nucleon density distribution, i.e., the relative number of nucleons in the surface region and in the interior of nucleus. These many-body effects could be absorbed in the effective parameters of the EFT interaction fitted locally to the individual nuclei or their small sets.

Another aspect is related to the role of the continuum coupling which leads to the appearance of new energy scale(s) in the EFT power counting related to the distance from the threshold of reaction channel(s). An optimal way to test interactions in the vicinity of different particle emission channels is to employ the many-body approach which preserve unitarity at each opening of new reaction channel.

Weak binding brings another aspect which is related to the coupling to the scattering states and various particle decay channels. Indeed, experimental data even at low excitation energies contain states which are either weakly bound or unbound like, for example, A=5 nuclei which are all unbound even in the ground state. Calculation of the binding energy in long isotopic chains brings the issue of dependence on the asymmetry of proton S_p and neutron S_n separation energies [83,84], such as the weakening of interaction between unlike nucleons and the asymmetry of neutron-neutron and proton-proton interactions.

The continuum couplings can be included either in the complex-energy continuum shell model using Berggren ensemble of single-particle states [64,85], the so-called Gamow shell model, or in the real-energy continuum shell model in the projected subspaces [86]. Gamow shell model can be formulated either in core + valence particle model space [85,87] or in the no-core basis [88]. Berggren representation has been also used in the coupled-cluster approach [89]. Another approach which has been used extensively, is the no-core shell model, including couplings to the reaction channels via the *R*-matrix approach [90].

The problem of deriving a reliable inter-nucleon interaction (NN, 3N, 4N, ...) for precision nuclear physics calculations cannot be separated from the choice of the model space and the many-body approach. Unitarity, which is the fundamental property of Quantum Mechanics, is violated by most microscopic nuclear theories used. Coupling to the environment of scattering continuum and decay channels does not reduce to refitting parameters of the interaction which have been adjusted to observables in well-bound states. It is necessary that new families of the interactions are tested on a broader set of data including resonances and low-energy scattering observables, using the many-body frameworks respecting the unitarity.

6 Comments on the χ^2 Values in the Three-Nucleon Sector by Alejandro Kievsky

In recent years a substantial progress has been achieved in the development of accurate descriptions of the interaction between nucleons using the systematic framework provided by chiral perturbation theory. In the nucleon–nucleon (NN) sector, potentials obtained up to 4th and 5th order in the nuclear EFT expansion have provided an extremely accurate description of the NN world data with a value of χ^2 per datum close to one. Most of the data that these potentials describe are proton-proton and neutron-proton scattering cross-sections and analyzing powers. The same class of data exist in other sectors, as the three-nucleon (3N) or four-nucleon scattering (4N). Focusing in the 3N system, it is a fact that all realistic NN potentials describe poorly some of these observables. In particular, vector and tensor analyzing powers in proton-deuteron scattering are underpredicted by almost all those NN potentials even if they are supplemented by a 3N force. However at present the NN and 3N interactions are considered at different orders. As example, in Table 1, we show the χ^2 per datum obtained after solving proton-deuteron scattering at low energies [91,92]. Two different interactions are considered, the widely used Argonne V18 interaction (AV18), without and with the inclusion of the Urbana IX (UR) 3N force, and the chiral based interaction by Entem and Machleidt (Idaho-N³LO), with and without the inclusion of the 3N force at NNLO. The strength of this force depends on two low-energy constants (LECs) that have been determined by fixing the triton binding energy and the doublet neutrondeuteron scattering length. In all the cases examined the χ^2 per datum of the analyzing powers could exceed the value of one hundred, in particular the vector analyzing powers A_y and iT_{11} . The tensor analyzing powers are slightly better described, however the χ^2 value of T_{21} is very high in some cases.

Energy (MeV)	Potential	A_y	<i>iT</i> ₁₁	T_{20}	T_{21}	<i>T</i> ₂₂
1	AV18	276	112	3.5	4.5	2.8
	AV18+UR	190	61	1.0	2.5	0.7
	Idaho-N3LO	197	68.7	4.0	2.5	1.5
	N3LO+N2LO	139.9	49.5	2.7	2.5	0.9
3	AV18	313	205	4.8	6.7	12
	AV18+UR	271	144	5.4	11	2.4
	N3LO	186	108.3	1.9	2.8	4.4
	N3LO+N2LO	114	85.8	3.6	8.3	1.6
5	AV18	211	99	6.8	12	7.8
	AV18+UR	186	59	26	36	1.5
7	AV18	303	90	19	38	1.9
	AV18+UR	239	56	40	81	4.2
9	AV18	292	165	42	70	38
	AV18+UR	218	134	63	86	7.2
10	AV18	288	29	10	6.2	24
	AV18+UR	224	23	13	6.1	7.6

Table 1 χ^2 per datum obtained in the description of the proton-deuteron vector and tensor analyzing powers

These results suggest that the complicated structure of the 3N force has to be further analysed. Recently, the contact three-nucleon interaction at N⁴LO has been worked out showing that there are thirteen new LECs to be determined. Moreover, the spin structure is sufficiently flexible to guarantee a better description of the polarization observables at low energies. The results of Ref. [93] show that using the proton–deuteron data as input, it is possible to fit these 3N LECs and obtain values of the χ^2 per datum similar to those obtained in the NN sector.

7 Perspectives on an Open-Source Toolchain for ab initio Nuclear Physics by Matthias Heinz, Thomas Duguet, Harald W. Grießhammer, Heiko Hergert, Alexander Tichai

One topic of discussion at the workshop was the open-sourcing of codes necessary to evaluate and transform nuclear interaction matrix elements for use in many-body codes. We offer here some perspectives on what this could look like and how it could be achieved.

7.1 Introduction

The long-term benefits of open-sourcing computational tools are obvious: a standard set of validated, timetested tools would provide a strong base for any further interaction and many-body developments. Even in the short term, the open availability of nuclear interaction matrix elements in formats used for many-body methods should allow many-body practitioners to experiment with different interactions and encourage greater cross-talk between many-body specialists and interaction specialists. Another consequence would be that the development effort required to begin research on many-body methods would be reduced, opening access to the field for more researchers without the resources to obtain or develop all of the required matrix-elementprocessing tools. Combined with the continuous open-sourcing and/or publication of many-body codes, this would provide an excellent environment for nuclear theorists with various backgrounds to perform different studies of nuclear interactions in medium-mass systems.

However, there exists a natural concern regarding how more cutting-edge developments that are opensourced are appropriately acknowledged and how the people responsible for these developments obtain the scientific credit they are due. If implemented with proper usage guidelines, the open availability of interaction matrix elements can provide an enforceable standard for how to deal with citations and acknowledgments when using interactions and tools provided by others.

7.2 Sharing and Distribution of Interaction Matrix Elements

A simple starting point would be to make matrix elements available in formats used by configuration-space many-body methods, i.e., (angular-momentum- and isospin-coupled) single-particle harmonic-oscillator (HO)

matrix elements, through a public read-only repository. These could also be made available in the form of individual terms proportional to different low-energy constants (LECs) to allow for fits or sensitivity studies in realistic applications. The matrix elements should be provided with some attached metadata on the code(s) and version(s) used to generate the matrix elements and who actually generated them. Ideally, this metadata should have all the information needed to reproduce the matrix elements using standard tools available in the repository, which we discuss next. For this reason, the metadata should support updates that help to clarify different strategies or approximations that went into generating the matrix elements to make them more reproducible. The starting interaction matrix elements can also be provided in code form (or as data with a read-in library), with standard interfaces to obtain coordinate-space/momentum-space matrix elements.

7.3 Tools for Matrix Element Usage

To make the generation of single-particle HO matrix elements fully reproducible, one would make available the tools to do the individual transformations required to generate these matrix elements (starting from the center-of-mass (COM) to lab frame transformation). A full set of these tools would be nucleon–nucleon (NN) and three-nucleon (3N) COM-to-lab transformation codes, NN and 3N coordinate-space/momentum-space to Jacobi HO transformation codes, and possibly momentum-space and Jacobi HO similarity renormalization group codes. Any matrix elements made available in a data format should provide a link to some documentation that defines how the data format is structured. Additionally, matrix element formats should provide routines to read in matrix elements and access specific matrix elements as a small library (to be employed by the end user). A set of conversion tools to convert between equivalent matrix element formats may also prove useful.

7.4 Explorations of Nuclear Forces in Medium-Mass Systems

Providing *NN* and 3*N* matrix elements broken up into terms proportional to individual LECs in a singleparticle HO format would immediately allow many-body theorists to experiment with LEC choices and study their effects in medium-mass nuclei. For interaction specialists to do the same, one would need open-source versions of (at least) standard many-body solvers for closed-shell systems. We believe that the effort to opensource matrix elements outlined here should be paralleled by the practice of open-sourcing many-body codes. The ideal candidates for open-sourcing are stable older versions of codes where the original developers have completed the studies for which the code was intended. This way many-body practitioners may still exclusively profit off of their cutting-edge developments, but their publication of established versions opens their code to more people, leading to citations and collaboration opportunities with other interested nuclear theorists. In nuclear theory, there are some examples of open-source many-body codes that have helped open the field of many-body theory to more people: the self-consistent Green's function code by Barbieri [94–98], the inmedium similarity renormalization group code by Stroberg [99, 100], and the many shell-model codes made available by their developers, such as NUSHELLX [101, 102], KSHELL [103, 104], BIGSTICK [105, 106], and ANTOINE [107, 108].

7.5 Ensuring Proper Credit and Acknowledgment

By standardizing access to and use of interaction matrix elements, there exists the opportunity to set usage guidelines that would ensure "good behavior" by users. These should be detailed in a general usage license for the tools and data made available on this public repository. Additionally, publishers of interaction matrix elements (including those of single-particle HO matrix elements that employ advanced strategies to handle 3N forces) should be allowed to extend the general usage license to include required citations and/or acknowl-edgment. There is also the opportunity to require procedures (e.g., convergence checks) to be taken care of and discussed. However, these requirements beyond general usage and acknowledgment would be additional restrictions and should be added with caution so they do not inadvertently restrict the usage of matrix elements too much. "Good behavior" would encompass abiding by the license and using the publicly available codes where possible to standardize the matrix elements, as small undocumented changes in the matrix element transformations can lead to unexpectedly large changes in observables, which could hurt reproducibility.

7.6 Considerations for Publishing Codes

For codes made publicly available, "publication" would generally mean pushing a version of the source to a public repository (for example, on GitHub or GitLab). The code in the repository would be available for all to use (provided they comply with the license, which should be generally compatible with the usage license for the matrix element repository outlined above) and would allow for community inspection and contributions (for example, optimizations or to add support for other file formats). The matrix element repository would specify "pinned" standard versions of relevant codes that are the currently best supported versions and whose usage to generate matrix elements for the repository would be considered "good behavior." For released versions associated with recent developments, it may make sense to associate a released version of the code with a journal publication. This should be included in the usage license and would make appropriate acknowledgment unambiguous.

7.7 Closing Thoughts

We have outlined what an open-source repository of matrix elements and transformation tools might look like, along with some principles to guide behavior and encourage people to contribute. This is only the very beginning, and next steps would be to secure buy-in from more of the community and to form a "collaboration" to secure computational and organizational resources to manage this. On the latter point, there is the possibility to draw on prior experience from other fields where these practices are more established, like lattice quantum chromodynamics [109], quantum chemistry [110], and astrophysics. We acknowledge that some institutions (for example, national laboratories) may make it challenging to contribute to open-source projects; we hope the establishment of an organization for these efforts could aid in the streamlining of contributions to these efforts by researchers that would otherwise be hindered by bureaucratic overhead. Buy-in from key matrix element producers (broadly speaking, including those who generate single-particle matrix elements for use in their many-body codes) and an inclusive global partnership would make open-source matrix elements the new standard and allow nuclear theory to profit from the unprecedented open accessibility of information and computational tools for ab initio nuclear-theory calculations.

Acknowledgments: We thank Benjamin Bally and Zohreh Davoudi for useful discussions on open-source collaborations. This work was supported in part by the US Department of Energy under contracts DE-SC0015393 (H.W.G.), DE-SC0017887 (H.H.), and DE-SC0018083 (NUCLEI SciDAC-4 Collaboration, H.H.), by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) – Projektnummer 279384907—SFB (M.H., A.T.), and by the BMBF Contract No. 05P18RDFN1 (M.H., A.T.).

8 Few-Body Emulators Based on Eigenvector Continuation by Christian Drischler, Xilin Zhang

In this contribution we briefly recapitulate the progress made in constructing fast and accurate emulators for few-body scattering and reaction observables based on eigenvector continuation.² Emulators have been game changers and we envision them to play a key role in future workflows in nuclear physics and beyond. They have the potential to push the frontier of precision nuclear physics even further by enabling full Bayesian analyses of nuclear structure, scattering, and reaction observables, as well as by facilitating constraints for chiral interactions from (lattice) quantum chromodynamics (QCD). The future will show what other exciting applications are within reach.

8.1 Making the Impossible Possible: Emulators

The power of emulators lies in trading an exact solution with a highly accurate approximation obtained using only a (small) fraction of the computational resources. One needs to train an emulator *only once* on a small

² Eigenvector continuation is a special case of a model order reduction (MOR) formalism for parameterized systems, which has been studied for some time in applied mathematics. For a general overview of the MOR literature and applications, we refer the reader to Ref. [111].

number of exact solutions (e.g., to the many-body Schrödinger equation) in the model's phase space and can then efficiently make approximate predictions at all other points instead of evaluating the model exactly. Trained emulators also allow one to make intricate model calculations publicly available as self-contained mini-applications. This enables users to make fast and accurate model predictions without having the detailed knowledge and computational resources otherwise necessary to build and run an application from complex (and sometimes closed source) code bases. We consider this an important feature for future workflows in nuclear physics and beyond.

Emulators have been game changers in nuclear physics, where Bayesian methods have become standard tools for rigorously quantifying uncertainties in model predictions [112–114]; e.g., for low-energy observables derived from chiral effective field theory (χ EFT) [25,46,115,116]. Bayesian parameter estimation [113,117], model comparison [118], and sensitivity analysis [36] can provide important insights to validate and improve model predictions. But their application in statistical analyses typically requires the model's parameter space to be repeatedly evaluated for (large-scale) Monte Carlo sampling, which was in most cases prohibitively slow due to the computationally expensive nature of nuclear structure, scattering, and reaction calculations. Emulators have recently changed this practical limitation and made (what was thought) the impossible possible [35,36], by significantly reducing computing cost for evaluating models.³

Implementations of emulators include Gaussian processes [121], neural networks (see e.g., Refs. [119, 120]), and eigenvector continuation (EC) [34,39]. In low-energy nuclear physics, the number of EC-driven emulators applied to few- and many-body bound state calculations (i.e., subspace projection methods) is increasing [35,36,122–124]. As discussed in Sarah Wesolowski's talk [125] and her recent work [40], such a few-body bound state emulator enabled the construction of the first set of order-by-order chiral interactions with theoretical uncertainties fully quantified. The challenge is now to extend these efficient emulators for bound state calculations to scattering and reactions.

In this contribution to the "perspective pieces" we focus on the extension of EC-driven emulators to twobody (Sect. 8.2) and higher-body scattering (Sect. 8.3), as it was presented in our talks [126, 127] at the 2021 INT program "Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics".⁴ We then provide an outlook for new EC-driven emulators for few-body systems in periodic boxes and external potential traps as well as their interesting applications (Sect. 8.4).

8.2 Setting the Stage: Two-Body Scattering and Reactions

Furnstahl et al. [37] have recently demonstrated that EC can be used to construct extremely effective trial wave functions for fast and accurate variational calculations of two-body scattering observables, as discussed in Christian Drischler's talk [126]. Specifically, Ref. [37] applied the Kohn variational principle (KVP) for the K-matrix to a range of test potentials, including nucleon–nucleon (NN) and optical potentials. More recently, Melendez et al. [38] studied Newton's variational method using EC-motivated trial K-matrices (instead of trial wave functions) and emulated, e.g., neutron-proton cross sections based on a modern chiral NN potential. The emulator's high accuracy and speedup compared to exact scattering calculations are remarkable. Following a different approach, Miller et al. [128] implemented the wave-packet continuum discretization (WPCD) method with GPU acceleration, which is capable of approximating scattering solutions fast at several energies simultaneously.

Comparing the efficacies of the available emulators for scattering observables quantitatively is an important task for future work. Such a comparison requires a scattering scenario with matching (real and complex) interactions and a common definition of the term *exact solution* for reference calculations. Important benchmarks then include the emulator's accuracy and speedup relative to the exact scattering solution, and their susceptibility to numerical noise as well as spurious singularities known as Kohn (or Schwartz) anomalies [129]. We also envision studies of a wide range of modern interactions (e.g., different resolution scales and regularization schemes) for both proof-of-principle calculations and uncertainty quantification. Applications of statistical methods using emulators will provide important insights into the idiosyncrasies of nuclear potentials to help address known issues. For issues in χ EFT, see, e.g., Ref. [130].

Also important are studies aimed at quantifying the emulator's intrinsic errors and their dependence on the underlying training set such as the position and number of the training points. In particular, the rate of

³ Applications of emulators are not limited to statistical analyses. For instance, they have also been used as interpolants and extrapolants in solving chaotic three-body problems [119] and in quantum molecular calculations [120].

⁴ https://sites.google.com/uw.edu/int/programs/21-1b.

convergence of EC for scattering calculations needs to be investigated further. Progress along those lines has already been made for bound-state calculations [39]. A machine learning algorithm that positions and/or adapts a given number of training points such that the emulator's intrinsic errors are minimized would be extremely useful for future applications of EC-driven emulators.

Variational calculations of scattering observables are known to be prone to Kohn anomalies (see Refs. [38, 131] for recent discussions). For a given set of model parameters, the anomalies occur at energies where no (unique) stationary approximation due to the variational functional exits. While Kohn anomalies can be straightforwardly spotted in proof-of-principle calculations (in which the exact solution is also computed), their presence can limit in practice the applicability of, e.g., Monte Carlo sampling of the model's parameter space. As discussed in Christian Drischler's talk [126, 131], the generalized KVP has been used to efficiently detect and mitigate those anomalies (see also Ref. [132]). To this end, the method in Ref. [131] assesses the consistency of stationary approximations obtained from a family of functionals with different scattering boundary conditions. This strategy is applicable to other variational calculations. Although Kohn anomalies were not an issue in the proof-of-principle calculations in Refs. [38, 130], it is important to study their emergence in more detail and implement efficient detection algorithms, especially, for Monte Carlo sampling. The rich literature in this field is an excellent starting point for future work along those lines [133–135].

These advances in developing fast and accurate emulators for two-body scattering are promising for future extensions to scattering problems where emulators are essential such as three-body scattering (see Sect. 8.3).

Further, the fast convergence observed by Melendez et al. [38] using EC-motivated trial matrices (rather than trial wave functions) might indicate that the EC concept could also be applied to other stationary calculations. This would open exciting possibilities for future applications of emulators, some of which might not even be in sight at the moment.

8.3 Rising Action: Three and Higher-Body Scattering and Reactions

The two-body EC scattering and reaction emulator [37] has been generalized to three-boson elastic *s*-wave scattering, as reported in Xilin Zhang's talk [127]. The first results are encouraging: the emulators have similar accuracy and computing speed compared to those in the two-body sector. The speed up can reach an order of 10^6 : directly solving a three-body nuclear scattering problem takes about 10^3 seconds while the emulator's cost on a laptop is milliseconds if the interactions' parametric dependencies are factorized from the operators. The paper summarizing this work is in preparation [136].

This work opens up the possibility of fitting chiral three-nucleon interactions efficiently to proton–deuteron scattering and reaction data, which has been difficult due to the expensive cost of solving three-body Faddeev equations. However, further progress needs to be made before achieving this goal, including generalizations to arbitrary partial-wave channels⁵ and spin statistics, and nontrivial generalizations above the deuteron break-up threshold,⁶ as well as implementations of these emulators for fitting chiral interactions.

Three-body emulators will also be useful in analyzing deuteron-nucleus scattering and reactions (and in fact any process that can be described in terms of three-cluster dynamics). Full exploration of an effective Hamiltonian's parameter space (including testing new interaction operators) will become possible thanks to the emulators' speed. However, a new challenge⁷ in these applications comes from the fact that some parametric dependence cannot be factorized from the associated operator, such as the range of the interactions. An immediate solution [136] is to decompose the interaction potential as a linear combination of a series of potentials (e.g., those constructed using orthogonal polynomials), but its feasibility, depending on the required number of basis, needs to be studied case by case. In Ref. [136], the method of emulator-in-emulator is also explored and demonstrated to solve this issue, which uses Gaussian process within the EC-driven emulators.

In the longer term, four-nucleon interactions will become relevant. With that in mind, it will be necessary to further extend the EC scattering and reaction emulators to four-body systems. The emulators will not only enable parameter estimation but also provide users effortless applications of these expensive calculations in their own research.

⁵ The variational approaches (e.g., Refs. [137,138]) also work for fixed scattering angles. This suggests emulators can be constructed without using a partial-wave decomposition.

⁶ There exists work on Kohn-type variational approaches in this kinematic region, see e.g., Refs. [139, 140]

 $^{^{7}}$ One difficulty in full three-body calculations is the implementation of the Coulomb interaction with large Sommerfeld parameters (see, e.g., Ref. [141]). It will be interesting to study the manifestation of this difficulty in the EC emulators.

8.4 (Not Really the) Final Act: Few-Body Systems with Discrete Energy Levels

Besides experimental constraints, there will be valuable information on NN interactions from lattice QCD calculations at and around the physical pion mass. However, the hadronic systems studied in LQCD live in periodic boxes instead of the free space. This requires extra steps to connect the LQCD results (without infinite-volume extrapolation) with the free-space observables we are interested in. For two-hadron systems, the Lüscher formula [142] is often used to extract free-space scattering phase shifts from discrete eigenenergies at various box sizes. Its generalization to three-hadron systems is being studied intensively by multiple groups (see e.g., Ref. [143]).

For constraining NN interactions using LQCD results, we suggest an alternative approach to the threebody Lüscher's method, by treating the LQCD simulations as computer experiments. The chiral potentials can be solved in the same periodic boxes as used in the LQCD's calculations in order to construct the mapping between the low-energy couplings in the nuclear interactions and the discrete energy levels. Again, the ECdriven emulators—for few-nucleon systems in periodic boxes here—will be the key to fitting those couplings to the eigenenergies, as they enable needed rapid solutions of the corresponding Faddeev equations. The computer-experiment strategy was used by Barnea et al. [144] to analyze the LQCD's results (at an unphysical pion mass) in few-nucleon systems, as discussed in Nir Barnea's talk at this INT program. However, instead of using an emulator, they employed the so-called Stochastic Variational Method to speed up solving the fewbody Schrödinger equation. As pointed out during this INT program, a method different from the generalized Lüscher method is desirable. It will be interesting to compare different methods of extracting constraints from LQCD on NN interactions in the future.

In the area of nuclear calculations, Xilin Zhang and collaborators [145, 146] have been developing analysis tools to extract two-cluster scattering phase shifts from the system's discrete eigenenergies in harmonic potential traps computed using nuclear many-body methods. The goal is to take advantage of the progress in many-body calculations for medium-mass nuclei to enable ab initio calculations of scattering and reactions in the same mass region.

For two-cluster systems in external potential traps, the so-called BERW formula akin to the Lüscher formula in LQCD were studied for some time and lately improved (see Ref. [145] and references therein). For three-cluster systems, both three-hadron-Lüscher-method and EC-emulator approach are worth pursuing here. Therefore, the EC-driven emulators for few particle systems in external potential traps need to be developed as well.

From a broader perspective, few-body systems in periodic boxes and harmonic traps have discrete energy levels as self-bound systems have, while they also have sub-systems' scattering information encoded in the energy levels thanks to the Lüscher and BERW formula. Developing EC-driven emulators for these systems will reveal the elusive connection between the bound [35,36] and scattering state emulators, paving the way for a unified understanding of the two as well as the associated variational principles.

Acknowledgements: We thank R. J. Furnstahl, A. J. Garcia, P. Giuliani, A. E. Lovell, J. A. Melendez, F. M. Nunes, and M. Quinonez for sharing their invaluable insights with us. We are also grateful to the organizers of the (virtual) INT program "Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics" (INT–21–1b) for creating a stimulating environment to discuss eigenvector continuation and variational principles. This material is based upon work supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics, under the FRIB Theory Alliance award DE-SC0013617. Xilin Zhang was also supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. PHY–1913069 and by the NUCLEI SciDAC Collaboration under Department of Energy MSU subcontract RC107839-OSU.

9 The Relevance of the Unitarity Limit and the Size of Many-Body Forces in Chiral Effective Field Theory

by Harald W. Grießhammer, Sebastian König, Daniel R. Phillips, Ubirajara van Kolck

We collect in this document some thoughts which we believe are relevant for systematically incorporating the closeness of nuclear physics to the unitarity limit into chiral effective field theory (χ EFT). Our discussion contains no quantitative insights beyond those already made in the literature. But the excellent talks and stimulating discussions at the recent INT program gave us an opportunity to take stock of the role of the

unitarity limit in the precision description of nuclei. We thank the organizers for their efforts to overcome the constraints of the online format and for fostering an interactive and collaborative atmosphere—and for the invitation to contribute this piece to the various "Perspectives" coming out of the program.

The first section focuses on many-body forces in χ EFT and the interplay of the chiral and unitarity limits in nuclear systems with $A \le 4$; a second section discusses the particular (peculiar?) role of the ¹S₀ channel; a final section then looks at how the issues discussed in the previous two play out in nuclei with A = 6 and beyond.

9.1 Chiral Limit or Unitarity Limit: Which One is More Relevant for Nuclei with $A \le 4$?

Both the pionless EFT expansion around the unitarity limit and the χ EFT expansion around the chiral limit yield good descriptions of nuclei with $A \leq 4$ nucleons. Pionless EFT and χ EFT are distinctively different since they are constructed as expansions around entirely different limits: the former embraces the large nucleon–nucleon (*NN*) scattering lengths as an emergent low-momentum scale and treats the pion mass m_{π} as a high scale, while the latter treats m_{π} as a low scale. In light of this contrast, what is the connection between the two expansions?

- Recent work [82, 147–149] has shown that a renormalizable, perturbative approach to χ EFT with reasonable convergence *is* possible for light nuclei. Results following the EFT power counting that converge to the experimental values are obtained not only for binding energies, but also for charge radii, with the caveat that so far only the lowest two orders have been studied.
- The unitarity expansion in pionless EFT exhibits more rapid convergence for nuclei with $A \le 4$ [1,150] than χ EFT, a success that stems largely from having a three-nucleon (3*N*) force at leading order (LO) [2]. This force can be used to put the 3*N* bound state at the right energy, and few-body universality then guarantees that the four-body binding energy [4] and the three-body radius [151] will be approximately reproduced. This makes for an excellent starting point for the description of $A \le 4$ (bound) systems. The presence of a four-nucleon (4*N*) force at next-to-leading order (NLO) [152] spoils the predictivity a bit. However, only a single input parameter is needed to fix this force, and fitting it to the ⁴He binding energy one can still predict the radius and other properties. The results that this produces for few-body observables will be studied in future work.

9.1.1 Connections

- Recent studies of correlations between few-body observables in χ EFT show that A = 3, 4 binding energies and radii provide highly degenerate information on the 3N force [40]. This observation is consistent with light nuclei being within the lower-energy regime of pionless EFT. Based on this *phenomenological* effect, it has been argued before [26] that χ EFT should feature a (pure contact) 3N force at LO as well, but a clear justification for this conjecture is not provided by that work.
- It is remarkable how close the Tjon lines come out to each other in χ EFT and the unitarity expansion [149]. Assuming convergence of both expansions to the physical point means that they ultimately have to intersect there, and we already know that the Tjon band from pionless EFT captures well all the points from phenomenological potentials. But is there anything interesting to be learned from the fact that the slope of the LO chiral Tjon line (generated by residual cutoff dependence) agrees well with the relation between three- and four-body binding energies $B_4 = 4.610(1)B_3$ that prevails in the unitarity limit [153]?
- It is instructive to consider the importance of many-body forces from the perspective of varying the resolution of the interaction. This can be done by Similarity Renormalization Group (SRG) transformations. It is well known that maintaining unitarity of these transformations induces higher-body forces, even if the interaction initially is given only at the two-body level. Moving from the regime of χ EFT (typical momentum $Q \sim m_{\pi}$) to pionless EFT ($Q \ll m_{\pi}$), where pions are "integrated out," corresponds to lowering the effective resolution. In light of this it makes sense to consider pionless EFT as the ultimate limit of a χ EFT interaction transformed to very low resolution, and in this limit there is a 3N contact force at LO and a 4N force at NLO. In the two-body sector, SRG-induced operator structures have been found to resemble simple contact terms [154, 155], so it is not unreasonable to assume the dominant induced three-body forces have a similar form. Based on this picture, one might imagine that considering the low-resolution limit will inform, and potentially adjust, the χ EFT power counting.

9.1.2 Conjectures

- What would be the best, most rigorous, arguments to determine the order at which a contact 3N force first appears in χ EFT? We know such a force is not *required* for RG invariance at LO [82,147], but is there a possible numerical signature that would indicate a departure from naive dimensional analysis? It could be informative to study how the coupling constant of such a force runs with the cutoff when it is included at LO and fixed to reproduce exactly the triton binding energy—as done in pionless EFT [2]. For recent efforts in this direction in the context of ⁴He trimers and the long-range van der Waal's force see Ref. [156]. Alternatively, analytic results for the LO three-body wave function at short distances would enable an analysis of the anomalous dimensions induced by the strong LO interactions. The analog of the analysis in Ref. [157] for electroweak operators in the two-body sector would then reveal the extent to which those LO interactions alter the naive dimensional analysis (NDA) result for the three-body contact.
- For the intermediate-range 3N force in Deltaless χEFT (~ c_D), one can consider matrix elements between correlated ${}^1S_0 NN$ states plus a third spectator nucleon. The large scattering length in this channel means one should promote this force by one order compared to its NDA order [157–160]. This moves the c_D term from $\mathcal{O}(Q^3/M_{\text{hi}}^3)$ to $\mathcal{O}(Q^2/M_{\text{hi}}^2)$,⁸ where $M_{\text{hi}} \sim m_\rho$ (the rho mass) is the assumed breakdown scale of χEFT . RG invariance would then seem to require that the pure contact 3N force (~ c_E) is promoted to the same degree, since matrix elements of c_D alone will be regulator dependent.
- If 3N forces appear earlier than Weinberg's $\mathcal{O}(Q^3/M_{hi}^3)$, then at what order in χEFT do 4N forces enter? The argument of the previous bullet also implies a promotion of the particular piece of the 4N force that is proportional to c_D^2 . In this context, it is interesting to note that calculations of nuclear matter that employ NN and 3N forces adjusted to reproduce NN data and the triton binding energy still generate at least a portion of the Coester line [162].
- Adjusting the counting of factors of 4π associated with (nonrelativistic) reducible loops, as suggested by Friar [163] and inferred from pionless EFT [164], gives a promotion over Weinberg's power counting by one order for the 3N force and by two orders for the 4N force. This is in addition to any other enhancement.

9.2 The Perpetually Vexatious ¹S₀ Channel

What features of the ${}^{1}S_{0}$ channel matter for finite nuclei? For $A \le 4$, it seems to be sufficient to formulate a LO that has the ${}^{1}S_{0}$ amplitude close to the unitarity limit at low energies. This is one of the ingredients of the success of pionless EFT, and the unitarity limit (and nothing else) delivers the promising LO results in Ref. [1].

But as the *NN* energy increases away from threshold, the LO¹S₀ phase shift predictions in such an approach rapidly deviate from data. Attempts to formulate an EFT that reproduces higher-energy features of the phase shift in this channel at LO have a more-than-two-decade history now [165]. The idea is to change the χ EFT power counting in order to generate more energy dependence in the ¹S₀ phase shift at lower orders. However, only recently have the implications of such an approach for finite nuclei been elucidated in a systematic way.

- One can consider a promotion of the short-distance operator that contributes to the *NN* effective range [166, 167]. Unfortunately that can only be done in an RG-invariant fashion with the energy dependence stemming from a dibaryon field.
- The ${}^{1}S_{0}$ phase shift goes through zero at at a momentum of ≈ 340 MeV. If the zero is not present at LO, higher orders must overcome LO at larger momenta, which implies poor convergence in the vicinity of this zero. The analysis of Ref. [168] formulates an EFT that at LO respects the unitarity limit and also reproduces the zero. With the (potentially significant) caveat that the interaction is transformed from an energy-dependent form to a momentum-dependent form, leaving only on-shell results invariant, Ref. [169] reports that including this higher-energy feature of the ${}^{1}S_{0}$ phase shift in the Weinberg LO EFT description of *NN* physics improves the description of finite nuclei.
- Alternatively one can consider a promotion of correlated two-pion exchange contributions [170,171] to lower orders. Promising results for finite nuclei and nuclear matter have recently been obtained when these diagrams with $N\Delta$ intermediate states are included at $O(Q^2/M_{hi}^2)$ [172,173]. Promotion of "sub-leading" Deltaless two-pion-exchange contributions proportional to c_1 , c_3 , and c_4 is supported by the large- N_c limit, where two-pion-exchange mechanisms involving the $\Delta(1232)$ are the SU(4) partners of the iterated

⁸ These orders are computed counting powers of 4π as Weinberg did [161], cf. the final bullet in this section.

one-pion-exchange diagrams that appear at LO in chiral EFT in the ${}^{3}S_{1}$ channel. But large- N_{c} presumably demands that such mechanisms be included at LO if the EFT is to respect both chiral symmetry and the large- N_{c} limit. If two-pion-exchange graphs with $\Delta(1232)$ intermediate states are LO in the NN system then would that not mean the Fujita-Miyazawa 3NF is leading order in the three-body system? And is there really enough scale separation between the momentum associated with $N\Delta$ intermediate states and, say, m_{ρ} to justify treating the former as a low-energy excitation and the latter as a high-energy one?

9.3 What About "Real" Nuclei?

For $A \ge 5$, both pionless EFT [6,32,174–176] and χ EFT [82] tend to yield unstable nuclei at LO. What is the significance of this additional similarity between the two EFTs?

- While instability is appropriate for A = 5, 8, it raises the question, how can stability arise in other nuclei, for example A = 16? Can it be obtained in (distorted-wave) perturbation theory?
- In Ref. [175], NLO pionless EFT corrections were iterated. This effectively includes the interaction range at LO, but destroys RG invariance [177]. Is this the only practical calculational scheme to produce *p*-shell nuclear stability in pionless EFT?
- In χ EFT the interaction range is included at LO via one-pion exchange, and still it is not sufficient in a renormalized approach to ensure stability, at least at accessible cutoff values [82]. Should one trade the range by other formally higher-order interactions, such as the 3N force in χ EFT or the 4N force in Pionless EFT?
- Jerry Yang has suggested in his talk during the program [178] that few-body forces might be enhanced by combinatorial factors of A. This might be sufficient to promote few-body forces to LO in χ EFT. Preliminary results indicate that this is sufficient for A = 16 stability thanks to the 3N force. But then 4N forces might become important for heavier nuclei, complicating the description of nuclei significantly.
- With the original Weinberg prescription [161], there is no saturation in symmetric nuclear matter until one reaches the order in the expansion where 3N forces appear [162, 179]. Renormalized χ EFT leads, without 3N forces in LO, to saturation with significant underbinding [180]. Can a nuclear EFT that at LO (and NLO in the Weinberg prescription) does not produce realistic nuclear matter be a convergent description of nuclei? Ref. [181] argues that the LO and NLO uncertainties at the canonical saturation density of $n_0 = 0.16$ fm⁻³ are too large to say whether or where saturation occurs. However, results computed at NNLO (and N³LO) (within the Weinberg prescription) fall within the LO and NLO error bands and show saturation occurring at a density and binding energy per nucleon consistent with the "empirical" value. In contrast, adding a 3N force to Weinberg's LO does yield nuclear saturation [182]. What do these results tell us about the ordering of few-body forces and the organization of nuclear EFT?

Acknowledgement: This work was supported in part by the US Department of Energy under contracts DE-SC0015393 (HWG), DE-FG02-93ER-40756 (DRP) and DE-FG02-04ER41338 (UvK), and by the US National Science Foundation under Grant No. PHY-2044632 (SK). This material is based upon work supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics, under the FRIB Theory Alliance, award DE-SC0013617.

10 Nuclear Forces in a Manifestly Lorentz-Invariant Formulation of Chiral Effective Field Theory by Xiu-Lei Ren, Evgeny Epelbaum, Jambul Gegelia

We outline the advantages and disadvantages of manifestly Lorentz-invariant formulation of chiral effective field theory (χ EFT) for the nuclear forces compared to the non-relativistic formalism.

10.1 Introductory Remarks

Chiral perturbation theory is an effective field theory (EFT) of the strong interaction applicable at low energies. It shares all symmetries of the underlying fundamental theory—the quantum chromodynamics (QCD). While Lorentz-invariance is a cornerstone of quantum field theories in general, a systematic non-relativistic expansion can be made for physical quantities if particle velocities are much smaller than the speed of the light. This

expansion can also be done at the Lagrangian level leading to a non-relativistic EFT. The two approaches yield exactly the same non-relativistic expansions for physical quantities, provided that one takes special care to address the non-commutativity of the expansion of the effective Lagrangian and calculations of quantum corrections. It is important to keep in mind that the ultraviolet (UV) behavior of loop integrals of quantum corrections is completely different in the two approaches. In the few-nucleon sector, one deals with effective potentials, whose low-energy behavior is systematically calculable order-by order in x EFT. On the other hand, the (infrared) power counting has no status in the UV region. As we do not know the short-range behavior of few-body potentials, one might argue that all UV extensions of the effective potential are equally good/bad. While the effective potentials are not even uniquely defined, we do know the physical spectrum of QCD (assuming that it indeed describes the nature). Considering, e.g., nucleon–nucleon (NN) scattering, the actual short-distance behavior of the nuclear force can certainly not be singular since no corresponding deeply bound states are observed in nature. At the conceptual level, all complications caused by singular EFT interactions result from a naive extension of non-relativistic potentials from large distances to short ones, where the infrared ordering of various contributions is invalid. Therefore, approximating a non-singular potential with a singular leading order (LO) contribution, supplemented by a finite number of contact interactions, is only appropriate if the cutoff is kept of the order of the hard scale of the problem. On the other hand, if one employs a nonsingular extension of the one-pion exchange potential from long to short distances, then the short-range details of the LO approximation indeed do not matter after removing the regulator, since a finite number of counter terms are required to renormalize the amplitude. The formalism based on the manifestly Lorentz-invariant formulation is well suited for this purpose. While being equivalent to the non-relativistic formulation in the infrared region, performing a resummation of a certain class of 1/m-corrections in a way consistent with the underlying Lorentz symmetry leads to the effective potentials that admit a better UV behavior.

10.2 Chiral Nuclear Forces from the Lorentz-Invariant Lagrangian Using Time-Ordered Perturbation Theory

These ideas have been taken up in Ref. [183] to formulate a *renormalizable* framework for NN scattering based on the manifestly Lorentz-invariant effective Lagrangian. In the resulting modified Weinberg approach, the LO amplitude is obtained by solving the Kadyshevsky equation while higher-order corrections are treated perturbatively. Symmetry-preserving regularization within this formalism has been considered in Ref. [184]. A fully Lorentz-covariant form of the effective potential based on a new power counting has been suggested in Refs. [185, 186]. A systematic approach relying on the Lorentz-invariant Lagrangian and time-ordered perturbation theory has been further developed in Ref. [187], where the effective potential and the scattering equation (Kadyshevsky equation) are obtained within the same framework. Restricting the non-perturbative treatment to the (non-singular) LO potential and assuming the validity of perturbation theory for higherorder interactions, one can systematically remove all divergences from the amplitude and, therefore, employ arbitrarily large values of the cutoff. Alternatively, the full effective potential can be treated non-perturbatively. The milder UV behavior then offers a larger flexibility regarding admissible cutoff values, which generally need to be kept of the order of the breakdown scale. Therefore, we expect that this approach should lead to better description of systems with larger numbers of nucleons. However, one should keep in mind that the derivation of corrections to the interaction beyond LO is computationally more demanding as compared to its non-relativistic counterpart. Work is in progress towards extending the analysis of NN scattering within the modified Weinberg approach beyond LO [188]. Notice further that the actual solution of the Kadyshevsky integral equation is facilitated by the fact that it can be rewritten in the form of the standard Lippmann-Schwinger equation for a modified potential. Last but not least, the relativistic formulation of χ EFT can also be merged with the Dirac-Brueckner-Hartree-Fock theory. It would further be interesting to perform ab initio studies of finite nuclei and nuclear matter using the relativistic version of chiral nuclear interactions.

Acknowledgements: This work was supported in part by BMBF (Grant No. 05P18PCFP1), by DFG and NSFC through funds provided to the Sino-German CRC 110 "Symmetries and the Emergence of Structure in QCD" (NSFC Grant No. 12070131001, Project-ID 196253076 - TRR 110), by Collaborative Research Center "The Low-Energy Frontier of the Standard Model" (DFG, Project No. 204404729 - SFB 1044), by the Cluster of Excellence "Precision Physics, Fundamental Interactions, and Structure of Matter" (PRISMA⁺, EXC 2118/1) within the German Excellence Strategy (Project ID 39083149), by the Georgian Shota Rustaveli National Science Foundation (Grant No. FR17-354) and by the ERC AdG NuclearTheory (Grant No. 885150).

11 Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics: Some Thoughts on the Status, Controversies and Challenges

by Evgeny Epelbaum, Ashot Gasparyan, Jambul Gegelia, Hermann Krebs

We outline the status of chiral effective field theory (χ EFT) for nuclear systems, summarize our understanding of renormalization group invariance in this context and discuss some of the most pressing challenges and opportunities in the field.

11.1 Introductory Remarks and Disclaimer

This paper is a summary of the contributions and opinions of the Bochum participants in the INT program on Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics, held at the INT, Seattle, April 19–May 7, 2021, regarding some of the topics addressed during this meeting. It is not intended to provide a review of the field, and we also made no attempt to be exhaustive in the references. A more complete and detailed discussion of (most of) the considered topics can be found in the recent review article by some of us [116] and in references therein, see also the earlier review [115].

Our paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 11.2, we discuss the status of χ EFT for nuclear systems. We limit ourselves to its standard, finite-cutoff formulation based on the Weinberg approach [161, 192] and summarize the most pressing open issues in the field. Section 11.3 is devoted to the ongoing debate concerning a proper renormalization of nuclear chiral EFT. We provide a brief account of the renormalization program in the meson and single-baryon sectors of chiral perturbation theory (χ PT) before critically addressing the so-called renormalization group (RG) invariant approach in the few-nucleon sector. Formal aspects of renormalization in the finite-cutoff formulation of χ EFT are discussed in Sect. 11.4, while some concluding remarks are made in Sect. 11.5.

11.2 Nuclear Interactions from xEFT: Current Status and Open Questions

11.2.1 The Nucleon–Nucleon Sector

Starting from the pioneering work by Weinberg in the early nineties [161, 192], see also [170, 193], the nucleonnucleon (NN) interactions have been worked out up to fifth order (N⁴LO) in χ EFT [47,49], see [116] for a recent review and references therein. At the highest EFT order, the interactions from Ref. [49] lead to an excellent description of NN scattering data below pion production threshold with ~ 40% less adjustable parameters as compared to high-precision phenomenological potentials. They also show a clear evidence of the (parameter-free) chiral two-pion exchange potential. In Ref. [194], a full-fledged partial-wave analysis of NN data up to the pion production threshold has been performed in the framework of χ EFT (including a selection of mutually consistent data and a complete treatment of isospin-breaking interactions), thereby achieving a statistically perfect description of experimental data, see the left panel of Fig. 2 as a representative example. In this sense, one may claim "mission accomplished" in the NN sector of χ EFT.

11.2.2 The Three-Nucleon Force Challenge

The situation with three-nucleon (3N) forces is more intricate. Although they have been worked out completely to fourth chiral order (N³LO) a long time ago [195, 196], and partially even to N⁴LO [55, 197, 198], their implementation in few-/many-body calculations is more demanding. The issue is rooted in the regularization of the 3N force. Loop contributions to the 3N force starting from N³LO have been derived using dimensional regularization (DR). On the other hand, the A-body Schrödinger equation is regularized using a cutoff. Differently to the NN sector, this mismatch in the regularization can *not* be compensated by counterterms from the effective chiral Lagrangian [116]. Curing this conceptual problem will require a re-derivation of the three- and four-nucleon (4N) forces starting from N³LO using a cutoff regulator which (i) maintains the chiral symmetry and (ii) is consistent with the one employed in the NN sector. The higher derivative regularization method proposed in Ref. [199] offers one possible approach to tackle this challenge by introducing the cutoff at the level of the effective Lagrangian. Work along this line is in progress.



Fig. 2 χ EFT predictions for the analyzing power *P* in proton-proton scattering at $E_{lab} = 142$ MeV (left panel) and for tensor analyzing power A_{xx} in nucleon-deuteron elastic scattering at $E_N = 135$ MeV. The light- (dark-) shaded bands depict the 68% (95%) degree-of-belief truncation errors at the corresponding order. Solid and open circles with error bars are experimental data from Refs. [189, 190] respectively. Open circles without error bars show the predictions of the Nijmegen partial-wave analysis [191]. For more details see Ref. [116]

A precise description of nucleon-deuteron scattering data remains a major unsolved challenge in nuclear physics as reflected by very large values of the χ^2 /datum in the 3N sector [200,201] as compared to χ^2 /datum ~ 1 for the reproduction of NN scattering data [49,194]. χ EFT predictions up to NNLO generally agree with the data, see the right panel of Fig. 2 for an example, but the accuracy at this order is fairly low. Based on the experience in the NN sector, the solution of the 3N force challenge will likely require pushing the EFT expansion of the 3N force (at least) to N⁴LO. Apart from the regularization issue mentioned above, one will then face the computational challenge associated with the determination of low-energy constants (LECs) entering the 3N force from $A \ge 3$ -nucleon data, see Ref. [93] for pioneering steps along this line. The eigenvector continuation technique [34, 36, 40] may be the key technology to make such an analysis feasible in the near future.

11.2.3 Nuclear Currents

Nuclear vector, axial-vector, pseudoscalar and scalar currents have also been extensively studied in χ EFT, see Ref. [202] and references therein. The vector and axial-vector currents have been worked out using two different techniques, namely the method of a unitary transformation by the Bochum–Bonn group [203–207] and time-ordered perturbation theory by the JLab-Pisa group [208–212]. The results of these calculations disagree with each other, with the differences being most pronounced for the axial-vector currents. As an attempt to shed light on this issue, the Bochum-Bonn group has tried to reproduce the results of the JLab-Pisa group for the axial-vector currents using their method [213], thereby confirming their own expressions. To exclude the possibility that the approach of the JLab-Pisa group has been misinterpreted, a comparison could be carried out at the level of Hilbert-space operators [213].

Independently of this discrepancy, the implementation of the nuclear currents starting from N^3LO is also affected by the already mentioned issue with mixing up two different regularization methods [202]. Even though no results for the current operators using the higher-derivative regularization are available yet, a highaccuracy calculation of the deuteron charge and quadrupole form factors has been performed recently at N^4LO [214,215]. This was possible since the loop corrections to the two-body charge density, whose consistent regularization is not yet available, do not contribute to the deuteron form factors thanks to the isospin selection rules.

11.2.4 On the Role of the $\Delta(1232)$ Resonance

Nuclear interactions discussed so far have been derived using pions and nucleons as the only explicit degrees of freedom. Given the low excitation energy of the $\Delta(1232)$ resonance and its strong coupling to the πN system, one may expect its explicit inclusion in the effective Lagrangian to yield a more efficient EFT framework. Indeed, clear evidence of the improved convergence of the Δ -full formulation of χ EFT for pion-nucleon

scattering was found in recent studies [216–218]. On the other hand, the available results for the NN system in the Δ -less framework already show a generally good convergence pattern, with the estimated breakdown scale of the order of $\Lambda_b \sim 600-650$ MeV [219–221]. Moreover, the LECs accompanying the NN contact interactions come out of a natural size [49,116] with no signs of enhancement from the $m_{\Delta} - m_N \sim 2M_{\pi}$ scale. This may indicate that the longest-range contributions of the Δ -resonance to the NN force are efficiently mimicked via the saturation of πN LECs.⁹ It is thus not *a priori* clear, that the explicit inclusion of the Δ resonance would result in a significantly larger value of Λ_b , leading to a better convergence of χ EFT in the few-nucleon sector.

 Δ -contributions to the nuclear forces have so far been worked out to third order (NNLO) [171,222], and the results up to this order do seem to indicate a superior performance of the Δ -full approach [223], see also Refs. [172,224] and references therein. Clearly, to assess the role of the Δ -resonance in quantitative terms, the calculations within the Δ -full approach will have to be pushed beyond NNLO. As a first step along this line, some of us have recently worked out the NNLO contributions of the Δ (1232) to the two-pion exchange 3N force topology using DR [225]. Notice, however, that the already mentioned issue with the inconsistent regularizations is also relevant for the Δ -full formulation of χ EFT, and all loop contributions will need to be (re-) derived using e.g. the higher derivative regularization.

11.3 Renormalization Group Invariance and Power Counting

11.3.1 Renormalization in Chiral Perturbation Theory

In the strictly perturbative domain of chiral perturbation theory (χ PT) comprising its mesonic and the heavybaryon formulations, a finite number of counterterms is needed to remove divergences at every order in the chiral expansion. When using DR, all the required counterterms are generated by bare LECs from the effective Lagrangian of that corresponding order. Consequently, renormalized amplitudes calculated up to any finite order are independent of the DR scale μ .¹⁰ On the other hand, the inclusion of an infinite number of counterterms is required (or implicitly assumed) e.g. in the infrared regularized formulation of manifestly Lorentz-invariant baryon χ PT [226] that allows one to non-perturbatively resum 1/*m*-corrections within the heavy-baryon approach. This leads to a residual dependence of renormalized amplitudes on the renomalization scale. This feature is, however, perfectly acceptable from the EFT point of view since scale-dependent terms are of a higher chiral order, both formally and numerically.

11.3.2 Residual Renormalization-Scheme Dependence in pionless EFT

In the few-nucleon sector of χ EFT, certain types of diagrams must be resummed non-perturbatively to accommodate for the appearance of shallow bound and virtual states. Residual renormalization scheme dependence of the calculated observables does not pose a conceptual problem in this case either. In particular, resonant P-wave systems have been studied recently in pionless EFT without auxiliary dimer fields [227]. This analytically solvable example provides an explicit demonstration that the exact RG invariance at order $\mathcal{O}(p^n)$ (i.e., $\partial T^{(n)}/\partial \mu_i = 0$ for $\forall \mu_i$) is *not* necessary to claim consistent EFT. Rather, it is sufficient to have $\partial T^{(n)}/\partial \mu_i = \mathcal{O}(p^{n+1})$.

11.3.3 x EFT for Nuclear Systems and the Cutoff Choice

In contrast to the previously considered cases, renormalization is carried out *implicitly* in the non-perturbative domain of χ EFT and in pionless EFT for systems with more than two nucleons. This is achieved by numerically expressing bare LECs $C_i(\Lambda)$ in terms of observables, in other words, by fitting them to experimental data.

Removing the UV divergences in each order of the loop expansion of the scattering amplitude $T(\Lambda) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \hbar^n T_n(\Lambda)$ requires the inclusion of an infinite number of counterterms in the case of the one-pion exchange

⁹ Naively, integrating out Δ -resonance contributions to the two-pion exchange potential is expected to induce large contributions to *NN* contact interactions governed by the scale $m_{\Delta} - m_N$. However, a close inspection of the corresponding analytical expressions in Refs. [171,222] suggests that the scale is actually given by $2(m_{\Delta} - m_N)$, which is numerically already close to Λ_b .

¹⁰ The exact independence on the choice of renormalization conditions is a (nice) artifact of DR. It does not hold when using more general regularization schemes that keep track of power-law divergences.

(OPE) potential (see, e.g., Ref. [228]), which is usually not possible in practical calculations. Notice that the operations of summation in $T(\Lambda) = \sum_n \hbar^n T_n$ and $\lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} T(\Lambda)$ do not commute unless *all* counterterms needed to render all terms in the series finite are taken into account. Without including all the necessary counterterms, the resulting partially renormalized [229] amplitude $T(\Lambda)$ for $\Lambda \gg \Lambda_b$ is actually determined by the ambiguous behaviour of V(r) at $r \ll \Lambda_b^{-1}$, which is outside of the EFT validity range. Within such treatment, we see no *a priori* reason for $T(\Lambda)|_{\Lambda \gg \Lambda_b}$ to represent a meaningful result (in the EFT sense). Under such circumstances, the cutoff Λ should be kept of the order of the expected breakdown scale Λ_b [229–231]. We also see no immediate relation between $T(\Lambda)|_{\Lambda \gg \Lambda_b}$ and the power counting for *renormalized* short-range interactions.

11.3.4 The RG-Invariant Formulation of xEFT

As stated in Ref. [25], the approximate RG invariance of the truncated amplitude $T^{(\nu)}(p, \Lambda)$ requires the condition

$$\frac{\Lambda}{T^{(\nu)}(p,\Lambda)} \frac{dT^{(\nu)}(p,\Lambda)}{d\Lambda} = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{p^{\nu+1}}{\Lambda_b^{\nu}\Lambda}\right)$$
(11.1)

to be satisfied. As argued in that paper, in the absence of analytical results, "varying the regulator parameter widely above the breakdown scale is usually the only tool available to check RG invariance". Moreover, RG invariance of the truncated amplitude is often identified with the requirement that "the result converges with respect to Λ , *i.e.*, the observable can only depend on negative power of Λ after renormalization" [232]. The final result for the calculated observables is then understood as the corresponding $\Lambda \rightarrow \infty$ limits, see e.g. Refs. [147,233].

11.3.5 A Practical Implementation of the RG-Invariant Approach: Lessons from a Toy-Model Example

While we agree with Eq. (11.1), we object to the suggested method of its numerical verification by varying Λ widely above Λ_b . To demonstrate possible issues with taking Λ very large without subtracting all divergences, consider a toy-model example of the scattering amplitude of two heavy particles in 4 + 1 space-time dimensions¹¹

$$T(\vec{p},\vec{q}) = V(\vec{p},\vec{q}) + m \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} V(\vec{p},\vec{k}) \frac{1}{mE - k^2 + i\,0^+} T(\vec{k},\vec{q}),$$

with the effective potential given by

$$V(\vec{p}, \vec{q}\,) = \frac{\alpha}{\left[\,(\vec{p} - \vec{q}\,)^2 + M^2\,\right]^2} + V_C \equiv V_L(\vec{p}, \vec{q}\,) + C + \cdots\,.$$

Here, V_C is a series of contact interactions with C being the LO term. Further, E and m refer to the energy and mass of the scattered particles, respectively, while M denotes the light mass of the exchanged meson that sets the soft scale in the problem. The coupling constant α is chosen such that the long-range potential V_L contributes at LO for momenta of the order of M. The solution to the LO integral equation can be written as

$$T(\vec{p}, \vec{q}\,) = T_L(\vec{p}, \vec{q}\,) + \frac{\Psi_L(\vec{p}\,)\Psi_L(\vec{q}\,)}{1/C - G_E}\,,\tag{11.2}$$

where the finite quantities T_L and Ψ_L are given by

$$T_{L}(\vec{p},\vec{q}) = V_{L}(\vec{p},\vec{q}) + m \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} V_{L}(\vec{p},\vec{k}) \frac{1}{mE - k^{2} + i 0^{+}} T_{L}(\vec{k},\vec{q}),$$

$$\Psi_{L}(\vec{q}) = 1 + m \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{mE - k^{2} + i 0^{+}} T_{L}(\vec{k},\vec{q}).$$
(11.3)

¹¹ The unrealistic choice of the toy model is dictated by our wish to have an analytically solvable example. The realistic case of NN scattering by the OPE potential in chiral EFT is conceptually similar to the considered example but requires numerical treatment.

On the other hand, G_E contains divergences and is given by

$$G_E = m \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{mE - k^2 + i\,0^+} + m^2 \int \frac{d^4k_1}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{d^4k_2}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{T_L(\vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2)}{(mE - k_1^2 + i\,0^+)(mE - k_2^2 + i\,0^+)}$$

Using cutoff regularization, G_E can be written as

$$G_E = a_1 \Lambda^2 + a_2 \ln^2 \frac{\Lambda}{M} + (a_3 + a_4 E) \ln \frac{\Lambda}{m} + G_E^f + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda^2}\right),$$
(11.4)

where a_i are some constant factors and G_E^f is a finite Λ -independent part.

Coming back to the amplitude in Eq. (11.2), we perform implicit renormalization by fixing the bare LEC $C(\Lambda)$ from the requirement to reproduce the on-shell amplitude at some kinematical point E_0 . For the sake of definiteness, suppose that the denominator of the last term in Eq. (11.2) takes some value d for $E = E_0$. This finally yields the scattering amplitude

$$T(\vec{p}, \vec{q}) = T_L(\vec{p}, \vec{q}) + \frac{\Psi_L(\vec{p})\Psi_L(\vec{q})}{d - a_4(E - E_0)\ln(\Lambda/m) - (G_E^f - G_{E_0}^f)},$$
(11.5)

where we have dropped the irrelevant $\mathcal{O}(\Lambda^{-2})$ -terms. The survival of the $\ln(\Lambda/m)$ -term in this result is a consequence of the amplitude being only *partially* renormalized by the counterterms generated by the LEC *C*.

On the other hand, the amplitude in Eq. (11.2) can be *fully* renormalized using the BPHZ procedure, i.e. by subtracting *all* divergences and subsequently taking the $\Lambda \rightarrow \infty$ limit. Choosing the subtraction points of the order of the hard scale $\Lambda_b \sim m$ in order to avoid distortion of the long-range interaction and fixing the renormalized LEC C_R at the same kinematical point, the subtractively renormalized amplitude takes the form

$$T(\vec{p}, \vec{q}\,) = T_L(\vec{p}, \vec{q}\,) + \frac{\Psi_L(\vec{p})\Psi_L(\vec{q}\,)}{d - a_4(E - E_0)\ln(\Lambda_b/m) - (G_E^f - G_{E_0}^f)}.$$
(11.6)

This result agrees, to a good accuracy, with the partially renormalized one in Eq. (11.5) as long as $\Lambda \sim \Lambda_b$. On the other hand, choosing $\Lambda \gg m$, one approaches for $E \neq E_0$ the expression

$$T(\vec{p}, \vec{q}) \approx T_L(\vec{p}, \vec{q}). \tag{11.7}$$

While finite in the $\Lambda \to \infty$ limit, this result cannot be correct in general.¹² Another analytic example along this line with a long-range interaction of a separable type is presented in Ref. [234].

The above considerations illustrate the issues that can arise by attempting to numerically verify the validity of Eq. (11.1) from the variation of Λ in a wide range above Λ_b . For the considered model, Eq. (11.1) is fulfilled both for $\Lambda \sim \Lambda_b$ and for $\Lambda \gg \Lambda_b$. However, if the scattering amplitude would only be available numerically, following the approach advocated by the practitioners of the RG-invariant method as done e.g. in Refs. [25,147,232,233] would lead one to choose the approximately Λ -independent but incorrect solution given in Eq. (11.7).

In our view, a valid alternative approach to verify the approximate RG invariance as defined in Eq. (11.1) is by comparing the residual Λ -dependence for the available cutoff range, $\Lambda \sim \Lambda_b$, against the expected truncation uncertainty, which can be estimated using Bayesian methods [220,235]. Such self-consistency checks are, in fact, already being routinely performed in chiral EFT calculations, see e.g. Refs. [48,49,215, 219,236,237].

¹² To see this, one can regard the underlying interaction to be just $V_L(\vec{p}, \vec{q}) + C$, regularized with a sharp cutoff $\Lambda = \Lambda_b$. Then, the amplitude in Eq. (11.6) coincides with the exact result for this underlying model up to $\mathcal{O}(\Lambda_b^{-2})$ terms in the denominator.

11.3.6 The RG-Invariant Formulation of Nuclear x EFT: Open Issues

In light of the above considerations, we encourage the supporters of the large-cutoff RG-invariant approach as defined above to take a position on the following issues:

- The large-cutoff (i.e., $\Lambda \gg \Lambda_b$) behavior of the scattering amplitude for singular LO interactions $V_{\text{LO}}(r)$, like e.g. the OPE potential, is controlled by the (ambiguous) behavior of $V_{\text{LO}}(r)$ at short distances $r \ll \Lambda_b^{-1}$ that governs the terms with positive powers and/or logarithms of Λ in the loop expansion $T_{\text{LO}} = \sum_n \hbar^n T_n$ (unless one succeeds to completely renormalize the amplitude by subtracting all UV divergent terms in T_{LO} , which requires the inclusion of an infinite number of counterterms). If only a finite number of counterterms are included, what is the rationale behind expecting $T_{\text{LO}}|_{\Lambda \gg \Lambda_b}$ to represent a valid/meaningful EFT prediction?
- In Ref. [227], some of us have considered resonant P-wave systems using the formulation of pionless EFT without auxiliary dimer fields. For P-wave systems with an enhanced scattering volume, expressing the leading order (LO) LECs $C_2(\Lambda)$, $C_4(\Lambda)$ in terms of the scattering volume and effective "range" r is only possible for $\Lambda \sim \Lambda_b \sim r$ as a consequence of the Wigner bound. How is this feature to be interpreted from the point of view of the RG-invariant EFT approach?
- Given the apparent non-uniqueness of the approximate RG-invariance criterion in Eq. (11.1) when varying the cutoff from $\Lambda \sim \Lambda_b$ to $\Lambda \gg \Lambda_b$ as demonstrated in the toy-model example, how can one make sure to avoid running into a UV stable but unphysical solution if no analytical results are available?

11.4 Renormalizability in the EFT Sense: A Formal Proof

Formal aspects of renormalizability of the finite-cutoff formulation of χ EFT for *NN* scattering were discussed in the talk by Ashot Gasparyan, see Ref. [238] for more details. In the considered framework, the cutoff $\Lambda \sim \Lambda_b$ is chosen in such a way that no spurious bound states are generated at (LO) in the *NN* spin-triplet channels, but its form is not restricted otherwise (in particular, it can be of a local or non-local type). Following the Weinberg power counting, the LO interaction is resummed up to an infinite order by iterating the Lippmann–Schwinger equation, whereas the subleading (NLO) terms are iterated only once.

The standard requirement for a theory to be renormalizable is the ability to absorb all UV divergences appearing in the *S*-matrix into a redefinition (renormalization) of parameters in the underlying Lagrangian. Clearly, introducing a finite cutoff automatically tames all infinities in the scattering amplitude, and the problem is shifted to the appearance of positive powers of Λ in place of the soft scales such as M_{π} or external three-momenta as dictated by the power counting. Such power-counting violating contributions originate from the integration regions with momenta of the order of the cutoff. It is thus natural to extend the notion of renormalizability by demanding that all power-counting breaking terms are absorbable into shifts of the LECs at lower orders.

For the LO *NN* amplitude, one usually assumes that no power-counting breaking contributions appear since positive powers of the cutoff in the iterations of the Lippmann–Schwinger equation are compensated by the corresponding inverse powers of the hard scale that appears as a prefactor in the LO potential. This conjecture, along with the renormalizability of the NLO scattering amplitude, is rigorously proven in Ref. [238] to all orders in the loop expansion. An extension of the proof to the purely non-perturbative case with a non-convergent LO series is in progress.

To accomplish the proof, it was essential to introduce the regulator at the level of the Lagrangian without actually affecting it. This is achieved by adding the regulator terms to the LO interaction while systematically subtracting them from the perturbative NLO interaction. The resulting approach allows one to strongly reduce the cutoff dependence of observables, the feature that has been verified by considering several examples of the NN phase shifts [238].

11.5 Concluding Remarks

 χ EFT offers a model independent and systematically improvable approach to low-energy nuclear dynamics, which—if pushed to sufficiently high orders in the EFT expansion—should be capable of making reliable and accurate predictions. It thus is expected to shed light on the long-standing problems in nuclear physics such as e.g. the 3*N* force challenge. Today, 30 years after Weinberg's seminal papers [161, 192] that laid out the

foundations of the method, the term "Precision Nuclear Physics" is not merely a dream anymore. Indeed, modern *NN* interactions derived in χ EFT have reached the precision of the most sophisticated phenomenological potentials. Further recent examples of precision nuclear physics studies in χ EFT include the determination of the pion-nucleon coupling constants from *NN* data at the ~ 1% accuracy level [194] and the calculation of the deuteron structure radius at the ~ 0.1% accuracy level [214,215], both carried out at N⁴LO. To push the precision frontier beyond the *NN* sector, it will be necessary to develop *consistently regularized* highprecision many-body forces and currents up through N⁴LO. Work on this ambitious goal is in progress, and it will hopefully help to mature low-energy nuclear physics into precision science.

Acknowledgements: It is a pleasure to thank Zohreh Davoudi, Andreas Ekström, Jason Holt and Ingo Tews for making this wonderful INT program possible. We are also grateful to our long-standing collaborator Ulf-G. Meißner as well as to Patrick Reinert, Xiu-Lei Ren and the LENPIC Collaboration for sharing their insights into the discussed topics. This work was supported in part by BMBF (Grant No. 05P18PCFP1), by DFG and NSFC through funds provided to the Sino-German CRC 110 "Symmetries and the Emergence of Structure in QCD" (NSFC Grant No. 12070131001, Project-ID 196253076 - TRR 110), by DFG (Grant No. 426661267) by the ERC AdG NuclearTheory (Grant No. 885150), and by the Georgian Shota Rustaveli National Science Foundation (Grant No. FR17-354).

12 Challenges and Progress in Computational and Theoretical Low-Energy Nuclear Physics by Chieh-Jen Yang

I consider the challenges we have been facing in theoretical nuclear physics can be mainly categorized into two aspects: (i) The challenge in computing complex systems. (ii) The challenge in search for a better theoretical foundation. Breakthrough in these two directions are both important and should complement each other in order to make true progress. Fortunately, there are several important achievements in both directions presented in this workshop. In the following I highlight two breakthroughs (one in each direction) and one problem which requires further investigations in this workshop.

• Breakthroughs in computational aspect

Eigenvector continuation is a powerful tool, which allows fast simulations and testings in ab-initio calculations [34]. It has been applied to no-core-shell-model and coupled-cluster methods [36] and is crucial for optimizing the low-energy-constants (LECs) in order to obtain a better global fit. So far this technique has been applied mainly to the bound-state problems. The effort to extend it to 3-body scattering, as presented in this workshop [136], is therefore very interesting.

- Breakthroughs in theoretical foundation
 Many-body forces play an important role in complex systems. They emerge naturally when the degrees
 of freedom are reduced from elementary particles to composite ones. Regardless how they are derived,
 most of the existing calculations performed today treat them as (parts of) the potential on top of two-body
 interactions without additional considerations. One of the most intriguing recent discoveries, as presented
 in this workshop, is that this could be very wrong. Due to a combinatorics argument [232], the importance
 of three-nucleon forces is estimated to be as important as the leading two-nucleon forces for nuclei with
 number of nucleons A = 10–20. This means, under chiral effective field theory (χ EFT), the leading threenucleon forces—which are conventionally regarded as next-to-next-to-leading order (NNLO)—should be
 promoted to leading order (LO) in the calculation of ¹⁶O. This is confirmed by explicit calculations, where
 a physical ¹⁶O is obtained for the first time under a consistent χ EFT at LO [178]. Further investigations in
 this direction, e.g., the importance of four-nucleon forces and high-order corrections, are highly desirable.
- It is shown in this workshop that, at least under the widely adopted Weinberg power counting (WPC), there is a limitation in optimizing the LECs in χ EFT potentials. In particular, one faces the choices to either sacrifice the description of nucleon–nucleon (*NN*) and few-body observables in order to describe saturation-related properties, or the other way around [173,239]. Since the potentials been tested are of considerable high-order (NNLO), such large discrepancy/uncertainty is not acceptable. A call for a rearrangement of EFT power counting—with the number of nucleons taken into account, as suggested in Ref. [178]—might be necessary. Naively, this would partially release the burden of the LECs presented in the three-nucleon forces so that they do not have to fit all systems (from light to heavy mass nuclei) at the same time.

Acknowledgements: This material is based upon works supported by the Czech Science Foundation GACR grant 19-19640S and 22-14497S, e-Infrastruktura CZ (e-INFRA CZ LM2018140), and IT4Innovations at Czech National Supercomputing Center under project number OPEN-24-21 1892.

13 On the Determination of πN and NN Low-Energy Constants by Martin Hoferichter

Constructing precision nuclear forces from chiral effective field theory (χ EFT) requires good control over subleading orders in the chiral expansion, in particular, of the low-energy constants (LECs) that parameterize degrees of freedom beyond the range of validity of the EFT. While some of the LECs can be determined from other observables, there are many cases in which this is not possible, leaving ultimately lattice QCD (LQCD) as the tool of choice. Here, we describe some of the recent developments and benchmarks of this program.

- 1. The long-range part of the nucleon–nucleon (NN) and three-nucleon forces is related to πN physics, encoded in the LECs c_i , d_i , and e_i at the respective order. At a given order, these LECs can be determined precisely by matching to the subthreshold parameters of πN scattering via the solution of Roy–Steiner equations [240,241] in combination with experimental input from pionic atoms [242–246], leaving the convergence of the chiral expansion as the dominant uncertainty.
- 2. These issues in the chiral convergence become apparent when comparing the expansion in the subthreshold and threshold regions—with the former being most relevant for NN kinematics—as the heavy-baryon expansion fails to simultaneously describe these two kinematic regions. The convergence improves with a covariant formulation and when including explicit Δ degrees of freedom [218], but in the latter case at the expense of introducing additional LECs. Only the leading one, the $\pi N\Delta$ coupling h_A , can be determined from phenomenology, while the subleading coefficients, g_1 , $b_{4,5}$, are only constrained by large- N_c arguments [218].
- 3. Not all subleading πN LECs can be directly extracted from πN scattering, as the LEC c_5 , which appears as an isospin-breaking contribution, is determined from the strong part of the proton–neutron mass difference, which is not directly observable. A phenomenological determination is possible via the Cottingham formula [247], which relates the elastic contribution to nucleon form factors and the inelastic ones to nucleon structure functions when assuming a suitable high-energy behavior. The resulting separation of the nucleon mass into strong and electromagnetic contributions [248–251] differs from LQCD [252–254] by 2.3 σ .
- 4. A formalism similar to the Cottingham approach was used in [255,256] to estimate the leading-order contact term [257,258] in neutrino-less double- β decay, based on the elastic contribution, which gives the dominant effect in the case of the nucleon mass difference. This defines a benchmark for future calculations in LQCD [259]. Moreover, the calculation in [255,256] is performed in dimensional regularization, but the result presented in terms of a renormalized, physical amplitude, which can then be matched to schemes applied in nuclear-structure calculations [260,261]. This strategy may prove useful for future LQCD calculations as well.
- 5. Before turning to the *NN* sector, benchmark quantities for simpler πN matrix elements include the axial coupling g_A and the σ -term $\sigma_{\pi N}$. While for the former LQCD calculations have reached few-percent accuracy [262,263], the situation for the latter remains unresolved, with LQCD [264–269] favoring values significantly smaller than phenomenological determinations [270–272]. Recently, it was suggested that the origin could lie in larger-than-expected excited-state contamination [273], which may be of relevance for LQCD calculations of other πN and NN LECs.
- 6. Given its relation to phenomenology via the Cheng–Dashen low-energy theorem [274], the σ -term also serves as an important benchmark for matrix elements required for searches for physics beyond the Standard Model. Another such indirect relation that allows one to determine LECs for non-standard currents proceeds via a unitarity argument [275,276], connecting the energy dependence of vector and antisymmetric tensor matrix elements [277,278].

Acknowledgements: Support by the Swiss National Science Foundation (Project No. PCEFP2_181117) is gratefully acknowledged.

14 The Possible Role of the Large-N_c Limit in Understanding Nuclear Forces from QCD by Thomas R. Richardson, Matthias R. Schindler, Roxanne P. Springer

The community has developed a procedure for attempting to understand nuclear physics starting from QCD: lattice QCD (LQCD) is used to calculate the nonperturbative physics that determines the low energy constants (LECs) of an effective field theory (EFT) possessing the symmetries of QCD (and/or beyond-the-standard-model physics), which is then input into many-body calculations to address heavier nuclei. The large- N_c limit of QCD [279], where N_c is the number of colors, can play a role in this procedure. One- and two-nucleon matrix elements can be expanded in powers of $1/N_c$. When combined with an EFT expansion, either pionless or chiral, the number of independent LECs at a given order in the combined expansion may be reduced. These constraints can be used to prioritize LQCD calculations and also provide some simplifications to the input needed for many-body calculations.

The large- N_c limit of QCD has been used to provide theoretical constraints for a variety of applications in the two- and three-nucleon (3N) sectors, see, e.g., Refs. [10,11,13,16,20,21,280–288]. In the large-N_c limit, Wigner's SU(4) symmetry emerges, which is also manifest in the beta decays of some medium-mass nuclei [10,11]. In the SU(3) sector, an SU(6) symmetry among baryon-baryon interactions is predicted in the large- N_c limit, with an accidental SU(16) emerging for certain values of LECs. These patterns have been observed in LQCD calculations with larger-than-physical values of the quark masses [289, 290]. In the 3N sector, LECs in χ EFT also broadly align with the large-N_c hierarchy [16,284]. The large-N_c analysis in the parity-violating sector demonstrates that the number of leading-order couplings in pionless EFT is reduced from five to two [20]. This also highlights the need for a determination of the isotensor parity-violating LEC. The isotensor LEC in particular is an opportunity for LQCD to make a prediction in the absence of experimental data. Reference [286] considered the impact of the dual expansion on T-violating interactions. The application of the large- N_c approach to external magnetic and axial vector fields [287] offers a partial explanation for the disparate sizes of the isoscalar and isovector magnetic LECs despite these terms occurring at the same order in the pionless EFT power counting. These results also indicate that naturalness, i.e., the concept that LECs at the same order in the power counting should be the same size, may be hidden depending on the choice of basis; therefore, caution should be taken when attempting to quantify naturalness. Finally, the large- N_c analysis of chargeindependence-breaking (CIB) two-nucleon interactions [288] provides a justification for the assumptions of Refs. [257, 258] relating a new lepton-number-violating LEC to an experimentally determined combination of CIB LECs. This result was recently corroborated using a different method [255,256].

These examples demonstrate the utility of combining the large- N_c and EFT expansions. Further, this dual expansion could be used to estimate the relative sizes of the couplings, which could potentially reduce the number of contributions required at any given order for many-body calculations. Additionally, large- N_c constraints may help prioritize calculations for the lattice community. Lastly, a large- N_c analysis of new beyond-the-standard-model couplings can provide constraints to potentially guide the interpretation of experimental results, e.g., for dark matter direct detection. We think that the procedure of understanding nuclear phenomena via the combination of LQCD, EFTs, and many-body techniques may benefit from implementing large- N_c constraints.

Acknowledgements: We are grateful to Saori Pastore for useful discussions. We thank the Institute for Nuclear Theory at the University of Washington for its stimulating research environment during the INT-21-1b program "Nuclear Forces for Precision Nuclear Physics," which was supported in part by the INT's U.S. Department of Energy grant No. DE-FG02-00ER41132. This material is based upon work supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics, under Award Numbers DE-SC0019647 (TRR and MRS) and DE-FG02-05ER41368 (RPS).

15 Towards Robustly Grounding Nuclear Physics in the Standard Model by Zohreh Davoudi, William Detmold, Marc Illa, Assumpta Parreño, Phiala E. Shanahan, Michael L. Wagman

Nuclear physics is entering an exciting era in which aspects of nuclear structure and reactions can be directly computed from the Standard Model of particle physics. Lattice quantum chromodynamics (LQCD) will play a vital role in this era by providing a systematically improvable route through which to obtain nonperturbative quantum chromodynamics (QCD) predictions for few-nucleon systems. In particular, robust QCD predictions

with quantified uncertainties for observables, including the energy spectra of multi-nucleon systems and matrix elements of electroweak and beyond-Standard-Model (BSM) currents, will provide valuable information about nuclear structure and interactions complementary to that obtained from experimental measurements. Such predictions can be used to constrain the parameters of low-energy effective field theories (EFTs), as well as to validate and inform phenomenological models of nuclei based on nucleon degrees of freedom.

Both physical and computational challenges will restrict LQCD studies to few-nucleon systems for the foreseeable future; exponential degradation of signal versus noise at large Euclidean times [291, 292] arising from sign problems [293] and tensor contraction complexity [294] make LQCD calculations of (multi-)baryon correlation functions computationally demanding, while the smallness of finite volume (FV) energy gaps between states in such systems complicate their analysis. Fortunately, the most relevant inputs to EFTs of nuclei are two- and three-baryon interactions as well as one- and two-baryon electroweak and BSM currents. It is in this relatively computationally accessible few-baryon sector that LQCD calculations will have the largest impact on nuclear EFTs. Pioneering LOCD calculations of few-nucleon systems performed over the last 2 decades have been used to motivate, develop, and test different strategies for using the immediate results of LQCD calculations—FV Euclidean correlation functions formed from particular sets of composite operators designed to interpolate to the desired states—to obtain FV energy spectra and matrix elements and to constrain the inputs of nuclear effective theories. The first dynamical LQCD calculations of two-nucleon correlation functions, performed by the NPLQCD Collaboration in 2006 [295], used asymmetric correlation functions with localized sources and non-local sinks to constrain the contact operators describing two-nucleon interactions with both Weinberg [192] and Beane-Bedaque-Savage-van-Kolck [166] power counting in the two s-wave scattering channels. Calculations of analogous two-baryon correlation functions with non-zero strangeness by the NPLQCD Collaboration in 2012 were used to constrain contact interactions in an EFT for hyperonnucleon systems that was then used to predict hyperon-nucleon phase shifts as well as in-medium energy shifts of hyperons relevant for the neutron-star equation of state [296]. Instead of obtaining scattering amplitudes via EFTs that are constrained by LQCD, Lüscher's quantization condition [297] and its generalizations (reviewed in Refs. [298, 299]) have also been explored as a complementary strategy for relating the immediate results of LOCD calculations for two-baryon systems to infinite-volume quantities such as scattering phase shifts. Constraints on s-wave scattering at particular values of the quark masses have been made using this method by the NPLQCD Collaboration [295,300]. Constraints on higher-partial-wave scattering were first made by the CalLat Collaboration [301] in 2015 by applying these methods to asymmetric LQCD correlation functions with displaced as well as local sources.

LQCD and EFT have advanced together over the last decade and been applied to study increasingly complex systems. In 2013, calculations of baryon-number $A \in \{2, 3, 4\}$ nuclear (and $A \in \{2, 3, 4, 5\}$ hypernuclear) correlation functions by the NPLQCD Collaboration with unphysically large quark masses corresponding to $m_{\pi} = 806 \text{ MeV}$ [302] were used to constrain two- and three-body contact interactions in pionless EFT by Barnea et al. [303], who went on to predict binding energies of $A \in \{5, 6\}$ nuclei at these quark masses. More refined EFT matching directly to FV energies has been recently pursued in Ref. [144]. Calculations of larger nuclei in pionless EFT including ¹⁶O and ⁴⁰Ca at both $m_{\pi} = 806$ MeV (matched to the aforementioned LQCD results) and with physical quark masses were performed by multiple groups in 2017 [32, 175]. Calculations of additional hyperon-nucleon and hyperon-hyperon scattering channels by the NPLQCD Collaboration in 2017 suggested new emergent symmetries in baryon-baryon interactions [289]. The appearance of these symmetries at lighter quark masses has been tested by recent calculations constraining $SU(3)_f$ -breaking hypernuclear interactions [290]. The structure of light nuclei with $m_{\pi} = 806$ MeV and $m_{\pi} = 450$ MeV has been probed by calculations of scalar, axial, tensor, and vector nuclear matrix elements by the NPLOCD Collaboration over the last several years [304–311] that have revealed shell-model-like structure at unphysically large quark masses. The first nuclear-reaction studies from LQCD, albeit at large quark masses, were reported in Refs. [306, 309, 310,312], paving the way to constraining short-distance LECs of the EFTs in pp fusion, and single- and double- β decay processes in light nuclei [313]. Techniques for matching FV results for few-nucleon systems between LQCD and EFT have been further developed and in the last year have been used to enable a quarkmass extrapolation of the Gamow–Teller matrix element governing triton β decay [314,315] as well as first constraints on the quark momentum fractions of 3 He [316].

Enabled by the early development of efficient algorithms [294,317], all the LQCD calculations of multibaryon systems described above used local, or sometimes displaced, sources and non-local sinks built from products of momentum-projected baryons. An alternative approach developed by the HALQCD Collaboration is based on determining nuclear potentials from Bethe-Salpeter wavefunctions of multi-baryon systems [318,319] and is argued to avoid systematic uncertainties from excited-state effects involving unbound elastic scattering states [320] (inelastic states still contaminate the correlation functions used in this approach). However, short-distance features of the potentials determined using these methods depend on the sink interpolating operator choice, making it very challenging to quantitatively assign systematic uncertainties to predictions that depend on these short-distance features [321–325].

In the last few years, there has been exciting progress in enlarging the scope of interpolating operators that can be practically included in multi-baryon LOCD calculations. Increased computing power and new algorithmic approaches have allowed rigorous variational constraints on finite-volume energies of two-baryon systems. The first variational calculations of two-nucleon systems with symmetric correlation functions with multibaryon sources and sinks were performed by Francis et al. [326] and were enabled by the Laplacian–Heaviside method [327] for computing approximate all-to-all quark propagators. A follow-up to this calculation [328] found significant discretization effects in multi-nucleon FV energy shifts and, perhaps relatedly, interesting tensions in comparison with previous results from the NPLQCD and CalLat Collaborations using asymmetric correlation functions. A further variational calculation [329] using the stochastic Laplacian-Heaviside method [330] included two-nucleon interpolating operators with zero and one unit of relative momentum in correlation-function matrices with several values of center-of-mass momentum that were diagonalized to construct orthogonal approximations to the ground state and first unbound excited state. These results using different discretizations and interpolating operators again show tensions with earlier results. The most recent variational study of two-nucleon systems as of this writing was performed by the NPLOCD collaboration [331] and used sparsened timeslice-to-all quark propagators [332] and included a considerably larger set of hexaquark operators, quasi-local operators with exponential nucleon wavefunctions inspired by EFT bound-state wavefunctions, and scattering operators with up to $\sqrt{6}$ units of relative momentum together (in the center-ofmass frame). Direct comparisons between asymmetric correlation functions and variational results on the same gauge-field ensemble in this study indicate that estimates of the FV energy spectrum depend significantly on the interpolating-operator set such that it is difficult to achieve systematically-controlled results at the available level of statistics. Similarly, comparison of variational results from different choices of interpolating-operator sets leads to different bounds on the ground-state energy, although the upper bounds on energy levels provided by variational methods are robust in all cases.

There are multiple possible explanations of these results. On one hand, asymmetric correlation functions could appear to be exhibiting single-state dominance due to delicate cancellations between ground and excited-state contributions and the true ground-state energy could be larger than the value determined by previous asymmetric calculations [331]. If such delicate cancellation is in place, the observed volume insensitivity of asymmetric correlation functions associated with the obtained ground states in previous two-nucleon studies [289], which signals the bound nature of the state in the volume, will be a surprising coincidence. On the other hand, it is straightforward to construct interpolating-operator overlap models for which asymmetric correlation functions would reveal the true ground-state energy while variational methods provide an upper bound that is dominated at realistic statistical precision by contributions from a higher-energy state that has larger overlap with all of the interpolating operators used in the study [331]. A simple toy example of this is given by a pair of interpolating operators A and B that are used to probe a three-state system with true energy levels

$$E_0^{(AB)} = \eta - \Delta, \quad E_1^{(AB)} = \eta, \qquad E_2^{(AB)} = \eta + \delta.$$
 (15.1)

Define normalized overlap factors for operators A and B onto these states by

$$\mathcal{Z}_A = (\epsilon, \sqrt{1 - \epsilon^2}, 0), \quad \mathcal{Z}_B = (\epsilon, 0, \sqrt{1 - \epsilon^2}),$$
(15.2)

where $\epsilon \ll 1$ is a real parameter. Solving a generalized eigenvalue problem (GEVP) using 2 × 2 correlationfunction matrices with interpolating operators {*A*, *B*} and times t_0 and $t > t_0$ gives eigenvalues

$$\lambda_0^{(AB)} = e^{-(t-t_0)\eta} \left[1 + \epsilon^2 \left(e^{t\Delta} - e^{t_0\Delta} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4) \right],$$

$$\lambda_1^{(AB)} = e^{-(t-t_0)(\eta+\delta)} \left[1 + \epsilon^2 \left(e^{t(\Delta+\delta)} - e^{t_0(\Delta+\delta)} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4) \right].$$
(15.3)

Unless *t* is large enough such that $e^{t\Delta}$ compensates for the $O(\epsilon^2)$ overlap-factor suppression, the bound obtained from the lowest GEVP eigenvalue will significantly overestimate the true ground-state energy. However, an asymmetric correlation function of the form $\langle B(t)\overline{A}(0)\rangle$ will overlap perfectly with the true ground state with zero excited-state contamination. This example can be trivially generalized to include more states that have small overlap with the interpolating-operator set {*A*, *B*} without changing the need for achieving large enough $e^{t\Delta}$ in order to compensate for the smallness of the overlap factors present. Including additional interpolating operators that have small overlap with the ground state also does not improve GEVP ground-state energy estimates in this example—it is the inclusion of interpolating operators with sufficiently large overlap with states of interest that is essential for the success of variational methods.

The existence of such models demonstrates that in order to conclusively determine whether two-nucleon systems are bound or unbound with larger than physical values of the quark masses, further variational studies are required to span the subspace of Hilbert space that might be associated with a two-nucleon bound state. While it *is* possible for variational studies to conclusively demonstrate the presence of a bound state, by their very nature they *can not* rule out such a state except if the interpolating operators that are used form a basis for the Hilbert space—a scenario that cannot be realistically achieved. Similarly, energies extracted from asymmetric correlation functions provide an estimate of the ground state energy which are subject to systematic uncertainties from choices of interpolating operators that may be difficult to estimate.

LQCD studies of multi-nucleon systems will become increasingly refined in the coming years. In future studies, systematic uncertainties in LQCD determinations of nuclear properties associated with lattice spacing and quark-mass extrapolations will be controlled through the use of larger sets of gauge-field ensembles. Excited-state effects will be controlled through variational studies that include more, and more varied, interpolating-operators that better cover the low-energy sector of Hilbert space. The ongoing development of strategies for matching LQCD results to nuclear effective theories and other ways to relate FV and infinite-volume observables will be increasingly essential for extending the reach of robust predictions grounded in the Standard Model up the chart of the nuclides.

Acknowledgements: We are grateful to the former and current members of the NPLQCD Collaboration, especially Martin Savage, for many insightful discussions and valuable collaborations around the topics discussed in this piece. ZD acknowledges support from the Alfred P. Sloan fellowship, Maryland Center for Fundamental Physics at the University of Maryland, College Park, and the U.S.Department of Energy's (DOE's) Office of Science Early Career Award DE-SC0020271. WD and PES are supported in part by the U.S. DOE's Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics under grant Contract DE-SC0011090. WD is further supported in part by the SciDAC4 award DE-SC0018121, and within the framework of the TMD Topical Collaboration of the U.S. DOE's Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics. PES is additionally supported by the National Science Foundation under EAGER grant 2035015, by the U.S. DOE's Office of Science Early Career Award DE-SC0021006, by a NEC research award, and by the Carl G and Shirley Sontheimer Research Fund. WD and PES are supported by the National Science Foundation under Cooperative Agreement PHY-2019786 (The NSF AI Institute for Artificial Intelligence and Fundamental Interactions, http://iaifi.org/). MI is supported in part by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, National Quantum Information Science Research Centers, Quantum Science Center, and in part by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics, InQubator for Quantum Simulation (IQuS) through the Quantum Horizons: QIS Research and Innovation for Nuclear Science, under Award Number DOE (NP) Award DE-SC0020970. AP acknowledges financial support from the State Agency for Research of the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation through the "Unit of Excellence María de Maeztu 2020-2023" award to the Institute of Cosmos Sciences (CEX2019-000918-M), the European FEDER funds under the contract PID2020-118758GB-I00, and from the EU STRONG-2020 project under the program H2020-INFRAIA-2018-1, grant agreement No. 824093. This piece has been authored by Fermi Research Alliance, LLC under Contract No. DE-AC02-07CH11359 with the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of High Energy Physics.

16 On the Reliable Lattice-QCD Determination of Multi-Baryon Interactions and Matrix Elements by Raúl Briceño, Jeremy R. Green, Andrew D. Hanlon, Amy Nicholson, André Walker-Loud

For about a decade, there has persisted a discrepancy in the literature in which most groups performing calculations of nucleon–nucleon (NN) systems with lattice QCD (LQCD) reported the identification of deeply bound di-nucleon systems at pion masses larger than nature [289,301,302,333,334], while the HAL QCD Collaboration, utilizing an alternative method known as the HAL QCD potential [318,335], reported that the di-nucleon systems do not support bound states at these heavy pion masses [336,337]. It was initially asserted by many groups that this discrepancy was a sign of unquantified systematic uncertainties in the HAL QCD approach as this method requires additional assumptions beyond those needed for the Lüscher formalism [142,338–340].

However, subsequent work uncovered significant dependence of the extracted spectrum upon the type of local-creation operator used [341], raising significant concerns on whether or not the previous works correctly determined the NN spectrum. The spectrum does not depend upon the creation/annihilation interpolating operators, and so the observation of such dependence is indicative of either a misidentification of the spectrum through "false plateaus" [341], or it could be a practical issue that the operators used couple so poorly to a given state that, at the available finite statistics, one can not numerically resolve the presence of the state through the analysis of the correlation functions.

A shortcoming of all previous works that have identified deeply bound di-nucleons is that they employed asymmetric correlation functions in which the NN creation and annihilation interpolating operators were not conjugate to each other. In this setup, the overlap factors for the excited states are not guaranteed to have the same sign as for the ground state, making the analysis susceptible to false plateaus. There are now three independent calculations of two baryon systems which utilize momentum-space creation and annihilation operators leading to Hermitian matrices of correlation functions allowing for a variational approach [342, 343]: The Mainz group has computed the *H* dibaryon and di-neutron systems [326] using the distillation method [327]; The sLapHnn Collaboation has computed the di-nucleon systems [329] using the stochastic Laplacian Heaviside method [330]; The NPLQCD Collaboation has computed the di-nucleon systems [331] using a momentum-sparsening method [332]. None of these newer works have identified deeply bound dinucleon systems, including the calculation by NPLQCD which included both momentum-space and local hexaquark interpolating fields in the linearly-independent set of operators.

Resolving the nature of the *NN* systems at heavy pion mass is critical for the application of LQCD to nuclear physics. It is both a test of the underlying physics, and presently, it is more importantly a test of our ability to perform the calculations with fully quantified theoretical uncertainties. For example, if it is determined that calculations which utilize local hexaquark creation operators lead to a misidentification of the spectrum, all subsequent calculations of two and more nucleon matrix elements that utilize such a set of creation operators will have unquantified corrections.

A clear picture has emerged: the only calculations which identify deeply bound di-nucleons are those that utilize local hexaquark creation operators and momentum-space annihilation operators. Can we understand more quantitatively why these sets of correlation functions indicate deeply bound di-nucleons? HAL QCD has suggested they emerge as a false plateau generated by a linear combination of elastic *NN* scattering states, with differing signs for the overlap factors [344]. This can be tested with a matrix of correlation functions including both momentum-space and hexaquark operators.

Another recent troubling result is from the Mainz-group calculation of the H dibaryon in the SU(3)-flavor symmetric limit, utilizing six lattice spacings, from which they observed very large discretization corrections to the binding energy [328]. In contrast, important discretization effects in two-meson systems, which are generally more precisely computed, have so far not been observed. Therefore, the observation of such corrections in this dibaryon system raises several questions. Can this be confirmed from independent calculations? Is it specific to the lattice action used? Is it unique to the H dibaryon or a general feature of dibaryon interactions? With such large discretization corrections, does one need to consider discretization corrections to the Lüscher quantization condition?

In the following, we comment on these and other issues related to LQCD calculations of two-baryon systems. We provide some suggestions how to further elucidate some of the perplexing issues that have arisen in the literature, and how the field can make progress. The first step in making progress is to reliably determine the two-baryon spectrum, prior to moving on to more baryons and/or their matrix elements.

16.1 Reliable Spectral Analysis

For reliable conclusions to be drawn from the Lüscher finite-volume formalism, it is essential that the energies input into the quantization condition are accurate. There are three major challenges to obtaining accurate energies:

- At early Euclidean time, the correlation functions are contaminated by excited states;
- The lowest excited state gap in the two-baryon system is given by elastic scattering modes, which have an energy gap corresponding roughly to $p^2/M \approx (2\pi/L)^2/M \approx 20 50$ MeV for typical values of L used in present calculations. The time scale for these excited states to decay is given by the inverse energy gap, which corresponds to 4 10 fm;

• Empirically, it is observed that the noise of two-baryon systems overwhelms the signal before $t \approx 2$ fm, for calculations at larger-than-physical pion mass. The exponential degradation of the signal becomes worse as the pion mass is reduced towards the physical point, which for *NN* systems scales as $e^{-2(M_N - \frac{3}{2}m_\pi)t}$ at asymptotically large times.

Given the results in the literature, the only promising strategy to overcome these challenges is to use a variational method to extract the spectrum [342,343] and then use the Lüscher quantization condition [142,338–340] to provide important diagnostics on the consistency of the extracted spectrum [345,346]. Such a strategy has been used successfully in many studies of two-meson systems, which has become the standard tool there, see the review [298] and references therein.

The variational method involves forming a Hermitian matrix of correlation functions with elements defined as

$$C_{ij}(t) \equiv \langle \mathcal{O}_i(t+t_0)\mathcal{O}_i^{\dagger}(t_0) \rangle, \qquad (16.1)$$

using a set of N linearly independent operators $\{O_i\}$ that, ideally, have strong overlap with the states that one wants control over. For example, a baryon-baryon operator could be a linear combination of objects having the form

$$\mathcal{O}_{BB}(t,\vec{P}) = \sum_{\vec{x},\vec{y}} e^{-i\vec{p}_1 \cdot \vec{x}} e^{-i(\vec{P}-\vec{p}_1) \cdot \vec{y}} (qqq)(t,\vec{x})(qqq)(t,\vec{y}),$$
(16.2)

corresponding to the momentum-space operators discussed above, whereas a hexaquark operator has the structure

$$\mathcal{O}_H(t,\vec{P}) = \sum_{\vec{x}} e^{-i\vec{P}\cdot\vec{x}} (qqqqqq)(t,\vec{x}).$$
(16.3)

The finite-volume spectrum can be obtained by solving the generalized eigenvalue problem (GEVP) on the resultant correlator matrix

$$C(t)\upsilon_n(t,\tau_0) = \lambda_n(t,\tau_0)C(\tau_0)\upsilon_n(t,\tau_0),$$
(16.4)

whose eigenvalues give

$$\lambda_n(t,\tau_0) = |A_n|^2 e^{-E_n(t-\tau_0)} \Big[1 + O(e^{-\Delta_n t}) \Big],$$
(16.5)

where E_n is the energy of the *n*th eigenstate in the system and n = 0, ..., N-1. Thus, the lowest *N* eigenstates that have overlap with the chosen set of operators can readily be extracted from these generalized eigenvalues. But, given the practical limitations on the size of *t* due to the exponentially bad signal-to-noise ratio, the reliability of this extraction depends strongly on the size of the gap Δ_n . It has been shown that solving the GEVP with $\tau_0 \ge t/2$ leads to a gap of $\Delta_n = E_N - E_n$ [343], which removes the contribution from all states with $E_m \ne E_n < E_N$ from $\lambda_n(t, \tau_0)$. This is in contrast to solving for the eigenvalues of C(t) directly, in which case the gap is in general given by $\Delta_n = \min_{m \ne n} |E_n - E_m|$ [342], and thus does not help in controlling the contamination from different states. Hence, by using the GEVP, the gap can be made arbitrarily large by including more operators in the correlator matrix that couple well to the relevant states.

The GEVP is also amenable to self-consistency checks by varying the operators used in the correlator matrix and observing how the resulting spectrum is affected (e.g. see Ref. [331] for a recent investigation). This can help to determine operators that are irrelevant, or, more importantly, essential. As stated above, further consistency checks can be made by utilizing the quantization condition to look for any inconsistent behavior in the phase shift coming from the energies extracted from the GEVP. The resulting phase shift can also be used to predict the energy spectrum and look for any missing energies. Thus, the GEVP method in combination with the finite-volume Lüscher formalism is a powerful method for validating the extracted spectrum.

Pionless EFT indicates that regardless of whether a deep bound state exists in the system or not, a modest variational basis containing only momentum-space operators is sufficient to correctly determine the spectrum, and the inclusion of a hexaquark operator does not improve the convergence [347], (see also [326]). One lattice calculation found that including a hexaquark operator gave rise to an additional energy level well above threshold, without affecting any other levels [331]. Such a state, if it exists, would have to be a very narrow resonance that is weakly coupled to the NN system such that it leaves an otherwise imperceptible imprint on the nearby spectrum and the resulting phase shift. It is important to verify the validity of this state to further understand these strongly interacting systems.

All applications of the variational method to two-baryon systems at larger-than-physical pion masses either strongly disfavor a bound NN state [329] or are inconclusive in this regard [326,331]. Direct comparison, on the same ensemble, of variational results to those using the asymmetric correlator setup described above show



Fig. 3 Two paths, red and blue, from the lattice finite-volume energy levels E(L, a) to the continuum phase shift $\delta(p^2)$

inconsistencies in the extracted phase shifts, further providing evidence that these early studies were affected by uncontrolled excited-state contamination.

The recent switch to utilizing the variational method in two-baryon systems has resulted in great strides toward resolving the two-baryon controversy in the literature. But, more work is certainly needed. For example, it will be illuminating to compare the phase shifts determined on the same configurations from the HAL QCD potential method and the variational methods. Thus a shift to controlling other sources of systematic error may be the next hurdle for obtaining reliable estimates of two-baryon observables. We discuss first steps toward this in the next section.

16.2 Quantization Condition and Discretization Effects

Until recently, every lattice calculation of baryon-baryon interactions was done using a single lattice spacing a. This was based on the assumption that discretization effects mostly cancel when taking the difference between baryon-baryon energy levels and the sum of two single-baryon energy levels [348]. In Ref. [328], two of us studied the H dibaryon for a fixed choice of quark masses using six lattice spacings and found very large discretization effects: the binding energy in the continuum limit was 4.6(1.3) MeV, whereas on the coarsest lattice spacing it was above 30 MeV. Given this first result in a single physical system, it will be important to check other systems such as NN systems to understand whether large discretization effects are common; work in this direction is in progress [349]. In addition, since discretization effects are not universal, it will be worthwhile to also perform studies using different lattice actions. Some input from EFTs or toy models could help in understanding these effects and whether any lattice action should be preferred. It will also be interesting and important to understand why they may be relevant for two-baryons but do not seem nearly as relevant for two-meson systems.

If large discretization effects are widespread, this implies that many previous calculations may also contain large systematic errors. In the future, it will be important to perform calculations using multiple lattice spacings or a single lattice spacing that is finer than has typically been used in the past.

16.2.1 Applying Quantization Conditions at Nonzero Lattice Spacing

A now-standard approach for studying multihadron interactions with LQCD is to use finite-volume quantization conditions, which relate the scattering amplitude to the finite-volume spectrum [142, 338–340]. Given that these conditions have been derived in the continuum, a natural question is how best to analyze a spectrum computed at nonzero lattice spacing. Two possible strategies are illustrated in Fig. 3.

The most theoretically clean approach is to follow the red path, by first performing continuum extrapolations at fixed volume to obtain the continuum finite-volume spectrum, then analyzing it using standard quantization conditions. However, the corresponding lattice calculations are challenging, since they require matched volumes at different lattice spacings.

Alternatively, one could follow the blue path, using quantization conditions to obtain scattering amplitudes at finite lattice spacing and then extrapolating those to the continuum. Two simplifying assumptions can be made: the continuum quantization condition can be applied to data at nonzero lattice spacing, and the scattering amplitude at nonzero lattice spacing has the same structure as the continuum one. This is the main approach

used in Ref. [328]. Along with a fit ansatz in which $p \cot \delta_0(p)$ is given by a polynomial in p^2 whose coefficients are affine functions of a^2 , this approach produced a good description of the lattice spectra.

A better understanding of discretization effects could help to put the strategy of following the blue path on theoretically more solid ground. It would be beneficial to derive a quantization condition that accommodates at least the leading discretization effects. This would, of course, have to incorporate the $O(a^2)$ discretization effects that reduce the O(4) Euclidean-rotational group down to the hypercubic group. At this stage it is unclear if these effects could be accounted for using a universal framework or if it is necessary to resort to a specific EFT evaluated to a finite order. First steps in this direction were performed in Ref. [350] for a simple theory.

16.2.2 Energy Levels on Left-Hand Cuts

Here we note another important direction of investigation for the two-particle quantization conditions. It is well known that the standard quantization conditions break down above certain inelastic thresholds, with considerable progress being made in recent years to understand quantization conditions above multi-channel and three-particle thresholds (see Refs. [298, 299] for recent reviews). However, they also fail for energies that overlap with left-hand cuts that occur below the lowest threshold. One can see this in the simplest case where the quantization condition is truncated to *S*-wave:

$$p \cot \delta_0(p) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}L\gamma} Z_{00}^{\vec{P}L/(2\pi)} \left(1, \left(\frac{pL}{2\pi}\right)^2 \right).$$
(16.6)

Here, $Z_{00}^{\overline{D}}$ is a generalized zeta function that is real for real p^2 . Below the start of the left-hand cut, $p \cot \delta_0(p)$ is generically complex; as a result, the equation has no solutions.

On the other hand, lattice energy levels below the start of the left-hand cut have now been observed [328]. For SU(3) singlet baryon-baryon scattering relevant for the *H* dibaryon, the first left-hand cut is caused by *t*-channel exchange of a pseudoscalar octet meson. On all but one of the ensembles in Ref. [328], the ground state in the rest frame lies below the start of the *t*-channel cut; these levels were discarded from the analysis. For nucleon–nucleon scattering at the physical pion mass, the *t*-channel cut starts about 5 MeV below threshold; naïve applications of quantization conditions to the scattering amplitude in the deuteron sector (using models that do not contain a *t*-channel cut) predict that the ground state in the rest frame will lie this far below threshold when L < 8 fm [351,352].

It would be valuable to have quantization conditions that are valid on left-hand cuts, which could provide subthreshold information on the scattering amplitude. In fact, the recently-proposed method of Ref. [353] might already be applicable to some of these challenges. At this point, it is not clear if one could cast such a formalism in a universal form that may be applicable for arbitrary channels.

16.3 Two-Body Matrix Elements

Ultimately, the spectrum of the *NN* system serves as a first step towards the determination of more physically interesting quantities, including electroweak elastic and transition form factors and QCD contributions to processes that may provide smoking guns of BSM physics (e.g. neutrinoless double-beta decay). Many of these reactions may be constrained via the evaluation of matrix elements of external currents. With the aim of rigorously determining these matrix elements via LQCD, there has been significant progress towards providing a non-perturbative connection between finite- and infinite-volume few-body matrix elements [354,355]. If we consider the simplest system, where the particles carry no relative angular momentum or intrinsic spin, the relationship between a matrix element for a local scalar current (\mathcal{J}) can be compactly written as [354,355]

$$L^{3}\langle P_{f}, L|\mathcal{J}(x=0)|P_{i}, L\rangle = \left(\mathcal{W}_{df}(P_{f}, P_{i}) + \mathcal{M}(P_{f}^{2}) \cdot G(P_{f}, P_{i}, L) \cdot \mathcal{M}(P_{i}^{2})\right) \sqrt{\mathcal{R}(P_{f}, L)\mathcal{R}(P_{i}, L)},$$
(16.7)

where G is a new finite-volume function that is closely related to Z_{00} appearing in Eq. (16.6), \mathcal{R} is the so-called Lellouch-Lüscher factor [356,357], \mathcal{M} is the purely hadronic two-body amplitude, and \mathcal{W}_{df} is the desired infinite-volume matrix element.¹³ Although this formalism has not yet been implemented in a LQCD

¹³ The subscript df stands for "divergence-free", referring to the fact that simple pole singularities have been removed.

calculation, important checks have been performed on it, including the consistencies with perturbation theory, the Feynman-Hellmann theorem, and charge conservation [352,358].

It is worth emphasizing that \mathcal{R} requires the evaluation of the derivative of the scattering amplitude and the Z_{00} functions with respect to energy. The derivative of the scattering amplitude is not directly accessible via LQCD, and as a result one must resort to parametrizations of the amplitudes. This, and the additional explicit dependence on \mathcal{M} in Eq. (16.7), points to the fact that in order to obtain infinite-volume matrix elements of two-particle states, one requires a tight and accurate constraint on the two-body spectrum and subsequently the two-body scattering amplitudes.

As already mentioned, this formalism has not been implemented in the study of NN matrix elements. Instead, the published results [306,309,311] have restricted their attention to systems that support bound states and relied on the fact that matrix elements of two-body bound states have exponentially suppressed finite-volume effects [352]. If there are no bound states, as indicated by improved spectroscopy calculations, then this approach for avoiding Eq. (16.7) is not valid. Furthermore, any uncontrolled systematic errors in the spectra will propagate into errors in \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{R} , which can be large. In addition, generally the finite-volume matrix element on the left-hand side of Eq. (16.7) cannot be reliably isolated in a regime where the energy of the corresponding finite-volume state has not been reliably isolated. Although it has not been definitively demonstrated at this point whether the published results for the NN matrix elements are contaminated by these uncontrolled systematics, this will need further investigation, and these calculations will need to be done using variationally optimized operators as done in, for example, Ref. [359] for excited mesonic states.

For shallow bound states, like the physical deuteron, finite-volume effects can not be ignored. Instead, one will need to use multiple volumes and/or total momenta to scan the pole region of W_{df} . At the bound-state, this amplitude acquires an energy-dependent pole associated with the initial and final state coupling to the bound state [360]. And from the residue of this, one can access the form factors of such a state.

To study the matrix elements of NN states, it will be necessary to generalize the formalism presented in Refs. [352,358] for systems with non-zero intrinsic spin. Finally, as previously emphasized, the formalism discussed only supports currents that are local in time. In other words, it would not be suitable in, for example, the study of Compton scattering or double beta decays. Such observables would need extensions to accommodate the insertion of two currents separated by arbitrary time. Efforts along this track are under way [259,361–364].

16.4 States Coupling to Three or More Nucleons

Among the more exciting prospects of the few-nucleon LQCD program is the possibility of constraining three-nucleon dynamics directly from QCD. The procedure for this follows closely that of the two-body sector. Namely, presently the most rigorous pathway requires the accurate determination of the finite-volume spectra of states with the quantum number of three-nucleons using a large list of operators. The spectrum would then need to be analysed with the extensions of the quantization condition for three particles in order to then constrain the infinite-volume amplitudes. Once the amplitudes have been constrained, these could be analytically continued below threshold to determine the location and residues of possible bound state poles.

These studies are significantly more challenging than their two-body analogues for multiple reasons, including

- there is a larger density of states,
- for systems with two-body bound states, there can be multiple thresholds,
- the number of allowed contractions generally grows with the number of hadrons,
- the numerical cost of evaluating each contraction is generally larger,
- the stochastic noise grows with the number of nucleons,
- the quantization condition is more complicated to derive and implement,
- the quantization condition depends on one, two, and three-body observables,
- the infinite-volume amplitudes have a larger class of singularities.

The first five items point to the fact that determination of finite-volume spectra is generally more complicated, while the last set of items refer to the fact that their analysis is also more challenging.

This program hinges on a non-perturbative formalism to relate the finite-volume spectra and the desired infinite-volume amplitude. There has been significant progress towards this goal [299,365–368]. Although these formalisms have not been implemented in the study of nuclear states, they have been successfully implemented in the mesonic sector [369–374], where calculations are computationally more affordable.

While the formalism for three-nucleon systems in finite volume does not yet exist, there are published results for the three (and four) baryon spectra [302,333]. There is now evidence that the *NN* (and generally, two-baryon) spectra for these results have significant, unaccounted-for systematic errors, as the NPLQCD collaboration first published $B_{NN} \approx 20$ MeV binding energies for both di-nucleon systems [289,302], while in their most recent work using momentum-space creation operators, they do not find evidence for deep bound states [331]. This is suggestive of an O(20 MeV) systematic uncertainty on the *NN* binding energy. Ref. [302] also quoted a ³He binding energy of $B \approx 50$ MeV, which is 30 MeV from the quoted proton–deuteron breakup threshold. Assuming a 20 MeV systematic uncertainty on the deuteron binding energy, it is not unreasonable to also assume a similar or larger uncertainty on the gap from the three-nucleon state to this first open threshold. This is of the same order of the systematic for the two-body sector, which weakens the claim that a bound ³He was found for these quark masses. As a result, it will be necessary to do a variational analysis of the spectrum using a larger list of interpolating operators before concluding that ³He is indeed bound for these larger pion masses in the range $m_{\pi} \sim 300-800$ MeV.

In preparation for such studies, the formalism continues being developed [375–378] to allow for increasingly complex three-body systems. In parallel to these efforts, toy-model investigation have been continued, exploring nuclear-like theories which support two- and three-body bound states in a finite- and infinite-volume [379,380]. Ultimately, these formalisms will need to be extended to accommodate systems with intrinsic spin.

Although calculations of correlation functions with four and more nucleons have been performed, they have used a single local creation operator. The challenges discussed above for the *NN* sector are expected to be more difficult for four and more nucleons, and the corresponding calculation will be numerically more expensive. Given these two points and the lack of existing formalism to test the validity of the resultant lattice spectra, robust investigations of systems composed of four or more nucleons will have to wait.

Acknowledgements: JRG acknowledges support from the Simons Foundation through the Simons Bridge for Postdoctoral Fellowships scheme. ADH is supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics through the Contract No. DE-SC0012704 and within the framework of Scientific Discovery through Advance Computing (SciDAC) award "Computing the Properties of Matter with Leadership Computing Resources." RAB is supported in part by U.S. Department of Energy Contract No. DE-AC05-06OR23177, under which Jefferson Science Associates, LLC, manages and operates Jefferson Lab, and is partly supported by the U.S. Department of Energy Contract No. DE-SC0019229. ANN is supported by the U.S. National Science Foundation CAREER Award PHY-2047185. The work of AWL is supported in part by U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics under Awards No. DE-AC02-05CH11231.

17 Entanglement in Nuclear Structure by Caroline Robin

As prime examples of quantum many-body systems, atomic nuclei exhibit non-classical correlations, among which, entanglement is certainly the most fascinating. This peculiar phenomenon, inherent to quantum mechanics, allows particles that have interacted in some way, to remain correlated even when separated by arbitrarily large distances. Such non-local correlations play an important role in quantum communication and are the essence of quantum computing.

In order to characterize entanglement in tightly bound many-body systems, where particles are separated by short distances and have overlapping wave functions, one must consider the distinguishable or indistinguishable character of the components. While there appears to be a consensus on the definition of entanglement between distinguishable particles, an extension of this concept to systems of identical particles is difficult and is still subject to debate [381]. The issue comes from the fact that, because of their indistinguishability, single components cannot be accessed individually. It is thus unclear how to trace over one subsystem and determine reduced density matrices, which are the key elements to quantify entanglement.

Although possible treatments of two-identical-particle systems have been investigated [382], how to address particle entanglement in larger systems is not straightforward, and several points of view on the notion of entanglement itself, as well as its characterization, have been developed in the past years [383]. One possible way around this issue has been to consider the Fock space formulation of the many-body state and evaluate entanglement between modes rather than between particles. In this case, the subsystems are formed by groups of distinguishable single-particle states, or orbitals, so that the total Hilbert space has the required tensor product structure allowing for partial traces and calculation of entanglement measures.

Below we summarize different ways that have been explored to characterize entanglement in the structure of atomic nuclei, and discuss how these studies can not only lead to efficient ways of treating quantum correlations on classical computers, but can also provide valuable insights in order to design quantum computations of nuclei. Finally we discuss the possible fundamental role of entanglement in the description of nuclei and nuclear forces, and mention some problems and questions to be addressed in the future.

17.1 Entanglement in Nuclear Structure Calculations

The presence of entanglement is the reason why calculating nuclei, and in general quantum many-body systems, on classical computers is so hard. As systems with large entanglement cannot be well approximated by separable states they do not possess an efficient classical representation, thus leading to the exponential scaling of the required resources with the number of particles. In this context, careful investigations and possible manipulations of entanglement structures can allow for more efficient calculation schemes. This idea is exploited by methods such as density-matrix renormalization group (DMRG) or tensor networks largely used in other fields, and more recently being developed in nuclear physics [384–394]. As nuclei are composed of two particle species (*Z* protons and *N* neutrons), various partitioning of the nuclear state can be defined, for investigation of different forms of entanglement. For example, Refs. [384, 385, 395, 396] made use of the natural bi-partitioning of the nuclear state to study entanglement between neutron and proton subsystems. Analyses of the singular-value decomposition of shell-model ground states showed an exponential fall off of the eigenvalues of the reduced density matrix (singular values), in particular in spherical nuclei with N > Z, so that nuclear states could be represented by only a few (correlated) proton and neutron states.

A few investigations of mode correlations and entanglement have now also been performed in the Lipkin model [397], two-nucleon [398] and many-nucleon systems [399,400]. For example, Ref. [400] analyzed entanglement properties of several single-particle bases within the ground state of Helium isotopes, and found a clear link between convergence of the ground-state energy (with respect to the size of the model space) and entanglement structures. In particular, natural orbitals derived from a variational principle, which displayed the fastest convergence of the energy, exhibited much more localized structures of entanglement within the basis, as compared to, for example, harmonic oscillator or Hartree-Fock orbitals, and minimized the total entanglement content of the nuclear ground state. Measures of entanglement and correlations appeared compressed around the Fermi level, and showed that this basis also effectively decouples the active and inactive single-particle spaces. Analysis of the two-nucleon mutual information in ⁶He showed that the transformation of single-particle orbitals led to an emergent picture of two interacting p-shell neutrons decoupling from an 4 He core, thus driving the wave function to a core-valence tensor product structure. While this study was an *a posteriori* investigation of entanglement from no-core configuration-interaction calculations, one could use the structured and minimized entanglement patterns of the variational natural basis to design more efficient calculation schemes. One intuitive future step in this direction would be to combine such orbital optimization with DMRG, as has already been explored in quantum chemistry [401,402].

17.2 Entanglement to Guide Quantum Computations of Nuclei

While tremendous progress has been and can still be made in the classical computation of nuclei, quantum computers in principle offer a much more natural way to solve the quantum many-body problem [403] and, ultimately, could allow for exact treatments of systems beyond the limits of what could ever be achieved on classical machines. Thus, in the past decade a huge effort has been deployed to develop many-body quantum computations, and first proof-of-principle calculations of few-nucleon systems have been performed on quantum devices [404–408]. These pioneering studies have so far been limited to very few qubits. Developments of quantum computers are however fast progressing and one can expect that machines with several hundred or thousand qubits will become available in the very near future. To take advantage of these developments, it is of the utmost importance to develop clever algorithms which would limit the error rate to the best extent. In this respect, understanding the entanglement structure of the system that will be mapped on the quantum machine is crucial, and a careful organization and possible minimization of such structures could possibly allow for smaller numbers of entangling operations on the device, thus potentially leading to an expansion of the reach of quantum calculations. For example, studies of mode entanglement can be particularly useful to develop algorithms that map modes to qubits. In this context, the natural localization of entanglement into

decoupled subspaces that is provided by the natural variational basis could be exploited in order to design hybrid classical-quantum algorithms on present and near-term devices possessing limited connectivity. In particular, the weakly-entangled subspaces could be treated classically while the strongly-entangled part of the Hilbert space would be handled by the quantum device.

17.3 Discussion and Questions to Address in the Future

The investigation of entanglement in atomic nuclei is overall a rather new and thus exciting line of investigation. Beyond the computational advantages that could bring an entanglement-based description of nuclear systems, several studies now point out to the fact that entanglement organization and minimization could in fact be fundamental to the description of matter [409]. In particular, it was revealed that entanglement suppression is connected to emergent symmetries of the strong interaction at low energy, suggesting that entanglement may be a basic notion related the hierarchy of nuclear forces and could characterize a new power-counting scheme [23,410]. Recently, singular-value decompositions of two-nucleon interactions showed that low-rank truncations can be safely applied to non-local potentials, and that the singular-value content is mostly maintained during similarity renormalization group (SRG) evolution of these potentials [393,394], suggesting that the entanglement minimization could be preserved in the renormalization flow. Overall it could be that entanglement minimization is the signal of a relevant description for a given energy scale. From the aforementioned nuclear structure studies, it seems that this could also be manifest at the many-body level, although more investigations are needed to confirm this statement. In particular, it would be interesting to investigate if, similarly to the transition from QCD to nucleons [23], an entanglement suppression also appears when transiting from a description in terms of interacting nucleons to a regime where collective vibrations or rotations become relevant as degrees of freedom.

Overall, the use of entanglement as driving principle for the development of nuclear forces and many-body methods appears as a promising path to keep exploring. In this context, re-interpretation of existing techniques from an entanglement point of view can also be enlightening. In principle density functional theory tells us that the exact energy of the interacting system can be obtained from a single Slater determinant (SD) [411], which, by definition, is separable and thus, has no entanglement (beyond anti-symmetrization). The situation is similar in the in-medium SRG method [412] which shifts the complexity of the nuclear state to the nuclear Hamiltonian via continuous unitary transformations of the latter. The exact energy (and other observables) can then also be obtained from a SD. On the other hand, these separable states do not characterize the exact wave function of the system. Thus it may not be straightforward to quantify entanglement directly in such approaches and one may need to elaborate different ways to characterize it.

Several other fundamental problems as well as possible applications are to be explored in the future. These include studies of various forms of entanglement, such as bi-partite and multi-partite entanglement, in ground and excited states of diverse types of nuclear systems, from light to mid-mass and heavy nuclei, both near and far from stability. Such works would lead us towards a broader and deeper understanding of entanglement in nuclei and its evolution along the nuclear chart, and could shed light on relations to symmetry breaking and phase transitions, as well as possible links with emergence of new degrees of freedom.

As a more conceptual issue, how to characterize entanglement between individual nucleons (as opposed to modes) in a way that would be independent of the basis should also be clarified. This type of entanglement could potentially provide better insight into physical phenomena such as pairing or clustering, and could perhaps reveal possible experimental signatures of entanglement in nuclei.

18 A Perspective on Quantum Information and Quantum Computing for Nuclear Physics by Martin J. Savage

This is my contribution to the Panel Discussion on 6 May 2021 in the INT workshop INT 21-1b related to quantum information sciences (QIS) for low-energy nuclear physics (NP). Each Panelist provided initial comments to start the discussion (with topics that we distributed among ourselves to avoid duplication). The following text is an approximate transcription of my remarks, regarding *things to keep in mind* when considering how to go about effectively transferring QIS techniques into and out of NP (theory) research. My remarks were mainly reflective in nature, outlining some of the means by which modern quantum field theory (QFT),

the Standard Model, effective field theory (EFT), quantum chromodynamics (QCD) and lattice QCD (LQCD) techniques and technologies became integrated into the NP community.

Given the multi-disciplinary nature of QIS research, and the many points of connection with NP research, it is helpful to understand potential paths for a degree of integrating of research in QIS and nuclear theory at the interface to create an effective, robust and mutually beneficial research program. To provide some insight and guidance about handling the integration of relevant components of OIS research into NP and other domain sciences, and vice versa, it is worth reflecting on the integration of QFT, the standard model, EFT, QCD and LOCD techniques and technologies into the NP community. While OCD was discovered in the early 1970s, and LOCD soon thereafter, its theoretical footprint essentially remained in the domain of high-energy physics (HEP) for more than 15 years. This was in part because the success of perturbative QCD in systematically describing electroweak processes using EFTs and the RG, and the lack of direct impact on NP at that time beyond hadronic modeling. Despite a rapidly growing experimental program probing QCD in NP, QFT was not universally considered central to nuclear-theory research even well into the 1990s. Generally, the existing theoretical tools were integrated into the NP portfolio by a modest number of NP theorists re-aligning their research efforts and re-tooling (to some extent) and by hiring early-career scientists with PhDs in particle theory, particularly phenomenology, with interest in low-energy problems and electroweak processes. This was a remarkably successful recruitment, and coincided with one of the swings toward string theory in particle theory providing a significant pool of talent for NP to recruit from, and has contributed in part to present-day cutting-edge nuclear-theory activities.

LQCD was somewhat delayed in its migration into NP despite its obvious future role, again due to its significant impact on the HEP experimental program, and the challenges faced in computing the properties of even one nucleon with precision. This situation evolved during the 2000s, with the NP community spawning further single-nucleon and multi-nucleon LQCD efforts and collaborations, and hiring a number of junior scientists trained in LQCD by HEP, to utilize the rapidly increasing available classical computing resources. This was enabled and welcomed by the USQCD collaboration¹⁴ that represented all LQCD practitioners in the U.S. and coordinating developments with SciDAC¹⁵ funding and HPC.¹⁶

In addition to increased funding for efforts in new directions in local research groups at universities and national laboratories, national summer schools and conferences, major community-driven vehicles to enable a deeper integration of new ideas and concepts into and out of nuclear theory were established around 1990, with the creation of the Institute for Nuclear Theory (INT)¹⁷ in Seattle, USA, embedded in a university physics department, followed a few years later by the European Center for Theoretical Nuclear Physics (ECT*)¹⁸ in Trento, Italy connected with their physics department. This deliberate co-location provides a "low potential barrier" to engaging graduate students and postdocs in an immersive environment with a large and rotating selection of the world's leading theorists at all career stages. Currently, ECT* is embracing QIS as an area of importance for future NP research, building upon its prior efforts in this area and also in HPC.

These discussions and examples of a previously successful integration pathway, provides guidance for considering how to accomplish the analogous mutually-beneficial QIS technique and technology transfer into and out of NP research. The situation for QIS has important differences, one of them being the major role of technology companies and startups, and the expected growth of the quantum economy to follow a similar path to that of the silicon economy, driven by Moore's Law and financially supported by investors toward a significant fraction of a trillion dollars in the future. Having said this, there is no obvious reason to "re-invent the wheel", and the NP community has the necessary institutional knowledge and infrastructures to rise and meet this challenge. The *InQubator for Quantum Simulation* (IQuS)¹⁹ was recently established with the goal of enabling this QIS-NP integration.

¹⁴ https://www.usqcd.org/.

¹⁵ https://www.scidac.gov/.

¹⁶ https://www.usqcd.org/lqcd/WBS/.

¹⁷ https://sites.google.com/uw.edu/int/home.

¹⁸ https://www.ectstar.eu/.

¹⁹ https://iqus.uw.edu/.

19 A Perspective on the Future of High-Performance Quantum Computing by David J. Dean

When contrasting the evolution of quantum computing with the advent of microchip technology, one sees interesting similarities. Let us start with transistors. In 1925, Julian Lilienfeld filed for an early patent for the design of a field-effect transistor [413], marking the conceptual start of the microchip revolution. It took several years of development to move from concept to the first working transistor (its birthdate is given as 23 December 1947) for which the team of John Bardeen, Walter Brattain, and William Shockley won the Nobel Prize in 1956.²⁰ Robert Noyce, who received the first integrated circuit (IC) patent in 1961 (filed in 1959 [414]), joined with Shockley to found the first microchip production firm, Fairchild Semiconductor, and later founded Intel with Gordon Moore. Gordon Moore is credited with realizing that the number of transistors in a dense integrated circuit doubles about every 2 years (Moore's law [415]). Indeed, from the Intel-4004 of 1970, with 2250 transistors on the chip, to today's chips with billions of transistors, this observation has held true. The amazing advances made in computer technology have revolutionized every aspect of life and have had tremendous impacts in our approach to the sciences through the development and application of computational science across many domains.

Quantum computing is following a similar evolutionary path. We often credit Richard Feynman with the idea, see e.g. [403], of simulating quantum systems with quantum computers. Furthermore, the thermodynamics of computing (and potential reversibility of quantum computing) were being discussed contemporaneously by Toffoli [416] and Bennett [417]. Influenced by the reversable computing work, Benioff [418] developed universal quantum gate sets for computation. These tremendous leaps in a theoretical understanding of quantum information science and quantum computation mark the start of the current quantum computing era.

Of course, a theory does not mean a device that can compute. The next steps in the evolution of quantum computing required the hard work of developing and understanding how to make quantum circuits in the laboratory [419]. Many laboratories and researchers from across the world have contributed to the necessary advances required to advance quantum computing in the laboratory [420,421]. Furthermore, these advances are leading to significant technical investments from different industrial sectors, and generating many new start-up technology companies. For example (and this is not an exhaustive list), progress is being made in generating quantum computers from superconducting qubits (represented by work at IBM,²¹ Google,²² and Rigetti²³), trapped ions (represented by work at IonQ²⁴ and Honeywell²⁵), and optical computing.²⁶ In each case, the technical difficulty comes with scaling of qubits and with error control. Nevertheless, the field continues to make quick progress in implementation within these technologies.

The US government has been keenly aware of the need to invest in quantum computing for several years. Starting a completely new industry plays into this need, as does the threat of competition from across the world [422]. The US Department of Energy began to formulate plans [423–426] for research in the area that would directly impact both coherence times and quantum computing scalability. At the same time, the DOE began funding research in quantum algorithm development and in use cases that are germane to the DOE's mission in scientific R&D. The reports (and others that I have not listed), coupled with the initial base programmatic research, formed the basis for DOE's role in the National Quantum Information Act²⁷ which was signed into law on December 21, 2018. The NQI Act establishes federal coordination among various US government agencies pursuing quantum R&D²⁸ and provides funding for NQI Research Centers to be established by NSF, DOE, and the DOD. The DOE Office of Science funds 5 National Quantum Information Science Research Centers, each operating at \$25M/year.

The Quantum Science Center (QSC),²⁹ for which I was the PI until January 2022 when I transitioned to JLab, is dedicated to overcoming key roadblocks in quantum-state resilience, quantum-state controllability, and ultimately the scalability of quantum technologies. This mission is being achieved by integrating the discovery,

²⁰ https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/physics/1956/summary/

²¹ https://www.ibm.com/quantum-computing/.

²² https://quantumai.google.

²³ https://www.rigetti.com.

²⁴ https://www.ionq.com.

²⁵ https://www.honeywell.com/us/en/company/quantum.

²⁶ https://psiquantum.com.

²⁷ https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/6227.

²⁸ https://www.quantum.gov.

²⁹ For further details see https://qscience.org and follow QSC at @QuantumSciCtr (on twitter).

design, and demonstration of revolutionary topological quantum materials, algorithms, and sensors, catalyzing the development of disruptive technologies. The QSC also develops the next generation of scientists and engineers through the active engagement of students and postdoctoral associates in research and professional development activities. Furthermore, by closely coordinating with industry, the QSC is strongly coupling its basic science foundation and technology development pathways to transition new applications to the private sector to make quantum technologies a reality. Specifically, the QSC is organized into three scientific thrusts. First, the QSC is addressing the fragility of quantum states through the design of new topological materials for quantum information science (QIS). QSC researchers focus on the design, synthesis [427], and characterization of topological superconductors and quantum spin liquids, both of which are candidate materials for discovering non-abelian quasiparticle states (anyons) that promise to yield quantum computing gates that are protected from environmental noise, and thus increasing the robustness of quantum computation, see e.g. [428]. Ultimately, the QSC will demonstrate controlled interactions between these topological states, or Majorana zero modes, to realize scalable topological quantum computation. Recent work [429] includes the observation of quantum entanglement phenomena in a triangular antiferromagnet using neutron scattering. The material, KYbSe2, is a quantum spin liquid candidate which should be exhibit anyonic behavior.

Second, the QSC is developing scalable algorithms and software to exploit the new physics enabled by topological systems. The QSC develops and tests these algorithms on several noisy intermediate-scale quantum platforms to characterize their behaviors and to devise algorithms that mitigate the noise [430]. In other computational work, QSC researchers presented and demonstrated entanglement-enhanced methods that can be used to learn an entire unitary rather than just its action on a low-lying subspace. The result is a framework for quantum machine learning of continuous variable (for instance, photonic) quantum systems capable of exponentially reducing input-output state training resources [431].

Third, the QSC is designing new quantum devices and sensors to unambiguously detect topological quasiparticles and explore meV regions of dark matter phase space. To manipulate Majorana states, one must first unambiguously identify them. To that end, the QSC develops new capabilities in detecting the ultralow-noise nondestructive local sensing of electromagnetic fields. These techniques are also being developed to detect for the first time, "light" dark matter, one of the theoretically favored candidates for dark matter, which constitutes 85% of the matter in the universe. Recent results include the discovery of room-temperature single-photon emitters in SiN, which have the potential to enable direct, scalable and low-loss integration of quantum light sources with well-established photonic on-chip platforms [432].

The QSC will transition discoveries in fundamental QIS through a progressive series of capability demonstrations that assess the readiness of quantum technology. The QSC method of co-design actively engages a broad range of researchers directly involved in pursuing an end goal to design and implement solutions. Thus, co-design processes generate the scientific integration of QSC-wide research projects toward a common programmatic outcome, and each co-design process provides feedback across research projects to focus innovations on new quantum science and technologies. During Year 1, the leads for the co-design processes identified common interfaces between projects and adopted quarterly milestones for Year 1 activities. The co-design process for topologically protected quantum information in Year 1 focused on the co-design of materials that host anyon physics. The co-design process for quantum simulations for scientific applications demonstrates quantum simulation for scientific applications by using quantum computing hardware with tailored quantum algorithms. The co-design process for quantum sensing in real-world applications demonstrates quantum sensors developed for material science characterization and dark matter detection.

Nuclear theorists, working with quantum computing colleagues, pursued several early calculations on quantum computing platforms. For example, early cloud-based quantum computers were used to calculate the binding energy of the deuteron [404]. Furthermore, in the early explorations, researchers also studied the dynamics of the Schwinger model using quantum computers [433]. These early works laid the groundwork for collaborations of nuclear theorists and QIS theorists to work at the interface of the two fields. Indeed, one recent example of progress coming from QSC involves describing neutrino oscillations at high neutrino density [434]. These examples indicate how theoretical nuclear physics research is incorporating quantum computing technology to solve interesting problems. It is still early days, and continuing collaborations coupled with efficient utilization of increasingly powerful quantum computers, will enable considerable progress in the coming decade.

I can draw conclusions from the progress made during the first year of the QSC, and from the exciting work being performed across the quantum computing community. This could be considered a prediction of the future. As Yogi Berra said, 'It's tough to make predictions, especially about the future'. Nevertheless, I will

end this brief discussion with some predictions for the next decade of QIS research, particularly as it pertains to quantum computing.

- Errors will be addressed in quantum computing. Materials that make up quantum computers (particularly superconducting materials) will be engineered to the point where the materials are not the primary sources of loss of coherence. Longer coherence times will enable gate depth to increase, thus opening possibilities for tackling larger problems. Furthermore, algorithms that mitigate error will continue to develop and improve. We should remember that HPC derives its power to solve increasingly difficult scientific problems from both hardware and algorithm improvement. A similar story is emerging in quantum computing.
- Quantum 'supremacy' will be claimed several times before it truly happens. Evidence suggests that the Google supremacy claim [435] rested on the use of a less than effective algorithm for the HPC comparison [436].
- While leadership computing may hit a plateau in implementation, staying at the exascale for several years and likely moving away the power-law progression that has characterized the top500 list for decades,³⁰ quantum computers will show significant advances in scientific reach over the next decade. The scale of R&D funding in quantum computing today is enormous, with roughly \$24.4B being spent in globally thus far.³¹ Trends suggest that the rate of R&D expenditures will continue to increase over the next decade.
- Anyons will be unambiguously detected in two-dimensional superconductors or quantum spin liquids and manipulation of several anyons and their braiding to produce two-qubit gates will occur within the next decade. The QSC is built on this scientific goal, and I look forward to the day when we can say that we succeeded.
- Nuclear theorists, working with QIS experts, will develop research problems that only a quantum computer can solve, and that are relevant for advances in nuclear physics.
- Quantum computing technology will eventually fold into HPC as accelerator technology. Recent press releases indicate that this development is already being pursued in Europe.³²

Without a doubt, scientists can tackle the challenges that remain in quantum computing. It will take years of sustained R&D and multidisciplinary cooperation to get there, and that is as exciting as the future that quantum computing will usher in.

References

- S. König, H.W. Grie
 ßhammer, H.-W. Hammer, U. van Kolck, Nuclear physics around the unitarity limit. Phys. Rev. Lett. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.202501
- P.F. Bedaque, H.-W. Hammer, U. van Kolck, Renormalization of the three-body system with short range interactions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 82, 463–467 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.82.463 arXiv: nucl-th/9809025
- P.F. Bedaque, H.-W. Hammer, U. van Kolck, Effective theory of the triton. Nucl. Phys. A 676, 357–370 (2000). https://doi. org/10.1016/S0375-9474(00)00205-0 arXiv: nucl-th/9906032
- L. Platter, H.-W. Hammer, U.-G. Meißner, On the correlation between the binding energies of the triton and the alpha-particle. Phys. Lett. B 607, 254–258 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2004.12.068 arXiv: nucl-th/0409040
- H.-W. Hammer, L. Platter, Efimov physics from a renormalization group perspective. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. A 369, 2679 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2011.0001 arXiv: 1102.3789 [nucl-th]
- M. Gattobigio, Å. Kievsky, M. Viviani, Embedding nuclear physics inside the unitary-limit window. Phys. Rev. C 100(3), 034004 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.100.034004 arXiv: 1903.08900 [nucl-th]
- 7. V. Efimov, Energy levels arising form the resonant two-body forces in a three-body system. Phys. Lett. B **33**, 563–564 (1970). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(70)90349-7
- G. Rupak, A. Vaghani, R. Higa, U. van Kolck, Fate of the neutron-deuteron virtual state as an Efimov level. Phys. Lett. B 791, 414–419 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2018.08.051 arXiv: 1806.01999 [nucl-th]
- A. Kievsky, M. Gattobigio, L. Girlanda, M. Viviani, Efimov physics and connections to nuclear physics. Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 71, 465–490 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nucl-102419-032845 arXiv: 2102.13504 [nucl-th]
- D.B. Kaplan, M.J. Savage, The Spin flavor dependence of nuclear forces from large n QCD. Phys. Lett. B 365, 244–251 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(95)01277-X arXiv: hep-ph/9509371
- D.B. Kaplan, A.V. Manohar, The Nucleon-nucleon potential in the 1/N(c) expansion. Phys. Rev. C 56, 76–83 (1997). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.56.76 arXiv: nucl-th/9612021

³⁰ https://www.top500.org/statistics/perfdevel/.

³¹ See, for example https://www.qureca.com/overview-on-quantum-initiatives-worldwide-update-mid-2021/.

 $^{^{32}\} https://thequantuminsider.com/2021/11/17/q-exa-collaborative-iqm-quantum-computer-will-be-first-quantum-system-to-be-integrated-into-a-hpc-supercomputer/.$

- T.D. Cohen, B.A. Gelman, Nucleon-nucleon scattering observables in large N(c) QCD. Phys. Lett. B 540, 227–232 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(02)02182-2 arXiv: nucl-th/0202036
- T.D. Cohen, Resolving the large N(c) nuclear potential puzzle. Phys. Rev. C 66, 064003 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.66.064003 arXiv: nucl-th/0209072
- 14. A. Calle Cordon, E. Ruiz Arriola, Serber symmetry, large N(c) and Yukawa-like one boson exchange potentials. Phys. Rev. C (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.80.014002 arXiv: 0904.0421 [nucl-th]
- D. Lee et al., Hidden spin-isospin exchange symmetry. Phys. Rev. Lett. 127(6), 062501 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.127.062501 arXiv: 2010.09420 [nucl-th]
- D.R. Phillips, C. Schat, Three-nucleon forces in the 1/Nc expansion. Phys. Rev. C 88(3), 034002 (2013). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevC.88.034002 arXiv: 1307.6274 [nucl-th]
- E. Wigner, On the consequences of the symmetry of the nuclear Hamiltonian on the spectroscopy of nuclei. Phys. Rev. 51, 106–119 (1937). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.51.106
- T. Mehen, I.W. Stewart, M.B. Wise, Wigner symmetry in the limit of large scattering lengths. Phys. Rev. Lett. 83, 931–934 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.83.931 arXiv: hep-ph/9902370
- J. Vanasse, D.R. Phillips, Three-nucleon bound states and the Wigner-SU(4) limit. Few Body Syst. 58(2), 26 (2017). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00601-016-1173-2 arXiv: 1607.08585 [nucl-th]
- M. R. Schindler, R.P. Springer, J. Vanasse. Large-N_c limit reduces the number of independent few-body parity-violating low-energy constants in pionless effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 93(2) (2016). [Erratum: Phys. Rev. C 97, 059901 (2018)], p. 025502. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.93.025502. arXiv: 1510.07598 [nucl-th]
- M.R. Schindler, H. Singh, R.P. Springer, Large-N_c relationships among two-derivative Pionless effective field theory couplings. Phys. Rev. C 98(4), 044001 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.98.044001 arXiv: 1805.06056 [nucl-th]
- S.T. Nguyen, M.R. Schindler, R.P. Springer, J. Vanasse, Large-N_c and renormalization group constraints on parity-violating low-energy coefficients for three-derivative operators in pionless effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 103(5), 054004 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.054004 arXiv: 2012.02180 [hep-ph]
- S.R. Beane, D.B. Kaplan, N. Klco, M.J. Savage, Entanglement suppression and emergent symmetries of strong interactions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 122(10), 102001 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.102001 arXiv: 1812.03138 [nucl-th]
- 24. I. Low, T. Mehen, Symmetry from entanglement suppression. Phys. Rev. D 104(7), 074014 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.104.074014 arXiv: 2104.10835 [hep-th]
- H.-W. Hammer, S. König, U. van Kolck, Nuclear effective field theory: status and perspectives. Rev. Mod. Phys. 92(2), 025004 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.92.025004 arXiv: 1906.12122 [nucl-th]
- A. Kievsky, M. Viviani, M. Gattobigio, L. Girlanda, Implications of Efimov physics for the description of three and four nucleons in chiral effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 95(2), 024001 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.95.024001 arXiv: 1610.09858 [nucl-th]
- U. van Kolck, Few nucleon forces from chiral Lagrangians. Phys. Rev. C 49, 2932–2941 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.49.2932
- E. Epelbaum, A. Nogga, W. Gloeckle, H. Kamada, U.-G. Meißner, H. Witala, Three nucleon forces from chiral effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 66, 064001 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.66.064001 arXiv: nucl-th/0208023
- 29. S. Elhatisari et al., Nuclear binding near a quantum phase transition. Phys. Rev. Lett. **117**(13), 132501 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.132501 arXiv: 1602.04539 [nucl-th]
- A. Rokash, E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, D. Lee, Effective forces between quantum bound states. Phys. Rev. Lett. 118(23), 232502 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.232502 arXiv: 1612.08004 [nucl-th]
- Y. Kanada-En'yo, D. Lee, Effective interactions between nuclear clusters. Phys. Rev. C 103(2), 024318 (2021). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.024318 arXiv: 2008.01867 [nucl-th]
- 32. L. Contessi, A. Lovato, F. Pederiva, A. Roggero, J. Kirscher, U. van Kolck, Ground-state properties of ⁴He and ¹⁶O extrapolated from lattice QCD with pionless EFT. Phys. Lett. B **772**, 839–848 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb. 2017.07.048 arXiv: 1701.06516 [nucl-th]
- B.-N. Lu, N. Li, S. Elhatisari, D. Lee, E. Epelbaum, U.-G. Meißner, Essential elements for nuclear binding. Phys. Lett. B 797, 134863 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2019.134863 arXiv: 1812.10928 [nucl-th]
- D. Frame, R. He, I. Ipsen, D. Lee, D. Lee, E. Rrapaj, Eigenvector continuation with subspace learning. Phys. Rev. Lett. 121(3), 032501 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.032501 arXiv: 1711.07090 [nucl-th]
- S. Köing, A. Ekström, K. Hebeler, D. Lee, A. Schwenk, Eigenvector continuation as an efficient and accurate emulator for uncertainty quantification. Phys. Lett. B 810, 135814 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2020.135814 arXiv: 1909.08446 [nucl-th]
- A. Ekström, G. Hagen, Global sensitivity analysis of bulk properties of an atomic nucleus. Phys. Rev. Lett. 123(25), 252501 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.252501 arXiv: 1910.02922 [nucl-th]
- R.J. Furnstahl, A.J. Garcia, P.J. Millican, X. Zhang, Efficient emulators for scattering using eigenvector continuation. Phys. Lett. B 809, 135719 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2020.135719 arXiv: 2007.03635 [nucl-th]
- J.A. Melendez, C. Drischler, A.J. Garcia, R.J. Furnstahl, X. Zhang, Fast and accurate emulation of two-body scattering observables without wave functions. Phys. Lett. B 821, 136608136608 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2021. 136608 arXiv: 2106.15608 [nucl-th]
- A. Sarkar, D. Lee, Convergence of Eigenvector continuation. Phys. Rev. Lett. 126(3), 032501 (2021). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.126.032501 arXiv: 2004.07651 [nucl-th]
- 40. S. Wesolowski, I. Svensson, A. Ekström, C. Forssén, R.J. Furnstahl, J.A. Melendez, D.R. Phillips, Rigorous constraints on three-nucleon forces in chiral effective field theory from fast and accurate calculations of few-body observables. Phys. Rev. C 104(6), 064001 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.064001 arXiv: 2104.04441 [nucl-th]
- P. Navrátil, Local three-nucleon interaction from chiral effective field theory. Few Body Syst. 41, 117–140 (2007). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00601-007-0193-3 arXiv: 0707.4680 [nucl-th]
- S. Binder, J. Langhammer, A. Calci, R. Roth, Ab initio path to heavy nuclei. Phys. Lett. B 736, 119–123 (2014). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2014.07.010 arXiv: 1312.5685 [nucl-th]

- 43. V. Lapoux, V. Somà, C. Barbieri, H. Hergert, J.D. Holt, S.R. Stroberg, Radii and binding energies in oxygen isotopes: a challenge for nuclear forces. Phys. Rev. Lett. (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.052501 arXiv: 1605.07885 [nucl-ex]
- 44. T. Hüther, K. Vobig, K. Hebeler, R. Machleidt, R. Roth, Family of chiral two- plus three-nucleon interactions for accurate nuclear structure studies. Phys. Lett. B 808, 135651 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2020.135651 arXiv: 1911.04955 [nucl-th]
- 45. D.R. Entem, R. Machleidt, Accurate charge dependent nucleon nucleon potential at fourth order of chiral perturbation theory. Phys. Rev. C 68, 041001 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.68.041001 arXiv: nucl-th/0304018
- R. Machleidt, D.R. Entem, Chiral effective field theory and nuclear forces. Phys. Rep. 503, 1–75 (2011). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.physrep.2011.02.001 arXiv: 1105.2919 [nucl-th]
- D.R. Entem, R. Machleidt, Y. Nosyk, High-quality two-nucleon potentials up to fifth order of the chiral expansion. Phys. Rev. C 96(2), 024004 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.96.024004 arXiv: 1703.05454 [nucl-th]
- E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, Precision nucleon-nucleon potential at fifth order in the chiral expansion. Phys. Rev. Lett. 115(12), 122301 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.122301 arXiv: 1412.4623 [nucl-th]
- P. Reinert, H. Krebs, E. Epelbaum, Semilocal momentum-space regularized chiral two-nucleon potentials up to fifth order. Eur. Phys. J. A 54(5), 86 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2018-12516-4 arXiv: 1711.08821 [nucl-th]
- P. Maris et al., Light nuclei with semilocal momentum-space regularized chiral interactions up to third order. Phys. Rev. C 103(5), 054001 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.054001 arXiv: 2012.12396 [nucl-th]
- V. Somá, P. Navrátil, F. Raimondi, C. Barbieri, T. Duguet, Novel chiral Hamiltonian and observables in light and mediummass nuclei. Phys. Rev. C 101(1), 014318 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.101.014318 arXiv: 1907.09790 [nuclth]
- T. Miyagi, S.R. Stroberg, P. Navrátil, K. Hebeler, J.D. Holt, Converged ab initio calculations of heavy nuclei. Phys. Rev. C 105(1), 014302 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.105.014302 arXiv: 2104.04688 [nucl-th]
- V. Somá, C. Barbieri, T. Duguet, P. Navrátil, Moving away from singly-magic nuclei with Gorkov Green's function theory. Eur. Phys. J. A 57(4), 135 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/s10050-021-00437-4 arXiv: 2009.01829 [nucl-th]
- A. Ekström, G.R. Jansen, K.A. Wendt, G. Hagen, T. Papenbrock, B.D. Carlsson, C. Forssén, M. Hjorth-Jensen, P. Navrátil, W. Nazarewicz, Accurate nuclear radii and binding energies from a chiral interaction. Phys. Rev. C 91(5), 051301 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.91.051301 arXiv: 1502.04682 [nucl-th]
- L. Girlanda, A. Kievsky, M. Viviani, Subleading contributions to the three-nucleon contact interaction. Phys. Rev. C 84(1) (2011). [Erratum: Phys. Rev. C 102, 019903 (2020)], p. 014001. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.84.014001. arXiv: 1102.4799 [nucl-th]
- 56. A. Kievsky, Phenomenological spin orbit three-body force. Phys. Rev. C 60, 034001 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.60.034001 arXiv: nucl-th/9905045
- L. Girlanda, A. Kievsky, M. Viviani, L. Marcucci, Progress in the quest for a realistic three-nucleon force. PoS CD15 103 (2016). https://doi.org/10.22323/1.253.0103
- K. Kravvaris, P. Navrátil, S. Quaglioni, C. Hebborn, G. Hupin, Ab initio prediction for radiative capture of protons on ⁷Be. http://arxiv.org/abs/2202.11759
- A. Kumar et al., Nuclear force imprints revealed on the elastic scattering of protons with ¹⁰C. Phys. Rev. Lett. 118(26), 262502 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.262502 arXiv: 1705.05409 [nucl-ex]
- H. Witala, J. Golak, R. Skibinski, K. Topolnicki, Calculations of three-nucleon reactions with N³LO chiral forces: achievements and challenges. J. Phys. G 41, 094011 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/41/9/094011 arXiv: 1310.0198 [nucl-th]
- R. Skibiński, J. Golak, K. Topolnicki, H. Witala, E. Epelbaum, H. Kamada, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, A. Nogga, Modern chiral forces applied to the nucleon-deuteron radiative capture. Few Body Syst. 58(2), 28 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00601-016-1190-1
- V. Urbanevych, R. Skibiński, H. Witała, J. Golak, K. Topolnicki, A. Grassi, E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, Application of a momentum-space semi-locally regularized chiral potential to selected disintegration processes. Phys. Rev. C 103(2), 024003 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.024003 arXiv: 2007.14836 [nucl-th]
- P. Navrátil, S. Quaglioni, G. Hupin, C. Romero-Redondo, A. Calci, Unified ab initio approaches to nuclear structure and reactions. Phys. Scr. 91(5), 053002 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-8949/91/5/053002 arXiv: 1601.03765 [nucl-th]
- 64. N. Michel, M. Płoszajczak, Gamow shell model: the unified theory of nuclear structure and reactions, vol 983. Lecture Notes in Physics (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-69356-5
- K.D. Launey, A. Mercenne, T. Dytrych, Nuclear dynamics and reactions in the ab initio symmetry-adapted framework. Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 71, 253–277 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nucl-102419-033316 arXiv: 2108.04894 [nucl-th]
- K.D. Launey, T. Dytrych, J.P. Draayer, Symmetry-guided large-scale shell-model theory. Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 89, 101–136 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2016.02.001 arXiv: 1612.04298 [nucl-th]
- T. Dytrych, K.D. Launey, J.P. Draayer, D. Rowe, J. Wood, G. Rosensteel, C. Bahri, D. Langr, R.B. Baker, Physics of nuclei: key role of an emergent symmetry. Phys. Rev. Lett. 124(4), 042501 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 124.042501 arXiv: 1810.05757 [nucl-th]
- D.J. Rowe, Microscopic theory of the nuclear collective model. Rep. Prog. Phys. 48(10), 1419–1480 (1985). https://doi. org/10.1088/0034-4885/48/10/003
- O. Castaños, P.O. Hess, J.P. Draayer, P. Rochford, Pseudo-symplectic model for strongly deformed heavy nuclei. Nucl. Phys. A 524, 469–478 (1991). https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9474(91)90280-J
- M. Jarrio, J.L. Wood, D.J. Rowe, The SU(3) structure of rotational states in heavy deformed nuclei. Nucl. Phys. A 528, 409–435 (1991). https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9474(91)90096-0
- C. Bahri, D.J. Rowe, SU(3) quasidynamical symmetry as an organizational mechanism for generating nuclear rotational motions. Nucl. Phys. A 662, 125–147 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(99)00394-2 arXiv: nucl-th/9906039

- K. Heyde, J.L. Wood, Shape coexistence in atomic nuclei. Rev. Mod. Phys. 83, 1467–1521 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/ RevModPhys.83.1467
- K.D. Launey, T. Dytrych, G.H. Sargsyan, R.B. Baker, J.P. Draayer, Emergent symplectic symmetry in atomic nuclei: ab initio symmetry-adapted no-core shell model. Eur. Phys. J. ST 229(14–15), 2429–2441 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/ epjst/e2020-000178-3 arXiv: 2108.04900 [nucl-th]
- P. Ruotsalainen et al., Isospin symmetry in B(E2) values: Coulomb excitation study of ²1Mg. Phys. Rev. C 99(5), 051301 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.99.051301 arXiv: 1811.00774 [nucl-ex]
- 75. G. Rosensteel, D.J. Rowe, Nuclear Sp(3, R) Model. Phys. Rev. Lett. 38, 10–14 (1977). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 38.10
- A.C. Dreyfuss, K.D. Launey, T. Dytrych, J.P. Draayer, C. Bahri, Hoyle state and rotational features in Carbon-12 within a no-core shell model framework. Phys. Lett. B 727, 511–515 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2013.10.048 arXiv: 1212.2255 [nucl-th]
- 77. G.K. Tobin, M.C. Ferriss, K.D. Launey, T. Dytrych, J.P. Draayer, A.C. Dreyfuss, C. Bahri, Symplectic no-core shell-model approach to intermediate-mass nuclei. Phys. Rev. C 89(3), 034312 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.89.034312 arXiv: 1311.2112 [nucl-th]
- D. Kekejian, J. Draayer, K. Launey, Abstract: X13.00007: Symplectic Effective Field Theory*. APS April Meeting 2021. 2021. https://meetings.aps.org/Meeting/APR21/Session/X13.7
- J. Henderson et al., Testing microscopically derived descriptions of nuclear collectivity: Coulomb excitation of ²²Mg. Phys. Lett. B 782, 468–473 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2018.05.064 arXiv: 1709.03948 [nucl-ex]
- J. Williams et al., Structure of Mg28 and influence of the neutron pf shell. Phys. Rev. C 100(1), 014322 (2019). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevC.100.014322
- K. Becker, K. Launey, A. Ekstrom, Searching for the origin of symplectic symmetry within the chiral effective potential. APS Division of Nuclear Physics Meeting Abstracts. Vol. 2020. APS Meeting Abstracts. SM.002 (2020)
- C.-J. Yang, A. Ekström, C. Forssén, G. Hagen, Power counting in chiral effective field theory and nuclear binding. Phys. Rev. C 103(5), 054304 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.054304 arXiv: 2011.11584 [nucl-th]
- A. Gade et al., Reduced occupancy of the deeply bound 0d5/2 neutron state in Ar-32. Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, 042501 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.042501
- A. Gade et al., Reduction of spectroscopic strength: weakly-bound and strongly-bound single-particle states studied using one-nucleon knockout reactions. Phys. Rev. C 77, 044306 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.77.044306
- N. Michel, W. Nazarewicz, M. Ploszajczak, K. Bennaceur, Gamow shell model description of neutron rich nuclei. Phys. Rev. Lett. 89, 042502 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.89.042502 arXiv: nucl-th/0201073
- J. Okołowicz, M. Płoszajczak, I. Rotter, Dynamics of quantum systems embedded in a con-tinuum. Phys. Rep. 374(4), 271– 383 (2003), ISSN: 0370-1573. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-1573(02)00366-6. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0370157302003666
- B.S. Hu, Q. Wu, J.G. Li, Y.Z. Ma, Z.H. Sun, N. Michel, F.R. Xu, An ab-initio Gamow shell model approach with a core. Phys. Lett. B 802, 135206 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2020.135206 arXiv: 2001.02832 [nucl-th]
- G. Papadimitriou, J. Rotureau, N. Michel, M. Ploszajczak, B.R. Barrett, Ab-initio no-core Gamow shell model calculations with realistic interactions. Phys. Rev. C 88(4), 044318 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.88.044318 arXiv: 1301.7140 [nucl-th]
- G. Hagen, D.J. Dean, M. Hjorth-Jensen, T. Papenbrock, Complex coupled-cluster approach to an ab-initio description of open quantum systems. Phys. Lett. B 656, 169–173 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2007.07.072 arXiv: nucl-th/0610072
- 90. S. Baroni, P. Navrátil, S. Quaglioni, Unified ab initio approach to bound and unbound states: no-core shell model with continuum and its application to ⁷He. Phys. Rev. C 87(3), 034326 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.87.034326 arXiv: 1301.3450 [nucl-th]
- A. Kievsky, M. Viviani, S. Rosati, Polarization observables in p-d scattering below 30-MeV. Phys. Rev. C 64, 024002 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.64.024002 arXiv: nucl-th/0103058
- L.E. Marcucci, A. Kievsky, L. Girlanda, S. Rosati, M. Viviani, N-d elastic scattering using the hyperspherical harmonics approach with realistic local and non-local interactions. Phys. Rev. C 80, 034003 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC. 80.034003 arXiv: 0905.3306 [nucl-th]
- L. Girlanda, A. Kievsky, M. Viviani, L.E. Marcucci, Short-range three-nucleon interaction from A=3 data and its hierarchical structure. Phys. Rev. C 99(5), 054003 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.99.054003 arXiv: 1811.09398 [nucl-th]
- W.H. Dickhoff, C. Barbieri, Selfconsistent Green's function method for nuclei and nuclear matter. Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 52, 377–496 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2004.02.038 arXiv: nucl-th/0402034
- C. Barbieri, D. Van Neck, W.H. Dickhoff, Quasiparticles in neon using the Faddeev random phase approximation. Phys. Rev. A 76, 052503 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.76.052503 arXiv: 0704.1542 [physics.chem-ph]
- 96. C. Barbieri, M. Hjorth-Jensen, Quasiparticle and quasihole states of nuclei around Ni-56. Phys. Rev. C **79**, 064313 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.79.064313 arXiv: 0902.3942 [nucl-th]
- V. Soma, C. Barbieri, T. Duguet, Ab initio self-consistent Gorkov–Green's function calculations of semi-magic nuclei: numerical implementation at second order with a two-nucleon interaction. Phys. Rev. C 89(2)(2014). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.89.024323 arXiv: 1311.1989 [nucl-th]
- C. Barbieri, Computational many-body physics. http://personal.ph.surrey.ac.uk/~cb0023/bcdor/bcdor/Comp_Many-Body_ Phys.html (2021)
- 99. S.Ř. Stroberg, A. Calci, H. Hergert, J.D. Holt, S.K. Bogner, R. Roth, A. Schwenk, A nucleus-dependent valence-space approach to nuclear structure. Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**(3), 032502 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.032502 arXiv: 1607.03229 [nucl-th]
- 100. S.R. Stroberg, imsrg. https://github.com/ragnarstroberg/imsrg (2021)
- B.A. Brown, W.D.M. Rae, The shell-model code NuShellX@MSU. Nucl. Data Sheets 120, 115–118 (2014). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nds.2014.07.022

- 102. W. D. M. Rae, NuShellX. http://www.garsington.eclipse.co.uk/ (2021)
- N. Shimizu, T. Mizusaki, Y. Utsuno, Y. Tsunoda, Thick-restart block Lanczos method for large-scale shell-model calculations. Comput. Phys. Commun. 244, 372–384 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpc.2019.06.011 arXiv: 1902.02064 [nucl-th]
- N. Shimizu, "KSHELL" code for nuclear shell-model calculations. https://sites.google.com/a/cns.s.u-tokyo.ac.jp/kshell/ home (2021)
- C.W. Johnson, W.E. Ormand, K.S. McElvain, H. Shan, "BIGSTICK: A flexible configuration-interaction shell-model code." (2018). arXiv: 1801.08432 [physics.comp-ph]
- 106. C. Johnson, BigstickPublick. https://github.com/cwjsdsu/BigstickPublick (2021)
- E. Caurier, G. Martinez-Pinedo, F. Nowacki, A. Poves, A.P. Zuker, The shell model as unified view of nuclear structure. Rev. Mod. Phys. 77, 427–488 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.77.427 arXiv: nucl-th/0402046
- 108. E. Caurier, Antoine shell model code. http://www.iphc.cnrs.fr/nutheo/code_antoine/menu.html (2021)
- 109. USQCD: US Lattice Quantum Chromodynamics. https://www.usqcd.org/ (2021)
- 110. PsiCode. https://psicode.org/ (2021)
- 111. J.A. Melendez, C. Drischler, R.J. Furnstahl, A.J. Garcia, Xilin Zhang, Model reduction methods for nuclear emulators. arxiv: 2203.05528
- 112. R.J. Furnstahl, D.R. Phillips, S. Wesolowski, A recipe for EFT uncertainty quantification in nuclear physics. J. Phys. G 42(3), 034028 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/42/3/034028 arXiv: 1407.0657 [nucl-th]
- 113. X. Zhang, K.M. Nollett, D.R. Phillips, Halo effective field theory constrains the solar ${}^{7}Be + p {}^{8}B + \gamma$ rate. Phys. Lett. B **751**, 535–540 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2015.11.005 arXiv: 1507.07239 [nucl-th]
- 114. G.B. King, A.E. Lovell, L. Neufcourt, F.M. Nunes, Direct comparison between Bayesian and frequentist uncertainty quantification for nuclear reactions. Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**(23), 232502 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.122. 232502 arXiv: 1905.05072 [nucl-th]
- E. Epelbaum, H.-W. Hammer, U.-G. Meißner, Modern theory of nuclear forces. Rev. Mod. Phys. 81, 1773–1825 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.81.1773 arXiv: 0811.1338 [nucl-th]
- 116. E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, P. Reinert, High-precision nuclear forces from chiral EFT: state-of-the-art, challenges and outlook. Front. Phys. 8, 98 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphy.2020.00098 arXiv: 1911.11875 [nucl-th]
- 117. S. Wesolowski, R.J. Furnstahl, J.A. Melendez, D.R. Phillips, Exploring Bayesian parameter estimation for chiral effective field theory using nucleon–nucleon phase shifts. J. Phys. G 46(4), 045102 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6471/aaf5fc arXiv: 1808.08211 [nucl-th]
- 118. D.R. Phillips et al., Get on the BAND Wagon: a Bayesian framework for quantifying model uncertainties in nuclear dynamics. J. Phys. G **48**(7), 072001 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6471/abf1df arXiv: 2012.07704 [nucl-th]
- P.G. Breen, C.N. Foley, T. Boekholt, S.P. Zwart, Newton versus the machine: solving the chaotic three-body problem using deep neural networks. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 494.2 (2020), pp. 2465–2470. ISSN: 0035-8711. https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/staa713. eprint: https://academic.oup.com/mnras/article-pdf/494/2/2465/33113691/ staa713.pdf
- M. Bogojeski, L. Vogt-Maranto, M.E. Tuckerman, K.-R. Müller, K. Burke, Quantum chemical accuracy from density functional approximations via machine learning. Nat. Commun. 11(1), 5223 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-19093-1
- C.E. Rasmussen, C.K.I. Williams, Gaussian Processes for Machine Learning (University Press Group Limited, Adaptive computation and machine learning series, 2006). ISBN 9780262182539
- 122. P. Demol, T. Duguet, A. Ekström, M. Frosini, K. Hebeler, S. König, D. Lee, A. Schwenk, S. Somá, A. Tichai, Improved manybody expansions from eigenvector continuation. Phys. Rev. C 101(4), 041302 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC. 101.041302 arXiv: 1911.12578 [nucl-th]
- D. Bai, Z. Ren, Generalizing the calculable R-matrix theory and eigenvector continuation to the incoming wave boundary condition. Phys. Rev. C 103(1), 014612 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.014612 arXiv: 2101.06336 [nucl-th]
- 124. S. Yoshida, N. Shimizu, A new workflow of shell-model calculations with the emulator and preprocessing using eigenvector continuation, and shell-model code ShellModel.jl (2021). arXiv: 2105.08256 [nucl-th]
- 125. S. Wesolowski, Fast and rigorous constraints on chiral three-nucleon forces from few-body observables. https://buqeye.github.io/assets/talks/Wesolowski_INT21.pdf
- 126. C. Drischler, Eigenvector continuation for scattering with local chiral nucleon-nucleon and optical potentials. https:// buqeye.github.io/assets/talks/Drischler_INT21.pdf
- 127. X. Zhang, Efficient emulators for three-body scattering using eigenvector continuation. https://buqeye.github.io/assets/ talks/Zhang_INT21.pdf
- S.B.S. Miller, A. Ekström, C. Forssén, Wave-packet continuum discretisation for nucleon-nucleon scattering predictions. J. Phys. G 49(2), 024001 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6471/ac3cfd
- 129. C. Schwartz, Electron scattering from hydrogen. Phys. Rev. 124, 1468–1471 (1961). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.124. 1468
- R.J. Furnstahl, H.-W. Hammer, A. Schwenk, Nuclear structure at the crossroads. Few Body Syst. 62(3), 72 (2021). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00601-021-01658-5 arXiv: 2107.00413 [nucl-th]
- C. Drischler, M. Quinonez, P.G. Giuliani, A.E. Lovell, F.M. Nunes, Toward emulating nuclear reactions using eigenvector continuation. Phys. Lett. B 823, 136777 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136777 arXiv: 2108.08269 [nucl-th]
- 132. A. Kievsky, The Complex Kohn variational method applied to N–d scattering. Nucl. Phys. A 624, 125–139 (1997). https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(97)81832-5 arXiv: nucl-th/9706061
- 133. R. Nesbet, Variational methods in electron-atom scattering theory, Physics of atoms and molecules (Plenum Press, 1980). (ISBN: 9780306404139)
- R.R. Lucchese, Anomalous singularities in the complex Kohn variational principle of quantum scattering theory. Phys. Rev. A 40, 6879–6885 (1989). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.40.6879

- J.Z.H. Zhang, S. Chu, W.H. Miller, Quantum scattering via the S-matrix version of the Kohn variational principle. J. Chem. Phys. 88(10), 6233–6239 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.454462
- 136. X. Zhang, R.J. Furnstahl, Fast emulation of quantum three-body scattering (2021). arXiv: 2110.04269 [nucl-th]
- 137. W. Kohn, Variational methods in nuclear collision problems. Phys. Rev. 74, 1763–1772 (1948). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRev.74.1763
- 138. R.G. Newton, Scattering Theory of Waves and Particles (Dover, Downers Grove, 2002)
- M. Lieber, L. Rosenberg, L. Spruch, Variational principles for three-body breakup scattering. Phys. Rev. D 5, 1347–1356 (1972). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.5.1347
- M. Viviani, A. Kievsky, S. Rosati, The Kohn variational principle for elastic proton deuteron scattering above deuteron breakup threshold. Few Body Syst. 30, 39–63 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1007/s006010170017 arXiv: nucl-th/0102048
- 141. L. Hlophe, J. Lei, C. Elster, A. Nogga, F.M. Nunes, D. Jurčiukonis, A. Deltuva, Deuterona-α scattering: separable versus nonseparable Faddeev approach. Phys. Rev. C 100(3), 034609 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.100.034609 arXiv: 1907.01587 [nucl-th]
- 142. M. Luscher, Two particle states on a torus and their relation to the scattering matrix. Nucl. Phys. B **354**, 531–578 (1991). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(91)90366-6
- 143. A.W. Jackura, S.M. Dawid, C. Fernàndez-Ramírez, V. Mathieu, M. Mikhasenko, A. Pilloni, S.R. Sharpe, A.P. Szczepaniak, Equivalence of three-particle scattering formalisms. Phys. Rev. D 100(3), 034508 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.100.034508 arXiv: 1905.12007 [hep-ph]
- 144. M. Eliyahu, B. Bazak, N. Barnea, Extrapolating lattice QCD results using effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C **102**(4), 044003 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.102.044003 arXiv: 1912.07017 [nucl-th]
- 145. X. Zhang, Extracting free-space observables from trapped interacting clusters. Phys. Rev. C 101(5), 051602 (2020). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.101.051602 arXiv: 1905.05275 [nucl-th]
- 146. X. Zhang, S.R. Stroberg, P. Navrátil, C. Gwak, J.A. Melendez, R.J. Furnstahl, J.D. Holt, Ab initio calculations of lowenergy nuclear scattering using confining potential traps. Phys. Rev. Lett. 125(11), 112503 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.125.112503 arXiv: 2004.13575 [nucl-th]
- 147. Y.-H. Song, R. Lazauskas, U. van Kolck, Triton binding energy and neutron-deuteron scattering up to next-to-leading order in chiral effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 96.2 (2017). [Erratum: Phys. Rev. C 100, 019901 (2019)], p. 024002. https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.96.024002. arXiv: 1612.09090 [nucl-th]
- 148. R. Peng, S. Lyu, S. König, B. Long, Constructing chiral effective field theory around unnatural leading-order interactions (2021). arXiv: 2112.00947 [nucl-th]
- 149. S. König, Few-body perspectives for partly perturbative pions. https://sites.google.com/uw.edu/int/programs/21-1b
- 150. S. König, Energies and radii of light nuclei around unitarity. Eur. Phys. J. A 56(4), 113 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/ epja/s10050-020-00098-9 arXiv: 1910.12627 [nucl-th]
- 151. L. Platter, H.-W. Hammer, Universality in the triton charge form-factor. Nucl. Phys. A **766**, 132–141 (2006). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2005.11.023 arXiv: nucl-th/0509045
- B. Bazak, J. Kirscher, S. König, M. Pavón Valderrama, N. Barnea, U. van Kolck, Four-body scale in universal few-boson systems. Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 143001 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.143001
- 153. A. Deltuva, Properties of universal bosonic tetramers. Few-Body Syst. 54, 569 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00601-012-0313-6 arXiv: 1202.0167 [physics.atom-ph]
- 154. E.R. Anderson, S.K. Bogner, R.J. Furnstahl, R.J. Perry, Operator evolution via the similarity renormalization group I: the deuteron. Phys. Rev. C 82, 054001 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.82.054001 arXiv: 1008.1569 [nucl-th]
- 155. S.N. More, S.K. Bogner, R.J. Furnstahl, Scale dependence of deuteron electrodisintegration. Phys. Rev. C 96(5), 054004 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.96.054004 arXiv: 1708.03315 [nucl-th]
- 156. D. Odell, A. Deltuva, L. Platter, van der Waals interaction as the starting point for an effective field theory. Phys. Rev. A 104(2), 023306 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.104.023306 arXiv: 2105.03442 [cond-mat.quant-gas]
- 157. M. Pavón Valderrama, D.R. Phillips, Power counting of contact-range currents in effective field theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. 114(8), 082502 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.114.082502 arXiv: 1407.0437 [nucl-th]
- D.B. Kaplan, M.J. Savage, M.B. Wise, A New expansion for nucleon-nucleon interactions. Phys. Lett. B 424, 390–396 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(98)00210-X arXiv: nucl-th/9801034
- U. van Kolck, Effective field theory of short range forces. Nucl. Phys. A 645, 273–302 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0375-9474(98)00612-5 arXiv: nucl-th/9808007
- 160. M.C. Birse, J.A. McGovern, K.G. Richardson, A renormalization group treatment of two-body scattering. Phys. Lett. B 464, 169–176 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(99)00991-0 arXiv: hep-ph/9807302
- 161. S. Weinberg, Effective chiral Lagrangians for nucleon -pion interactions and nuclear forces. Nucl. Phys. B 363, 3–18 (1991). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(91)90231-L
- 162. C. Drischler, K. Hebeler, A. Schwenk, Chiral interactions up to next-to-next-to-next-to-leading order and nuclear saturation. Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**(4), 042501 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.042501 arXiv: 1710.08220 [nucl-th]
- J.L. Friar, Dimensional power counting in nuclei. Few Body Syst. 22, 161 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1007/s006010050059 arXiv: nucl-th/9607020
- 164. U. van Kolck, The problem of renormalization of chiral nuclear forces. Front. Phys. 8, 79 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphy.2020.00079 arXiv: 2003.06721 [nucl-th]
- 165. M. Lutz, Effective chiral theory of nucleon-nucleon scattering. Nucl. Phys. A 677, 241–312 (2000). https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0375-9474(00)00206-2 arXiv: nucl-th/9906028
- 166. S.R. Beane, P.F. Bedaque, M.J. Savage, U. van Kolck, Towards a perturbative theory of nuclear forces. Nucl. Phys. A 700, 377–402 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(01)01324-0 arXiv: nucl-th/0104030
- B. Long, C.J. Yang, Short-range nuclear forces in singlet channels. Phys. Rev. C 86, 024001 (2012). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.86.024001 arXiv: 1202.4053 [nucl-th]
- 168. M. Sánchez Sánchez, C.-J. Yang, B. Long, U. van Kolck, Two-nucleon ¹S₀ amplitude zero in chiral effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 97(2), 024001 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.024001 arXiv: 1704.08524 [nucl-th]

- 169. M. Sanchez Sanchez, N.A. Smirnova, A.M. Shirokov, P. Maris, J.P. Vary, Improved description of light nuclei through chiral effective field theory at leading order. Phys. Rev. C 102(2), 024324 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.102. 024324 arXiv: 2002.12258 [nucl-th]
- 170. C. Ordonez, L. Ray, U. van Kolck, The two nucleon potential from chiral Lagrangians. Phys. Rev. C 53, 2086–2105 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.53.2086 arXiv: hep-ph/9511380
- 171. N. Kaiser, S. Gerstendorfer, W. Weise, Peripheral NN scattering: role of delta excitation, correlated two pion and vector meson exchange. Nucl. Phys. A 637, 395-420 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(98)00234-6 arXiv: nucl-th/980207
- 172. M. Piarulli, L. Girlanda, R. Schiavilla, A. Kievsky, A. Lovato, L.E. Marcucci, S.C. Pieper, M. Viviani, R.B. Wiringa, Local chiral potentials with Δ -intermediate states and the structure of light nuclei. Phys. Rev. C 94(5), 054007 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.94.054007 arXiv: 1606.06335 [nucl-th]
- 173. W.G. Jiang, A. Ekström, C. Forssén, G. Hagen, G.R. Jansen, T. Papenbrock, Accurate bulk properties of nuclei from A = 2 to ∞ from potentials with Δ isobars. Phys. Rev. C 102(5), 054301 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.102.054301 arXiv: 2006.16774 [nucl-th]
- 174. I. Stetcu, B.R. Barrett, U. van Kolck, No-core shell model in an effective-field-theory frame-work. Phys. Lett. B 653, 358–362 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2007.07.065 arXiv: nucl-th/0609023
- 175. A. Bansal, S. Binder, A. Ekström, G. Hagen, G.R. Jansen, T. Papenbrock, Pion-less effective field theory for atomic nuclei and lattice nuclei. Phys. Rev. C 98(5), 054301 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.98.054301 arXiv: 1712.10246 [nucl-th]
- 176. W.G. Dawkins, J. Carlson, U. van Kolck, A. Gezerlis, Clustering of four-component unitary fermions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 124(14), 143402 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.143402 arXiv: 1908.04288 [cond-mat.quant-gas]
- 177. D.R. Phillips, T.D. Cohen, How short is too short? Constraining contact interactions in nucleon-nucleon scattering. Phys. Lett. B 390, 7-12 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(96)01411-6 arXiv: nucl-th/9607048
- 178. C.-J. Yang, A. Ekström, C. Forssén, G. Hagen, G. Rupak, U. van Kolck, The importance of few-nucleon forces in chiral effective field theory (2021). arXiv: 2109.13303 [nucl-th]
- 179. F. Sammarruca, L. E. Marcucci, L. Coraggio, J. W. Holt, N. Itaco, R. Machleidt, Nuclear and neutron matter equations of state from high-quality potentials up to fifth order of the chiral expansion (2018). arXiv: 1807.06640 [nucl-th]
- 180. R. Machleidt, P. Liu, D.R. Entem, E. Ruiz Arriola, Renormalization of the leading-order chiral nucleon-nucleon interaction and bulk properties of nuclear matter. Phys. Rev. C 81, 024001 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.81.024001 arXiv: 0910.3942 [nucl-th]
- 181. C. Drischler, J.A. Melendez, R.J. Furnstahl, D.R. Phillips, Quantifying uncertainties and correlations in the nuclear-matter equation of state. Phys. Rev. C 102(5), 054315 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.102.054315 arXiv: 2004.07805 [nucl-th]
- 182. A. Kievsky, M. Viviani, D. Logoteta, I. Bombaci, L. Girlanda, Correlations imposed by the unitary limit between few-nucleon systems, nuclear matter and neutron stars. Phys. Rev. Lett. 121(7), 072701 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 121.072701 arXiv: 1806.02636 [nucl-th]
- 183. E. Epelbaum, J. Gegelia, Weinberg's approach to nucleon-nucleon scattering revisited. Phys. Lett. B 716, 338-344 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2012.08.025 arXiv: 1207.2420 [nucl-th]
- 184. J. Behrendt, E. Epelbaum, J. Gegelia, U.-G. Meißner, A. Nogga, Two-nucleon scattering in a modified Weinberg approach with a symmetry-preserving regularization. Eur. Phys. J. A 52(9), 296 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2016-16296-5 arXiv: 1606.01489 [nucl-th]
- 185. X.-L. Ren, K.-W. Li, L.-S. Geng, B.-W. Long, P. Ring, J. Meng, Leading order relativistic chiral nucleon-nucleon interaction. Chin. Phys. C 42(1), 014103 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1674-1137/42/1/014103 arXiv: 1611.08475 [nucl-th]
- 186. K.-W. Li, X.-L. Ren, L.-S. Geng, B.-W. Long, Leading order relativistic hyperon-nucleon interactions in chiral effective field theory. Chin. Phys. C 42(1), 014105 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1674-1137/42/1/014105 arXiv: 1612.08482 [nucl-th]
- 187. V. Baru, E. Epelbaum, J. Gegelia, X.-L. Ren, Towards baryon-baryon scattering in manifestly Lorentz-invariant formulation of SU(3) baryon chiral perturbation theory. Phys. Lett. B 798, 134987 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2019. 134987 arXiv: 1905.02116 [nucl-th]
- 188. X.-L. Ren, E. Epelbaum, J. Gegelia. http://arxiv.org/abs/2202.04018 [nucl-th]
- 189. A. Taylor, E. Wood, L. Bird, Proton-proton scattering at 98 and 142 MeV. Nucl. Phys. 16(2), 320-330 (1960). https://doi. org/10.1016/S00295582(60)81041-3
- 190. K. Sekiguchi et al., Complete set of precise deuteron analyzing powers at intermediate energies: comparison with modern nuclear force predictions. Phys. Rev. C 65, 034003 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.65.034003
- 191. V.G.J. Stoks, R.A.M. Klomp, M.C.M. Rentmeester, J.J. de Swart, Partial wave analaysis of all nucleon-nucleon scattering data below 350-MeV. Phys. Rev. C 48, 792–815 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.48.792 192. S. Weinberg, Nuclear forces from chiral Lagrangians. Phys. Lett. B 251, 288–292 (1990). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-
- 2693(90)90938-3
- 193. C. Ordonez, L. Ray, U. van Kolck, Nucleon-nucleon potential from an effective chiral Lagrangian. Phys. Rev. Lett. 72, 1982-1985 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.72.1982
- 194. P. Reinert, H. Krebs, E. Epelbaum, Precision determination of pion-nucleon coupling constants using effective field theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. 126(9), 092501 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.092501 arXiv: 2006.15360 [nucl-th]
- 195. V. Bernard, E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, Subleading contributions to the chiral three-nucleon force. I. Long-range Terms Phys. Rev. C 77, 064004 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.77.064004 arXiv: 0712.1967 [nucl-th]
- 196. V. Bernard, E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, Subleading contributions to the chiral three-nucleon force II: short-range terms and relativistic corrections. Phys. Rev. C 84, 054001 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.84.054001 arXiv: 1108.3816 [nucl-th]
- 197. H. Krebs, A. Gasparyan, E. Epelbaum, Chiral three-nucleon force at N⁴LO I: longest-range contributions. Phys. Rev. C 85, 054006 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.85.054006 arXiv: 1203.0067 [nucl-th]

- 198. H. Krebs, A. Gasparyan, E. Epelbaum, Chiral three-nucleon force at N⁴LO II: intermediate-range contributions. Phys. Rev. C 87(5), 054007 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.87.054007 arXiv: 1302.2872 [nucl-th]
- 199. A.A. Slavnov, Invariant regularization of nonlinear chiral theories. Nucl. Phys. B 31, 301–315 (1971). https://doi.org/10. 1016/0550-3213(71)90234-3
- W. Gloeckle, H. Witala, D. Huber, H. Kamada, J. Golak, The Three nucleon continuum: achievements, challenges and applications. Phys. Rep. 274, 107–285 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-1573(95)00085-2
- N. Kalantar-Nayestanaki, E. Epelbaum, J.G. Messchendorp, A. Nogga, Signatures of three-nucleon interactions in fewnucleon systems. Rep. Prog. Phys. 75, 016301 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/75/1/016301 arXiv: 1108.1227 [nucl-th]
- 202. H. Krebs, Nuclear currents in chiral effective field theory. Eur. Phys. J. A 56(9), 234 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/ s10050-020-00230-9 arXiv: 2008.00974 [nucl-th]
- S. Kolling, E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, Two-pion exchange electromagnetic current in chiral effective field theory using the method of unitary transformation. Phys. Rev. C 80, 045502 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.80. 045502 arXiv: 0907.3437 [nucl-th]
- 204. S. Kolling, E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, Two-nucleon electromagnetic current in chiral effective field theory: one-pion exchange and short-range contributions. Phys. Rev. C 84, 054008 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.84. 054008 arXiv: 1107.0602 [nucl-th]
- H. Krebs, E. Epelbaum, U.-G. Meißner, Nuclear axial current operators to fourth order in chiral effective field theory. Ann. Phys. 378, 317–395 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aop.2017.01.021 arXiv: 1610.03569 [nucl-th]
- 206. H. Krebs, E. Epelbaum, U.-G. Meißner, Nuclear electromagnetic currents to fourth order in chiral effective field theory. Few Body Syst. **60**(2), 31 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00601019-1500-5 arXiv: 1902.06839 [nucl-th]
- 207. H. Krebs, E. Epelbaum, U.-G. Meißner, Subleading contributions to the nuclear scalar isoscalar current. Eur. Phys. J. A 56(9), 240 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/s10050-02000249-y arXiv: 2005.07433 [nucl-th]
- S. Pastore, R. Schiavilla, J.L. Goity, Electromagnetic two-body currents of one-and two-pion range. Phys. Rev. C 78, 064002 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.78.064002 arXiv: 0810.1941 [nucl-th]
- 209. S. Pastore, L. Girlanda, R. Schiavilla, M. Viviani, R.B. Wiringa, Electromagnetic currents and magnetic moments in (chi)EFT. Phys. Rev. C 80, 034004 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.80.034004 arXiv: 0906.1800 [nucl-th]
- S. Pastore, L. Girlanda, R. Schiavilla, M. Viviani, The two-nucleon electromagnetic charge operator in chiral effective field theory (χEFT) up to one loop. Phys. Rev. C 84, 024001 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.84.024001 arXiv: 1106.4539 [nucl-th]
- 211. A. Baroni, L. Girlanda, S. Pastore, R. Schiavilla, M. Viviani, Nuclear axial currents in chiral effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 93(1) (2016). [Erratum: Phys. Rev. C 93, 049902 (2016), Erratum: Phys. Rev. C 95, 059901 (2017)], p. 015501. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.93.049902. arXiv: 1509.07039 [nucl-th]
- 212. A. Baroni, L. Girlanda, A. Kievsky, L.E. Marcucci, R. Schiavilla, M. Viviani, Tritium β-decay in chiral effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 94(2) (2016). [Erratum: Phys. Rev. C 95, 059902 (2017)], p. 024003. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.94. 024003. arXiv: 1605.01620 [nucl-th]
- H. Krebs, E. Epelbaum, U.-G. Meißner, Box diagram contribution to the axial two-nucleon current. Phys. Rev. C 101(5), 055502 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.101.055502 arXiv: 2001.03904 [nucl-th]
- 214. A.A. Filin, V. Baru, E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, D. Möller, P. Reinert, Extraction of the neutron charge radius from a precision calculation of the deuteron structure radius. Phys. Rev. Lett. **124**(8), 082501 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 124.082501 arXiv: 1911.04877 [nucl-th]
- 215. A.A. Filin, D. Möller, V. Baru, E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, P. Reinert, High-accuracy calculation of the deuteron charge and quadrupole form factors in chiral effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 103(2), 024313 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.103.024313 arXiv: 2009.08911 [nucl-th]
- 216. D. Siemens, V. Bernard, E. Epelbaum, A. Gasparyan, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, Elastic pion-nucleon scattering in chiral perturbation theory: a fresh look. Phys. Rev. C 94(1), 014620 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.94.014620 arXiv: 1602.02640 [nucl-th]
- D.-L. Yao, D. Siemens, V. Bernard, E. Epelbaum, A.M. Gasparyan, J. Gegelia, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, Pion-nucleon scattering in covariant baryon chiral perturbation theory with explicit Delta resonances. JHEP 05, 038 (2016). https://doi. org/10.1007/JHEP05(2016)038 arXiv: 1603.03638 [hep-ph]
- D. Siemens, J. Ruiz de Elvira, E. Epelbaum, M. Hoferichter, H. Krebs, B. Kubis, U.-G. Meißner, Reconciling threshold and subthreshold expansions for pion-nucleon scattering. Phys. Lett. B 770, 27–34 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb. 2017.04.039 arXiv: 1610.08978 [nucl-th]
- E. Epelbaum, H. Krebs, U.-G. Meißner, Improved chiral nucleon–nucleon potential up to next-to-next-to-leading order. Eur. Phys. J. A 51(5), 53 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2015-15053-8 arXiv: 1412.0142 [nucl-th]
- R.J. Furnstahl, N. Klco, D.R. Phillips, S. Wesolowski, Quantifying truncation errors in effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 92(2), 024005 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.92.024005 arXiv: 1506.01343 [nucl-th]
- 221. E. Epelbaum, High-precision nuclear forces: where do we stand? PoS CD2018 (2019), p. 006. https://doi.org/10.22323/1. 317.0006
- 222. H. Krebs, E. Epelbaum, U.-G. Meißner, Nuclear forces with delta-excitations up to next-to-next-to-leading order. I. Peripheral nucleon–nucleon waves. Eur. Phys. J. A 32, 127–137 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2007-10372-y arXiv: nucl-th/0703087
- 223. A. Ekström, G. Hagen, T.D. Morris, T. Papenbrock, P.D. Schwartz, ∆ isobars and nuclear saturation. Phys. Rev. C 97(2), 024332 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.024332 arXiv: 1707.09028 [nucl-th]
- 224. M. Piarulli, L. Girlanda, R. Schiavilla, R. Navarro Pérez, J.E. Amaro, E. Ruiz Arriola, Minimally nonlocal nucleon–nucleon potentials with chiral two-pion exchange including Δ resonances. Phys. Rev. C 91(2), 024003 (2015). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.91.024003 arXiv: 1412.6446 [nucl-th]

- 225. H. Krebs, A.M. Gasparyan, E. Epelbaum, Three-nucleon force in chiral EFT with explicit Δ(1232) degrees of freedom: longest-range contributions at fourth order. Phys. Rev. C 98(1), 014003 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.98. 014003 arXiv: 1803.09613 [nucl-th]
- 226. T. Becher, H. Leutwyler, Baryon chiral perturbation theory in manifestly Lorentz invariant form. Eur. Phys. J. C 9, 643–671 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00021673 arXiv: hep-ph/9901384
- E. Epelbaum, J. Gegelia, H.P. Huesmann, U.-G. Meißner, X.-L. Ren, Effective field theory for shallow P-wave states. Few Body Syst. 62(3), 51 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00601-02101628-x arXiv: 2104.01823 [nucl-th]
- 228. M.J. Savage, Including pions. Caltech/INT Mini Workshop on Nuclear Physics with Effective Field Theories, pp. 247–267 (1998). arXiv: nucl-th/9804034
- 229. E. Epelbaum, A.M. Gasparyan, J. Gegelia, U.-G. Meißner, How (not) to renormalize integral equations with singular potentials in effective field theory. Eur. Phys. J. A 54(11), 186 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2018-12632-1 arXiv: 1810.02646 [nucl-th]
- G.P. Lepage, How to renormalize the Schrodinger equation, in 8th Jorge Andre Swieca Summer School on Nuclear Physics, pp. 135–180 (1997). arXiv: nucl-th/9706029
- J. Gegelia, About the equivalence of cutoff and conventionally renormalized effective field theories. J. Phys. G 25, 1681– 1693 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/25/8/310 arXiv: nucl-th/9805008
- 232. C.-J. Yang, Do we know how to count powers in pionless and pionful effective field theory? Eur. Phys. J. A 56(3), 96 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/s10050-020-00104-0 arXiv: 1905.12510 [nucl-th]
- 233. J. de Vries, A. Gnech, S. Shain, Renormalization of CP -violating nuclear forces. Phys. Rev. C 103(1), L012501 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.L012501 arXiv: 2007.04927 [hep-ph]
- 234. E. Epelbaum, J. Gegelia, Regularization, renormalization and "peratization" in effective field theory for two nucleons. Eur. Phys. J. A 41, 341–354 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i200910833-3 arXiv: 0906.3822 [nucl-th]
- J.A. Melendez, R.J. Furnstahl, D.R. Phillips, M.T. Pratola, S. Wesolowski, Quantifying correlated truncation errors in effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 100(4), 044001 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.100.044001 arXiv: 1904.10581 [nucl-th]
- 236. E. Epelbaum et al., Towards high-order calculations of three-nucleon scattering in chiral effective field theory. Eur. Phys. J. A 56(3), 92 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/s10050-020-00102-2 arXiv: 1907.03608 [nucl-th]
- 237. B. Acharya, A. Ekström, L. Platter, Effective-field-theory predictions of the muon-deuteron capture rate. Phys. Rev. C 98(6), 065506 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.98.065506 arXiv: 1806.09481 [nucl-th]
- A.M. Gasparyan, E. Epelbaum, Nucleon-nucleon interaction in chiral EFT with a finite cut-off: explicit perturbative renormalization at next-to-leading order (2021). Phys. Rev. C 105(2), 024001 (2022)
- 239. Y. Nosyk, D.R. Entem, R. Machleidt, Nucleon-nucleon potentials from Δ-full chiral effective-field-theory and implications. Phys. Rev. C **104**(5), 054001 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.054001 arXiv: 2107.06452 [nucl-th]
- M. Hoferichter, J. Ruiz de Elvira, B. Kubis, U.-G. Meißner, Matching pion-nucleon Roy–Steiner equations to chiral perturbation theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. 115(19), 192301 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.192301 arXiv: 1507.07552 [nucl-th]
- 241. M. Hoferichter, J. Ruiz de Elvira, B. Kubis, U.-G. Meißner, Roy-Steiner-equation analysis of pion-nucleon scattering. Phys. Rep. 625, 1-88 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep.2016.02.002 arXiv: 1510.06039 [hep-ph]
- 242. V. Baru, C. Hanhart, M. Hoferichter, B. Kubis, A. Nogga, D.R. Phillips, Precision calculation of the π⁻ deuteron scattering length and its impact on threshold π N scatterings. Phys. Lett. B 694, 473–477 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb. 2010.10.028 arXiv: 1003.4444 [nucl-th]
- 243. V. Baru, C. Hanhart, M. Hoferichter, B. Kubis, A. Nogga, D.R. Phillips, Precision calculation of threshold π^-d scattering, πN scattering lengths, and the GMO sum rule. Nucl. Phys. A **872**, 69–116 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa. 2011.09.015 arXiv: 1107.5509 [nucl-th]
- 244. T. Strauch et al., Pionic deuterium. Eur. Phys. J. A 47, 88 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2011-11088-1 arXiv: 1011.2415 [nucl-ex]
- 245. M. Hennebach et al. Hadronic shift in pionic hydrogen. Eur. Phys. J. A 50(12), (2014). [Erratum: Eur. Phys. J. A 55, 24 (2019)], p. 190. https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2014-14190-x. arXiv: 1406.6525 [nucl-ex]
- 246. A. Hirtl et al., Redetermination of the strong-interaction width in pionic hydrogen. Eur. Phys. J. A 57(2), 70 (2021). https:// doi.org/10.1140/epja/s10050-021-00387-x
- 247. W.N. Cottingham, The neutron proton mass difference and electron scattering experiments. Ann. Phys. 25, 424–432 (1963). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-4916(63)90023-X
- 248. J. Gasser, H. Leutwyler, Implications of scaling for the proton-neutron mass-difference. Nucl. Phys. B 94, 269–310 (1975). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(75)90493-9
- 249. J. Gasser, M. Hoferichter, H. Leutwyler, A. Rusetsky, Cottingham formula and nucleon polarisabilities. Eur. Phys. J. C 75.8 (2015). [Erratum: Eur. Phys. J. C 80, 353 (2020)], p. 375. https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-015-3580-9. arXiv: 1506.06747 [hep-ph]
- 250. J. Gasser, H. Leutwyler, A. Rusetsky, On the mass difference between proton and neutron. Phys. Lett. B **814**, 136087 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136087 arXiv: 2003.13612 [hep-ph]
- J. Gasser, H. Leutwyler, A. Rusetsky, Sum rule for the Compton amplitude and implications for the proton–neutron mass difference. Eur. Phys. J. C 80(12), 1121 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-020-08615-2 arXiv: 2008.05806 [hepph]
- 252. S. Borsanyi et al., Ab initio calculation of the neutron-proton mass difference. Science 347, 1452–1455 (2015). https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1257050 arXiv: 1406.4088 [hep-lat]
- D.A. Brantley, B. Joo, E.V. Mastropas, E. Mereghetti, H. Monge-Camacho, B.C. Tiburzi, A. Walker-Loud, Strong isospin violation and chiral logarithms in the baryon spectrum (2016). arXiv: 1612.07733 [hep-lat]
- 254. R. Horsley et al., Isospin splittings in the decuplet baryon spectrum from dynamical QCD+QED. J. Phys. G 46, 115004 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6471/ab32c1 arXiv: 1904.02304 [hep-lat]

- 255. V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. de Vries, M. Hoferichter, E. Mereghetti, Toward complete leading-order predictions for neutrinoless double β Decay. Phys. Rev. Lett. **126**(17), 172002 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.172002 arXiv: 2012.11602 [nucl-th]
- 256. V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. de Vries, M. Hoferichter, E. Mereghetti, Determining the leading-order contact term in neutrinoless double β decay. JHEP 05, 289 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP05(2021)289 arXiv: 2102.03371 [nucl-th]
- 257. V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. De Vries, M.L. Graesser, E. Mereghetti, S. Pastore, U. Van Kolck, New leading contribution to neutrinoless double-β Decay. Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(20), 202001 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.202001 arXiv: 1802.10097 [hep-ph]
- 258. V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. De Vries, M.L. Graesser, E. Mereghetti, S. Pastore, M. Piarulli, U. Van Kolck, R.B. Wiringa, Renormalized approach to neutrinoless double-β decay. Phys. Rev. C 100(5), 055504 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevC.100.055504 arXiv: 1907.11254 [nucl-th]
- 259. Z. Davoudi, S.V. Kadam, Path from lattice QCD to the short-distance contribution to 0νββ decay with a light Majorana Neutrino. Phys. Rev. Lett. **126**(15), 152003 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.152003 arXiv: 2012.02083 [hep-lat]
- 260. R. Wirth, J.M. Yao, H. Hergert, Ab initio calculation of the contact operator contribution in the standard mechanism for neutrinoless double beta decay. Phys. Rev. Lett. 127(24), 242502 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.127.242502 arXiv: 2105.05415 [nucl-th]
- L. Jokiniemi, P. Soriano, J. Menéndez, Impact of the leading-order short-range nuclear matrix element on the neutrinoless double-beta decay of medium-mass and heavy nuclei. Phys. Lett. B 823, 136720 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb. 2021.136720 arXiv: 2107.13354 [nucl-th]
- 262. C.C. Chang et al., A per-cent-level determination of the nucleon axial coupling from quantum chromodynamics. Nature 558(7708), 91–94 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0161-8 arXiv: 1805.12130 [hep-lat]
- 263. R. Gupta, Y.-C. Jang, B. Yoon, H.-W. Lin, V. Cirigliano, T. Bhattacharya, Isovector charges of the nucleon from 2 + 1 + 1-flavor lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 98, 034503 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98.034503 arXiv: 1806.09006 [hep-lat]
- 264. Y. Aoki et al., FLAG Review 2021 (2021). arXiv: 2111.09849 [hep-lat]
- 265. S. Dürr et al., Lattice computation of the nucleon scalar quark contents at the physical point. Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**(17), 172001 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.172001 arXiv: 1510.08013 [hep-lat]
- 266. Y.-B. Yang, A. Alexandru, T. Draper, J. Liang, K.-F. Liu, πN and strangeness sigma terms at the physical point with chiral fermions. Phys. Rev. D 94(5), 054503 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.054503 arXiv: 1511.09089 [hep-lat]
- 267. N. Yamanaka, S. Hashimoto, T. Kaneko, H. Ohki, Nucleon charges with dynamical overlap fermions. Phys. Rev. D 98(5), 054516 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98.054516 arXiv: 1805.10507 [hep-lat]
- 268. C. Alexandrou, S. Bacchio, M. Constantinou, J. Finkenrath, K. Hadjiyiannakou, K. Jansen, G. Koutsou, A. Vaquero Aviles-Casco, Nucleon axial, tensor, and scalar charges and σ-terms in lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 102(5), 054517 (2020). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.102.054517 arXiv: 1909.00485 [hep-lat]
- S. Borsanyi, Z. Fodor, C. Hoelbling, L. Lellouch, K. K. Szabo, C. Torrero, L. Varnhorst, Abinitio calculation of the proton and the neutron's scalar couplings for new physics searches (2020). arXiv: 2007.03319 [hep-lat]
- 270. M. Hoferichter, J. Ruiz de Elvira, B. Kubis, U.-G. Meißner, High-precision determination of the Pion–Nucleon σ term from Roy–Steiner equations. Phys. Rev. Lett. **115**, 092301 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.092301 arXiv: 1506.04142 [hep-ph]
- 271. M. Hoferichter, J. Ruiz de Elvira, B. Kubis, U.-G. Meißner, Remarks on the pion–nucleon σ -term. Phys. Lett. B **760**, 74–78 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2016.06.038 arXiv: 1602.07688 [hep-lat]
- 272. J. Ruiz de Elvira, M. Hoferichter, B. Kubis, U.-G. Meißner, Extracting the σ-term from low-energy pion–nucleon scattering. J. Phys. G 45(2), 024001 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6471/aa9422 arXiv: 1706.01465 [hep-ph]
- 273. R. Gupta, S. Park, M. Hoferichter, E. Mereghetti, B. Yoon, T. Bhattacharya, Pion–nucleon sigma term from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. 127(24), 242002 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.127.242002 arXiv: 2105.12095 [hep-lat]
- 274. T.P. Cheng, R.F. Dashen, Is SU(2) x SU(2) a better symmetry than SU(3)? Phys. Rev. Lett. 26, 594 (1971). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.26.594
- 275. V. Cirigliano, A. Crivellin, M. Hoferichter, No-go theorem for nonstandard explanations of the $\tau \rightarrow K_S \pi \nu_{\tau}$ CP asymmetry. Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(14), 141803 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.141803 arXiv: 1712.06595 [hep-ph]
- 276. L. Von Detten, F. Noël, C. Hanhart, M. Hoferichter, B. Kubis, On the scalar π K form factor beyond the elastic region. Eur. Phys. J. C 81(5), 420 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052021-09169-7 arXiv: 2103.01966 [hep-ph]
- 277. M. Hoferichter, B. Kubis, J. Ruiz de Elvira, H.-W. Hammer, U.-G. Meißner, On the ππ continuum in the nucleon form factors and the proton radius puzzle. Eur. Phys. J. A 52(11), 331 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2016-16331-7 arXiv: 1609.06722 [hep-ph]
- M. Hoferichter, B. Kubis, J. Ruiz de Elvira, P. Stoffer, Nucleon matrix elements of the antisymmetric quark tensor. Phys. Rev. Lett. 122(12) (2019). [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 199901 (2020)], p. 122001. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 122.122001
- 279. G. 't Hooft, A planar diagram theory for strong interactions. Nucl. Phys. B 72 (1974). Ed. by J. C. Taylor, p. 461. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(74)90154-0
- M.K. Banerjee, T.D. Cohen, B.A. Gelman, The nucleon-nucleon interaction and large N(c) QCD. Phys. Rev. C 65, 034011 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.65.034011 arXiv: hep-ph/0109274
- A.V. Belitsky, T.D. Cohen, The large N(c) nuclear potential puzzle. Phys. Rev. C 65, 064008 (2002). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.65.064008 arXiv: hep-ph/0202153
- 282. D.O. Riska, Dynamical interpretation of the nucleon-nucleon interaction and exchange currents in the large N(C) limit. Nucl. Phys. A 710, 55–82 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0375-9474(02)01091-6 arXiv: nucl-th/0204016
- D.R. Phillips, D. Samart, C. Schat, Parity-violating nucleon–nucleon force in the 1/N_c expansion. Phys. Rev. Lett. 114(6), 062301 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.114.062301 arXiv: 1410.1157 [nucl-th]

- 284. E. Epelbaum, A.M. Gasparyan, H. Krebs, C. Schat, Three-nucleon force at large distances: insights from chiral effective field theory and the large-Nc expansion. Eur. Phys. J. A 51(3), 26 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/i2015-15026-y arXiv: 1411.3612 [nucl-th]
- 285. D. Samart, C. Schat, M.R. Schindler, D.R. Phillips, Time-reversal-invariance-violating nucleon–nucleon potential in the 1/N_c expansion. Phys. Rev. C 94(2), 024001 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.94.024001 arXiv: 1604.01437 [nucl-th]
- 286. J. Vanasse, A. David, Time-reversal-invariance violation in the Nd system and large-N_C (2019). arXiv: 1910.03133 [nucl-th]
- T.R. Richardson, M.R. Schindler, Large-Nc analysis of magnetic and axial two-nucleon currents in pionless effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 101(5), 055505 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.101.055505 arXiv: 2002.00986 [nucl-th]
- 288. T.R. Richardson, M.R. Schindler, S. Pastore, R.P. Springer, Large-N_c analysis of magnetic and axial two-nucleon currents in pionless effective field theory. Phys. Rev. C 103(5), 055501 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.055501 arXiv: 2102.02184 [nucl-th]
- M.L. Wagman, F. Winter, E. Chang, Z. Davoudi, W. Detmold, K. Orginos, M.J. Savage, P.E. Shanahan, Baryon–baryon interactions and spin-flavor symmetry from lattice quantum chromodynamics. Phys. Rev. D 96(11), 114510 (2017). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.114510 arXiv: 1706.06550 [hep-lat]
- 290. M. Illa et al., Low-energy scattering and effective interactions of two baryons at $m_{\pi} \sim 450$ MeV from lattice quantum chromodynamics. Phys. Rev. D **103**(5), 054508 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103.054508 arXiv: 2009.12357 [hep-lat]
- 291. G. Parisi, The strategy for computing the hadronic mass spectrum. Phys. Rep. 103 (1984). Ed. by C. Itzykson, Y. Pomeau, and N. Sourlas, pp. 203–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-1573(84)90081-4
- 292. G. P. Lepage, The Analysis of Algorithms for Lattice Field Theory. Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics (1989)
- M.L. Wagman, M.J. Savage, Statistics of baryon correlation functions in lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 96(11), 114508 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.114508 arXiv: 1611.07643 [hep-lat]
- 294. W. Detmold, K. Orginos, Nuclear correlation functions in lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 87(11), 114512 (2013). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.87.114512 arXiv: 1207.1452 [hep-lat]
- S.R. Beane, P.F. Bedaque, K. Orginos, M.J. Savage, Nucleon–nucleon scattering from fully-dynamical lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 012001 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.97.012001 arXiv: hep-lat/0602010
- S.R. Beane, E. Chang, S.D. Cohen, W. Detmold, H.-W. Lin, T.C. Luu, K. Orginos, A. Parreno, M.J. Savage, A. Walker-Loud, Hyperon–nucleon interactions and the composition of dense nuclear matter from quantum chromodynamics. Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 172001 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.109.172001 arXiv: 1204.3606 [hep-lat]
- M. Luscher, Volume dependence of the energy spectrum in massive quantum field theories. 2. Scattering states. Commun. Math. Phys. 105, 153–188 (1986). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01211097
- 298. R.A. Briceño, J.J. Dudek, R.D. Young, Scattering processes and resonances from lattice QCD. Rev. Mod. Phys. 90(2), 025001 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.90.025001 arXiv: 1706.06223 [hep-lat]
- M.T. Hansen, S.R. Sharpe, Lattice QCD and three-particle decays of resonances. Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 69, 65–107 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nucl-101918-023723 arXiv: 1901.00483 [hep-lat]
- S.R. Beane et al., Nucleon–nucleon scattering parameters in the limit of SU(3) flavor symmetry. Phys. Rev. C 88(2), 024003 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.88.024003 arXiv: 1301.5790 [hep-lat]
 E. Berkowitz, T. Kurth, A. Nicholson, B. Joo, E. Rinaldi, M. Strother, P.M. Vranas, A. Walker-Loud, Two-nucleon higher
- E. Berkowitz, T. Kurth, A. Nicholson, B. Joo, E. Rinaldi, M. Strother, P.M. Vranas, A. Walker-Loud, Two-nucleon higher partial-wave scattering from lattice QCD. Phys. Lett. B 765, 285–292 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2016.12. 024 arXiv: 1508.00886 [hep-lat]
- 302. S.R. Beane, E. Chang, S.D. Cohen, W. Detmold, H.W. Lin, T.C. Luu, K. Orginos, A. Parreno, M.J. Savage, A. Walker-Loud, Light nuclei and hypernuclei from quantum chromodynamics in the limit of SU(3) flavor symmetry. Phys. Rev. D 87(3), 034506 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.87.034506 arXiv: 1206.5219 [hep-lat]
- N. Barnea, L. Contessi, D. Gazit, F. Pederiva, U. van Kolck, Effective field theory for lattice nuclei. Phys. Rev. Lett. 114(5), 052501 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.114.052501 arXiv: 1311.4966 [nucl-th]
- S.R. Beane, S.D. Cohen, W. Detmold, H.-W. Lin, M.J. Savage, Nuclear σ terms and scalar-isoscalar WIMP-nucleus interactions from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 89, 074505 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.074505 arXiv: 1306.6939 [hep-ph]
- 305. S.R. Beane, E. Chang, S. Cohen, W. Detmold, H.W. Lin, K. Orginos, A. Parreno, M.J. Savage, B.C. Tiburzi, Magnetic moments of light nuclei from lattice quantum chromodynamics. Phys. Rev. Lett. 113(25), 252001 (2014). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.252001 arXiv: 1409.3556 [hep-lat]
- 306. S.R. Beane, E. Chang, W. Detmold, K. Orginos, A. Parreño, M.J. Savage, B.C. Tiburzi, Ab initio calculation of the $np \rightarrow d\gamma$ radiative capture process. Phys. Rev. Lett. **115**(13), 132001 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.132001 arXiv: 1505.02422 [hep-lat]
- 307. E. Chang, W. Detmold, K. Orginos, A. Parreno, M.J. Savage, B.C. Tiburzi, S.R. Beane, Magnetic structure of light nuclei from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 92(11), 114502 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.92.114502 arXiv: 1506.05518 [hep-lat]
- W. Detmold, K. Orginos, A. Parreno, M.J. Savage, B.C. Tiburzi, S.R. Beane, E. Chang, Unitary limit of two-nucleon interactions in strong magnetic fields. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116(11), 112301 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116. 112301 arXiv: 1508.05884 [hep-lat]
- 309. M.J. Savage, P.E. Shanahan, B.C. Tiburzi, M.L. Wagman, F. Winter, S.R. Beane, E. Chang, Z. Davoudi, W. Detmold, K. Orginos, Proton–proton fusion and tritium β decay from lattice quantum chromodynamics. Phys. Rev. Lett. 119(6), 062002 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.062002 arXiv: 1610.04545 [hep-lat]
- 310. P.E. Shanahan, B.C. Tiburzi, M.L. Wagman, F. Winter, E. Chang, Z. Davoudi, W. Detmold, K. Orginos, M.J. Savage, Isotensor axial polarizability and lattice QCD input for nuclear double-β decay phenomenology. Phys. Rev. Lett. 119(6), 062003062003 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.062003 arXiv: 1701.03456 [hep-lat]

- 311. E. Chang, Z. Davoudi, W. Detmold, A.S. Gambhir, K. Orginos, M.J. Savage, P.E. Shanahan, M.L. Wagman, F. Winter, Scalar, axial, and tensor interactions of light nuclei from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(15), 152002 (2018). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.152002 arXiv: 1712.03221 [hep-lat]
- 312. B.C. Tiburzi, M.L. Wagman, F. Winter, E. Chang, Z. Davoudi, W. Detmold, K. Orginos, M.J. Savage, P.E. Shanahan, Double-β decay matrix elements from lattice quantum chromodynamics. Phys. Rev. D 96(5), 054505 (2017). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.054505 arXiv: 1702.02929 [hep-lat]
- Z. Davoudi, W. Detmold, K. Orginos, A. Parreño, M.J. Savage, P. Shanahan, M.L. Wagman, Nuclear matrix elements from lattice QCD for electroweak and beyond-Standard-Model processes. Phys. Rep. 900, 1–74 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.physrep.2020.10.004 arXiv: 2008.11160 [hep-lat]
- 314. W. Detmold, P.E. Shanahan, Few-nucleon matrix elements in pionless effective field theory in a finite volume. Phys. Rev. D 103(7), 074503 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103.074503 arXiv: 2102.04329 [nucl-th]
- A. Parreño, P.E. Shanahan, M.L. Wagman, F. Winter, E. Chang, W. Detmold, M. Illa, Axial charge of the triton from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 103(7), 074511 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103.074511 arXiv: 2102.03805 [hep-lat]
- 316. W. Detmold, M. Illa, D.J. Murphy, P. Oare, K. Orginos, P.E. Shanahan, M.L. Wagman, F. Winter, Lattice QCD constraints on the Parton distribution functions of ³He. Phys. Rev. Lett. **126**(20), 202001 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 126.202001 arXiv: 2009.05522 [hep-lat]
- T. Doi, M.G. Endres, Unified contraction algorithm for multi-baryon correlators on the lattice. Comput. Phys. Commun. 184, 117 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpc.2012.09.004 arXiv: 1205.0585 [hep-lat]
- N. Ishii, S. Aoki, T. Hatsuda, The nuclear force from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. 99, 022001 (2007). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.99.022001 arXiv: nucl-th/0611096
- T. Inoue, N. Ishii, S. Aoki, T. Doi, T. Hatsuda, Y. Ikeda, K. Murano, H. Nemura, K. Sasaki, Bound H-dibaryon in flavor SU(3) limit of lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 162002 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.162002 arXiv: 1012.5928 [hep-lat]
- 320. S. Aoki, T. Doi, Lattice QCD and baryon–baryon interactions: HAL QCD method. Front. Phys. 8, 307 (2020). https://doi. org/10.3389/fphy.2020.00307 arXiv: 2003.10730 [hep-lat]
- S.R. Beane, W. Detmold, K. Orginos, M.J. Savage, Nuclear physics from lattice QCD. Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 66, 1–40 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2010.08.002 arXiv: 1004.2935 [hep-lat]
- 322. M.C. Birse, Potential problems with interpolating fields. Eur. Phys. J. A **53**(11), 223 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1140/epja/ i2017-12425-0 arXiv: 1208.4807 [nucl-th]
- 323. T. Yamazaki, Y. Kuramashi, Relation between scattering amplitude and Bethe–Salpeter wave function in quantum field theory. Phys. Rev. D 96(11), 114511 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.114511 arXiv: 1709.09779 [hep-lat]
- 324. T. Iritani, S. Aoki, T. Doi, S. Gongyo, T. Hatsuda, Y. Ikeda, T. Inoue, N. Ishii, H. Nemura, K. Sasaki, Systematics of the HAL QCD potential at low energies in lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 99(1), 014514 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 99.014514 arXiv: 1805.02365 [hep-lat]
- 325. C. Drischler, W. Haxton, K. McElvain, E. Mereghetti, A. Nicholson, P. Vranas, A. Walker-Loud, Towards grounding nuclear physics in QCD. Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. **121**, 103888 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppnp.2021.103888 arXiv: 1910.07961 [nucl-th]
- 326. A. Francis, J.R. Green, P.M. Junnarkar, C. Miao, T.D. Rae, H. Wittig, Lattice QCD study of the H dibaryon using hexaquark and two-baryon interpolators. Phys. Rev. D **99**(7), 074505 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99.074505 arXiv: 1805.03966 [hep-lat]
- 327. M. Peardon, J. Bulava, J. Foley, C. Morningstar, J. Dudek, R.G. Edwards, B. Joo, H.-W. Lin, D.G. Richards, K.J. Juge, A Novel quark-field creation operator construction for hadronic physics in lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 80, 054506 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.80.054506 arXiv: 0905.2160 [hep-lat]
- 328. J.R. Green, A.D. Hanlon, P.M. Junnarkar, H. Wittig, Weakly bound H dibaryon from SU(3)-flavor-symmetric QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. **127**(24), 242003 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.127.242003 arXiv: 2103.01054 [hep-lat]
- 329. B. Hörz et al., Two-nucleon S-wave interactions at the SU(3) flavor-symmetric point with $m_{ud} \simeq m_s^{\text{phys}}$: A first lattice QCD calculation with the stochastic Laplacian Heaviside method. Phys. Rev. C **103**(1), 014003 (2021). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.103.014003 arXiv: 2009.11825 [hep-lat]
- C. Morningstar, J. Bulava, J. Foley, K.J. Juge, D. Lenkner, M. Peardon, C.H. Wong, Improved stochastic estimation of quark propagation with Laplacian Heaviside smearing in lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 83, 114505114505 (2011). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.83.114505 arXiv: 1104.3870 [hep-lat]
- 331. S. Amarasinghe, R. Baghdadi, Z. Davoudi, W. Detmold, M. Illa, A. Parreno, A.V. Pochinsky, P.E. Shanahan, M.L. Wagman, A variational study of two-nucleon systems with lattice QCD (2021). arXiv: 2108.10835 [hep-lat]
- 332. W. Detmold, D.J. Murphy, A.V. Pochinsky, M.J. Savage, P.E. Shanahan, M.L. Wagman, Sparsening algorithm for multihadron lattice QCD correlation functions. Phys. Rev. D 104(3), 034502 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.104. 034502 arXiv: 1908.07050 [hep-lat]
- 333. T. Yamazaki, K.-I. Ishikawa, Y. Kuramashi, A. Ukawa, Helium nuclei, deuteron and dineutron in 2+1 flavor lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 86, 074514 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.86.074514 arXiv: 1207.4277 [hep-lat]
- 334. K. Orginos, A. Parreno, M.J. Savage, S.R. Beane, E. Chang, W. Detmold, Two nucleon systems at $m_{\pi} \sim 450$ MeV from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D **92**(11) (2015). [Erratum: Phys. Rev. D **102**, 039903 (2020)], p. 114512. https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.92.114512. arXiv: 1508.07583 [hep-lat]
- 335. S. Aoki, T. Doi, T. Hatsuda, Y. Ikeda, T. Inoue, N. Ishii, K. Murano, H. Nemura, K. Sasaki, Lattice QCD approach to nuclear physics. PTEP 2012, 01A105 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1093/ptep/pts010 arXiv: 1206.5088 [hep-lat]
- 336. T. Inoue, S. Aoki, T. Doi, T. Hatsuda, Y. Ikeda, N. Ishii, K. Murano, H. Nemura, K. Sasaki, Two-baryon potentials and Hdibaryon from 3-flavor lattice QCD simulations. Nucl. Phys. A 881 (2012). Ed. by A. Gal, O. Hashimoto, and J. Pochodzalla, pp. 28–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2012.02.008. arXiv: 1112.5926 [hep-lat]
- 337. N. Ishii, S. Aoki, T. Doi, T. Hatsuda, Y. Ikeda, T. Inoue, K. Murano, H. Nemura, K. Sasaki, Hadron-hadron interactions from imaginary-time Nambu-Bethe-Salpeter wave function on the lattice. Phys. Lett. B 712, 437–441 (2012). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.physletb.2012.04.076 arXiv: 1203.3642 [hep-lat]

- K. Rummukainen, S.A. Gottlieb, Resonance scattering phase shifts on a non-rest-frame lattice. Nucl. Phys. B 450, 397–436 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(95)00313-H arXiv: hep-lat/9503028
- R.A. Briceño, Z. Davoudi, T.C. Luu, Two-nucleon systems in a finite volume: (I) quantization conditions. Phys. Rev. D 88(3), 034502 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.88.034502 arXiv: 1305.4903 [hep-lat]
- 340. R.A. Briceño, Two-particle multichannel systems in a finite volume with arbitrary spin. Phys. Rev. D 89(7), 074507 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.074507 arXiv: 1401.3312 [hep-lat]
- T. Iritani et al., Mirage in temporal correlation functions for baryon-baryon interactions in lattice QCD. JHEP 10, 101 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP10(2016)101 arXiv: 1607.06371 [hep-lat]
- M. Luscher, U. Wolf, How to calculate the elastic scattering matrix in two-dimensional quantum field theories by numerical simulation. Nucl. Phys. B 339, 222–252 (1990). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(90)90540-T
- 343. B. Blossier, M. Della Morte, G. von Hippel, T. Mendes, R. Sommer, On the generalized eigenvalue method for energies and matrix elements in lattice field theory. JHEP 04, 094 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2009/04/094 arXiv: 0902.1265 [hep-lat]
- 344. T. Iritani, S. Aoki, T. Doi, T. Hatsuda, Y. Ikeda, T. Inoue, N. Ishii, H. Nemura, K. Sasaki, Consistency between Lüscher's finite volume method and HAL QCD method for two-baryon systems in lattice QCD. JHEP 03, 007 (2019). https://doi. org/10.1007/JHEP03(2019)007 arXiv: 1812.08539 [hep-lat]
- 345. D.J. Wilson, R.A. Briceño, J.J. Dudek, R.G. Edwards, C.E. Thomas, Coupled $\pi\pi$, $K\bar{K}$ scattering in *P*-wave and the ρ resonance from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D **92**(9), 094502 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.92.094502 arXiv: 1507.02599 [hep-ph]
- 346. T. Iritani, S. Aoki, T. Doi, T. Hatsuda, Y. Ikeda, T. Inoue, N. Ishii, H. Nemura, K. Sasaki, Are two nucleons bound in lattice QCD for heavy quark masses? Consistency check with Lüscher's finite volume formula. Phys. Rev. D 96(3), 034521 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.034521 arXiv: 1703.07210 [hep-lat]
- 347. A. Nicholson et al., Toward a resolution of the NN controversy. PoS LATTICE2021 (2021), p. 098. https://doi.org/10. 22323/1.396.0098. arXiv: 2112.04569 [hep-lat]
- 348. S.R. Beane et al., Evidence for a bound H-dibaryon from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 162001 (2011). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.162001 arXiv: 1012.3812 [hep-lat]
- J.R. Green, A.D. Hanlon, P.M. Junnarkar, H. Wittig, Continuum limit of baryon–baryon scattering with SU(3) flavor symmetry. PoS LATTICE2021, p. 294 (2021). https://doi.org/10.22323/1.396.0294. arXiv: 2111.09675 [hep-lat]
- 350. C.Körber, E. Berkowitz, T. Luu, Renormalization of a contact interaction on a lattice (2019). arXiv: 1912.04425 [hep-lat]
- 351. R.A. Briceño, Z. Davoudi, T. Luu, M.J. Savage, Two-nucleon systems in a finite volume. II. ³S₁ ³D₁ coupled channels and the deuteron. Phys. Rev. D 88(11), 114507 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.88.114507 arXiv: 1309.3556 [hep-lat]
- 352. R.A. Briceño, M.T. Hansen, A.W. Jackura, Consistency checks for two-body finite-volume matrix elements: I. Conserved currents and bound states. Phys. Rev. D **100**(11), 114505 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.100.114505 arXiv: 1909.10357 [hep-lat]
- 353. L. Meng, E. Epelbaum, Two-particle scattering from finite-volume quantization conditions using the plane wave basis. JHEP 10, 051 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP10(2021)051 arXiv: 2108.02709 [hep-lat]
- 354. R.A. Briceño, M.T. Hansen, Relativistic, model-independent, multichannel 2 → 2 transition amplitudes in a finite volume. Phys. Rev. D **94**(1), 013008 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.013008 arXiv: 1509.08507 [hep-lat]
- 355. A. Baroni, R.A. Briceño, M.T. Hansen, F.G. Ortega-Gama, Form factors of two-hadron states from a covariant finite-volume formalism. Phys. Rev. D 100(3), 034511 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.100.034511 arXiv: 1812.10504 [hep-lat]
- 356. L. Lellouch, M. Luscher, Weak transition matrix elements from finite volume correlation functions. Commun. Math. Phys. **219**, 31–44 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002200100410 arXiv: hep-lat/0003023
- 357. R.A. Briceño, M.T. Hansen, A. Walker-Loud, Multichannel 1 → 2 transition amplitudes in a finite volume. Phys. Rev. D 91(3), 034501 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.91.034501 arXiv: 1406.5965 [hep-lat]
- R.A. Briceño, M.T. Hansen, A.W. Jackura, Consistency checks for two-body finite-volume matrix elements: II. Perturbative Systems. Phys. Rev. D 101(9), 114505 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.101.094508 arXiv: 2002.00023 [hep-lat]
- C.J. Shultz, J.J. Dudek, R.G. Edwards, Excited meson radiative transitions from lattice QCD using variationally optimized operators. Phys. Rev. D 91(11), 114501 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.91.114501 arXiv: 1501.07457 [hep-lat]
- R.A. Briceño, A.W. Jackura, F.G. Ortega-Gama, K.H. Sherman, On-shell representations of two-body transition amplitudes: single external current. Phys. Rev. D 103(11), 114512 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103.114512 arXiv: 2012.13338 [hep-lat]
- 361. X. Feng, L.-C. Jin, Z.-Y. Wang, Z. Zhang, Finite-volume formalism in the $2 \xrightarrow{H_I + H_I} 2$ transition: an application to the lattice QCD calculation of double beta decays. Phys. Rev. D **103**(3), 034508 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 103.034508 arXiv: 2005.01956 [hep-lat]
- 362. R.A. Briceño, Z. Davoudi, M.T. Hansen, M.R. Schindler, A. Baroni, Long-range electroweak amplitudes of single hadrons from Euclidean finite-volume correlation functions. Phys. Rev. D 101(1), 014509 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.101.014509 arXiv: 1911.04036 [hep-lat]
- 363. Z. Davoudi, S.V. Kadam, Two-neutrino double-β decay in pionless effective field theory from a Euclidean finite-volume correlation function. Phys. Rev. D 102(11), 114521 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.102.114521 arXiv: 2007.15542 [hep-lat]
- 364. Z. Davoudi, S.V. Kadam, On the extraction of low-energy constants of single- and double- β decays from lattice QCD: a sensitivity analysis (2021). arXiv: 2111.11599 [hep-lat]
- M.T. Hansen, S.R. Sharpe, Expressing the three-particle finite-volume spectrum in terms of the three-to-three scattering amplitude. Phys. Rev. D 92(11), 114509 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.92.114509 arXiv: 1504.04248 [hep-lat]
- 366. M. Mai, M. Döring, Three-body unitarity in the finite volume. Eur. Phys. J. A 53(12), 240 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1140/ epja/i2017-12440-1 arXiv: 1709.08222 [hep-lat]

- 367. R.A. Briceño, Z. Davoudi, Three-particle scattering amplitudes from a finite volume formalism. Phys. Rev. D 87(9), 094507 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.87.094507 arXiv: 1212.3398 [hep-lat]
- 368. H.-W. Hammer, J.-Y. Pang, A. Rusetsky, Three particle quantization condition in a finite volume: 2. General formalism and the analysis of data. JHEP 10, 115 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP10(2017)115 arXiv: 1707.02176 [hep-lat]
- 369. B. Hörz, A. Hanlon, Two-and three-pion finite-volume spectra at maximal isospin from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. 123(14), 142002 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.142002 arXiv: 1905.04277 [hep-lat]
- 370. T.D. Blanton, A.D. Hanlon, B. Hörz, C. Morningstar, F. Romero-López, S.R. Sharpe, Interactions of two and three mesons
- including higher partial waves from lattice QCD. JHEP 10, 023 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP10(2021)023 371. M. Mai, M. Doring, Finite-volume spectrum of $\pi^+\pi^+$ and $\pi^+\pi^+\pi^+$ systems. Phys. Rev. Lett. 122(6), 062503 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.062503 arXiv: 1807.04746 [hep-lat]
- 372. T.D. Blanton, F. Romero-López, S.R. Sharpe, I =3 Three-pion scattering amplitude from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. 124(3), 032001 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.032001 arXiv: 1909.02973 [hep-lat]
- 373. C. Culver, M. Mai, R. Brett, A. Alexandru, M. Döring, Three pion spectrum in the I =3 channel from lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D 101(11), 114507 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.101.114507 arXiv: 1911.09047 [hep-lat]
- 374. M.T. Hansen, R.A. Briceño, R.G. Edwards, C.E. Thomas, D.J. Wilson, Energy-dependent $\pi^+\pi^+\pi^+$ scattering amplitude from OCD. Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 012001 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.012001 arXiv: 2009.04931 [hep-lat]
- 375. T.D. Blanton, S.R. Sharpe, Three-particle finite-volume formalism for $\pi^+\pi^+K^+$ and related systems. Phys. Rev. D 104(3), 034509 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.104.034509 arXiv: 2105.12094 [hep-lat]
- 376. T.D. Blanton, S.R. Sharpe, Alternative derivation of the relativistic three-particle quantization condition. Phys. Rev. D 102(5), 054520 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.102.054520 arXiv: 2007.16188 [hep-lat]
- 377. M.T. Hansen, F. Romero-López, and S.R. Sharpe. Generalizing the relativistic quantization condition to include all threepion isospin channels. JHEP 07 (2020). [Erratum: JHEP 02, 014 (2021)], p. 047. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP07(2020)047. arXiv: 2003.10974 [hep-lat]
- 378. R.A. Briceño, M.T. Hansen, S.R. Sharpe, Relating the finite-volume spectrum and the two-and-three-particle S matrix for relativistic systems of identical scalar particles. Phys. Rev. D 95(7), 074510 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.95. 074510 arXiv: 1701.07465 [hep-lat]
- 379. F. Romero-López, S.R. Sharpe, T.D. Blanton, R.A. Briceño, M.T. Hansen, Numerical exploration of three relativistic particles in a finite volume including two-particle resonances and bound states. JHEP 10, 007 (2019). https://doi.org/10. 1007/JHEP10(2019)007 arXiv: 1908.02411 [hep-lat]
- 380. A.W. Jackura, R.A. Briceño, S.M. Dawid, M.H.E. Islam, C. McCarty, Solving relativistic three-body integral equations in the presence of bound states. Phys. Rev. D 104(1), 014507 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.104.014507 arXiv: 2010.09820 [hep-lat]
- 381. L. Amico, R. Fazio, A. Osterloh, V. Vedral, Entanglement in many-body systems. Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, 517–576 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.80.517 arXiv: quant-ph/0703044
- 382. K. Eckert, J. Schliemann, D. Bruß, M. Lewenstein, Quantum correlations in systems of indistinguishable particles. Ann. Phys. 299(1), 88-127 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1006/aphy.2002.6268
- 383. F. Benatti, R. Floreanini, F. Franchini, U. Marzolino, Entanglement in indistinguishable particle systems. Phys. Rep. 878 (2020). Entanglement in indistinguishable particle systems, pp. 1–27. ISSN: 0370-1573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep. 2020.07.003. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370157320302520
- 384. T. Papenbrock, D.J. Dean, Factorization of shell model ground states. Phys. Rev. C 67, 051303 (2003). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevC.67.051303 arXiv: nucl-th/0301006
- 385. T. Papenbrock, A. Juodagalvis, D.J. Dean, Solution of large scale nuclear structure problems by wave function factorization. Phys. Rev. C 69(2004). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.69.024312 arXiv: nucl-th/030802
- 386. S.R. White, Density matrix formulation for quantum renormalization groups. Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 2863–2866 (1992). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.69.2863
- 387. J. Dukelsky, S. Pittel, S.S. Dimitrova, M.V. Stoitsov, The density matrix renormalization group method and large scale nuclear shell model calculations. Phys. Rev. C 65, 054319 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.65.054319 arXiv: nucl-th/0202048
- 388. J. Dukelsky, S. Pittel, The density matrix renormalization group for finite Fermi systems. Rep. Prog. Phys. 67, 513–552 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/67/4/R02 arXiv: cond-mat/0404212
- 389. B. Thakur, S. Pittel, N. Sandulescu, Density matrix renormalization group study of Cr-48 and Ni-56. Phys. Rev. C 78(2008). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.78.041303 arXiv: 0808.1277 [nucl-th]
- 390. J. Rotureau, N. Michel, W. Nazarewicz, M. Ploszajczak, J. Dukelsky, Density matrix renormalization group approach for many-body open quantum systems. Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 110603 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.97.110603 arXiv: nucl-th/0603021
- 391. J. Rotureau, N. Michel, W. Nazarewicz, M. Ploszajczak, J. Dukelsky, Density matrix renormalization group approach to two-fluid open many-fermion systems. Phys. Rev. C 79, 014304 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.79.014304 arXiv: 0810.0784 [nucl-th]
- 392. K. Fossez and J. Rotureau. Density matrix renormalization group description of the island of inversion isotopes 28-33F (2021). arXiv: 2105.05287 [nucl-th]
- 393. B. Zhu, R. Wirth, H. Hergert, Singular value decomposition and similarity renormalization group evolution of nuclear interactions. Phys. Rev. C 104(4), 044002 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.044002 arXiv: 2106.01302 [nuclth1
- 394. A. Tichai, P. Arthuis, K. Hebeler, M. Heinz, J. Hoppe, A. Schwenk, Low-rank matrix de-compositions for ab initio nuclear structure. Phys. Lett. B 821, 136623. (2021) ISSN: 0370-2693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136623. https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370269321005633
- 395. T. Papenbrock, D.J. Dean, Density matrix renormalization group and wavefunction factorization for nuclei. J. Phys. G Nucl. Part. Phys. 31(8), S1377-S1383 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/31/8/016

- 396. O. C. Gorton, Effcient modeling of nuclei through coupling of proton and neutron wavefunctions (2018)
- 397. J. Faba, V. Martin, L. Robledo, Correlation energy and quantum correlations in a solvable model. Phys. Rev. A **104**(3), 032428 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.104.032428 arXiv: 2106.15993 [quant-ph]
- 398. A.T. Kruppa, J. Kovács, P. Salamon, Ö. Legeza, Entanglement and correlation in two-nucleon systems. J. Phys. G 48(2), 025107 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6471/abc2dd arXiv: 2006.07448 [nucl-th]
- Ö. Legeza, L. Veis, A. Poves, J. Dukelsky, Advanced density matrix renormalization group method for nuclear structure calculations. Phys. Rev. C 92(5), 051303 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.92.051303 arXiv: 1507.00161 [nucl-th]
- 400. C. Robin, M.J. Savage, N. Pillet, Entanglement rearrangement in self-consistent nuclear structure calculations, in *Phys. Rev. C.* (2021), p. 034325. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.034325 arXiv: 2007.09157 [nucl-th]
- 401. D. Zgid, M. Nooijen, Obtaining the two-body density matrix in the density matrix renormalization group method. J. Chem. Phys. 128(14), 144115 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2883980
- 402. Y. Ma, S. Knecht, S. Keller, M. Reiher, Second-order self-consistent-field density-matrix renormalization group. J. Chem. Theory Comput. 13(6), 2533 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jctc.6b01118
- 403. R. P. Feynman, Simulating physics with computers. Int. J. Theor. Phys. 21 (1982). Ed. by L. M. Brown, pp. 467–488. 10.1007/BF02650179
- 404. E.F. Dumitrescu, A.J. McCaskey, G. Hagen, G.R. Jansen, T.D. Morris, T. Papenbrock, R.C. Pooser, D.J. Dean, P. Lougovski, Cloud quantum computing of an atomic nucleus. Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(21), 210501 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.120.210501 arXiv: 1801.03897 [quant-ph]
- 405. E.T. Holland, K.A. Wendt, K. Kravvaris, X. Wu, W. Erich Ormand, J.L. DuBois, S. Quaglioni, F. Pederiva, Optimal control for the quantum simulation of nuclear dynamics. Phys. Rev. A 101(6), 062307 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA. 101.062307 arXiv: 1908.08222 [quant-ph]
- 406. H.-H. Lu et al., Simulations of subatomic many-body physics on a quantum frequency processor. Phys. Rev. A **100**(1), 012320 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.100.012320 arXiv: 1810.03959 [quant-ph]
- 407. I. Stetcu, A. Baroni, J. Carlson, Variational approaches to constructing the many-body nuclear ground state for quantum computing (2021). arXiv: 2110.06098 [nucl-th]
- 408. M.J. Cervia, A.B. Balantekin, S.N. Coppersmith, C.W. Johnson, P.J. Love, C. Poole, K. Robbins, M. Saffman, Lipkin model on a quantum computer. Phys. Rev. C 104(2), 024305 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevC.104.024305 arXiv: 2011.04097 [hep-th]
- 409. N. Klco, A. Roggero, M. J. Savage, Standard model physics and the digital quantum revolution: thoughts about the interface (2021). arXiv: 2107.04769 [quant-ph]
- 410. S.R. Beane, R.C. Farrell, M. Varma, Entanglement minimization in hadronic scattering with pions. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 36(30), 2150205 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1142/S0217751X21502055 arXiv: 2108.00646 [hep-ph]
- 411. W. Kohn, L.J. Sham, Self-consistent equations including exchange and correlation effects. Phys. Rev. **140**, A1133–A1138 (1965). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.140.A1133
- 412. K. Tsukiyama, S.K. Bogner, A. Schwenk, In-medium similarity renormalization group for nuclei. Phys. Rev. Lett. **106**, 222502 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.222502 arXiv: 1006.3639 [nucl-th]
- 413. J. E. Lilienfeld, Method and apparatus for controlling electric currents. US Patent No. 1,745,175 (application filed in the US on October 8, 1926, Serial No. 140,863, and in Canada October 22, 1925)
- 414. R. N. Noyce, Semiconductor device and lead structure. Patent No. US2981877A. (filed in the US on July 30, 1959)
- 415. G. E. Moore, Cramming more components onto integrated circuits. Electronics 38.8 (1965)
- 416. T. Toffoli, Bicontinuous extensions of invertible combinatorial functions. Math. Syst. Theory 14, 13–23 (1981). https://doi. org/10.1007/BF01752388
- 417. C.H. Bennett, The thermodynamics of computation-a review. Int. J. Theor. Phys. 21(12), 905–940 (1982). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF02084158
- 418. P. Benioff, The computer as a physical system: a microscopic quantum mechanical Hamiltonian model of computers as represented by Turing machines. J. Stat. Phys. **22**(5), 563–591 (1980). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01011339
- 419. G. Popkin, Quest for qubits. Science **354**(6316), 1090–1093 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.354.6316.1090 420. L. Gyongyosi, S. Imre, A survey on quantum computing technology. Comput. Sci. Rev. **31**, 51–71 (2019). https://doi.org/
- 10.1016/j.cosrev.2018.11.002
- 421. M. Motta, J.E. Rice, Emerging quantum computing algorithms for quantum chemistry. WIREs Comput. Mol. Sci. (2021)
- 422. D. J. Dean, The race to harness quantum is one the US must win. https://thequantuminsider.com/2020/12/18/the-race-to-harness-quantum-is-one-the-us-must-win/ (2020)
- 423. J. Carter et al., ASCR report on quantum computing testbed for science. https://science.osti.gov/-/media/ascr/pdf/ programdocuments/docs/2017/QTSWReport.pdf (2017)
- 424. J. E. Moore et al., Opportunities for quantum computing in chemical and materials sciences. https://science.osti.gov/-/ media/bes/pdf/reports/2018/Quantum_computing.pdf (2017)
- 425. D. Awschalom et al., Opportunities for basic research for next-generation quantum systems. https://science.osti.gov/-/ media/bes/pdf/reports/2018/Quantum_systems.pdf (2017)
- 426. D. Beck et al., Nuclear physics and quantum information science. https://science.osti.gov/-/media/np/pdf/Reports/NSAC_ QIS_Report.pdf (2019)
- 427. P.F.S. Rosa, A. Weiland, S.S. Fender, B.L. Scott, F. Ronning, J.D. Thompson, E.D. Bauer, S.M. Thomas, Single-component superconducting state in UTe2 at 2 K. 2021. arXiv: 2110.06200 [cond-mat.supr-con]
- 428. V. Lahtinen, J.K. Pachos, A short introduction to topological quantum computation. SciPost Phys. 3 (3 2017), p. 021. https:// doi.org/10.21468/SciPostPhys.3.3.021. https://scipost.org/10.21468/SciPostPhys.3.3.021
- 429. A.O. Scheie, E.A. Ghioldi, J. Xing, J.A.M. Paddison, N.E. Sherman, M. Dupont, D. Abernathy, D.M. Pajerowski, S.-S. Zhang, L.O. Manuel, A.E. Trumper, C.D. Pemmaraju, A.S. Sefat, D.S. Parker, T.P. Devereaux, J.E. Moore, C.D. Batista, D.A. Tennant, Witnessing quantum criticality and entanglement in the triangular antiferromagnet KYbSe2 (2021). arXiv: 2109.11527 [cond-mat.str-el]

- S. Wang, P. Czarnik, A. Arrasmith, M. Cerezo, L. Cincio, P.J. Coles, Can error mitigation improve trainability of noisy variational quantum algorithms? (2021). arXiv: 2109.01051 [quant-ph]
- 431. T. Volkoff, Z. Holmes, A. Sornborger, Universal compiling and (No-)free-lunch theorems for continuous-variable quantum learning. PRX Quantum 2(4), 040327 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PRXQuantum.2.040327
- A. Senichev, Z.O. Martin, S. Peana, D. Sychev, X. Xu, A.S. Lagutchev, A. Boltasseva, V.M. Shalaev, Room-temperature single-photon emitters in silicon nitride. Sci. Adv. 7(50), eabj0627 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abj0627
- 433. N. Klco, E.F. Dumitrescu, A.J. McCaskey, T.D. Morris, R.C. Pooser, M. Sanz, E. Solano, P. Lougovski, M.J. Savage, Quantum-classical computation of Schwinger model dynamics using quantum computers. Phys. Rev. A 98(3), 032331 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.98.032331 arXiv: 1803.03326 [quant-ph]
- B. Hall, A. Roggero, A. Baroni, J. Carlson, Simulation of collective neutrino oscillations on a quantum computer. Phys. Rev. D 104(6), 063009 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.104.063009 arXiv: 2102.12556 [quant-ph]
- 435. F. Arute et al., Quantum supremacy using a programmable superconducting processor. Nature 574(7779), 505–510 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1666-5 arXiv: 1910.11333 [quant-ph]
- 436. Y. Liu et al., Closing the "quantum supremacy" gap: achieving real-time simulation of a random quantum circuit using a new sunway supercomputer, in Proceedings of the International Conference for High Performance Computing, Networking, Storage and Analysis. SC '21. St. Louis, Missouri: Association for Computing Machinery (2021). ISBN: 9781450384421. https://doi.org/10.1145/3458817.3487399. arXiv: 2110.14502 [quant-ph]

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Authors and Affiliations

Editor: Ingo Tews (⊠) Theoretical Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA E-mail: itews@lanl.gov

Editor: Zohreh Davoudi

Maryland Center for Fundamental Physics and Department of Physics, University of Maryland, College Park, Maryland 20742, USA

Editor: Andreas Ekström Department of Physics, Chalmers University of Technology, 41296 Göteborg, Sweden

Editor: Jason D. Holt TRIUMF, 4004 Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver BC V6T 2A3, Canada and Department of Physics, McGill University, Montréal, QC H3A 2T8, Canada

Kevin Becker

Department of Physics and Astronomy, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA 70803, USA

Raúl Briceño Thomas Jefferson National Accelerator Facility, Newport News, VA 23606, USA

Department of Physics, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA 23529, USA

David J. Dean Thomas Jefferson National Accelerator Facility, Newport News, VA 23606, USA

William Detmold

Center for Theoretical Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA

The NSF AI Institute for Artificial Intelligence and Fundamental Interactions, Cambridge, USA

Christian Drischler Facility for Rare Isotope Beams, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA

Thomas Duguet IRFU, CEA, Université Paris-Saclay, 91191 Gif-sur-Yvette, France

KU Leuven, Instituut voor Kern- en Stralingsfysica, 3001 Leuven, Belgium

Evgeny Epelbaum Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Fakultät für Physik und Astronomie, 44780 Bochum, Germany Ashot Gasparyan Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Fakultät für Physik und Astronomie, Institut für Theoretische Physik II, 44780 Bochum, Germany NRC "Kurchatov Institute" - ITEP, B. Cheremushkinskaya 25, Moscow 117218, Russia Jambul Gegelia High Energy Physics Institute, Tbilisi State University, 0186 Tbilisi, Georgia Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Fakultät für Physik und Astronomie, Institut für Theoretische Physik II, 44780 Bochum, Germany Jeremy R. Green School of Mathematics and Hamilton Mathematics Institute, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland Harald W. Grießhammer Institute for Nuclear Studies, Department of Physics, The George Washington University, Washington, DC 20052, USA Andrew D. Hanlon Physics Department, Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, NY 11973, USA Matthias Heinz Technische Universität Darmstadt, Department of Physics, 64289 Darmstadt, Germany ExtreMe Matter Institute EMMI, GSI Helmholtzzentrum für Schwerionenforschung GmbH, 64291 Darmstadt, Germany Heiko Hergert Facility for Rare Isotope Beams, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA Department of Physics and Astronomy, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA Martin Hoferichter Albert Einstein Center for Fundamental Physics, Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Bern, Sidlerstrasse 5, 3012 Bern, USA Marc Illa InQubator for Quantum Simulation (IQuS), Department of Physics, University of Washington, Seattle, WA 98195, USA David Kekejian Department of Physics and Astronomy, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA 70803, USA Alejandro Kievsky Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Largo Pontecorvo 3, 56100 Pisa, Italy Sebastian König Department of Physics, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC 27695, USA Hermann Krebs Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Fakultät für Physik und Astronomie, Institut für Theoretische Physik II, 44780 Bochum, Germany Kristina D. Launev Department of Physics and Astronomy, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA 70803, Georgia Dean Lee Facility for Rare Isotope Beams and Department of Physics and Astronomy, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA

Petr Navrátil TRIUMF, 4004 Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver BC V6T 2A3,, Canada Amy Nicholson Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC 27516-3255, USA Assumpta Parreño Departament de Física Quàntica i Astrofísica and Institut de Ciències del Cosmos, Universitat de Barcelona, 08028 Martí i Franquès 1, Spain Daniel R. Phillips Department of Physics and Astronomy and Institute of Nuclear and Particle Physics, Ohio University, Athens, OH 45701, USA Marek Płoszajczak Grand Accélérateur National d'Ions Lourds (GANIL), CEA/DSM - CNRS/IN2P3, BP 55027, 14076 Caen Cedex, France Xiu-Lei Ren Institut für Kernphysik & Cluster of Excellence PRISMA+, Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz, 55128 Mainz, Germany Thomas R. Richardson Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC 29208, USA Caroline Robin Fakultät für Physik, Universität Bielefeld, 33615 Bielefeld, Germany GSI Helmholtzzentrum für Schwerionenforschung, Planckstraße 1, 64291 Darmstadt, Germany Grigor H. Sargsvan Department of Physics and Astronomy, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA 70803, USA Martin J. Savage InQubator for Quantum Simulation (IQuS), Department of Physics, University of Washington, Seattle, WA 98195, USA Matthias R. Schindler Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC 29208, USA Phiala E. Shanahan Center for Theoretical Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA The NSF AI Institute for Artificial Intelligence and Fundamental Interactions, Cambridge, USA Roxanne P. Springer Department of Physics, Duke University, Durham, NC 27708, USA Alexander Tichai Technische Universität Darmstadt, Department of Physics, 64289 Darmstadt, Germany ExtreMe Matter Institute EMMI, GSI Helmholtzzentrum für Schwerionenforschung GmbH, 64291 Darmstadt, Germany Ubirajara van Kolck Department of Physics, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ 85721, USA Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS/IN2P3, IJCLab, 91405 Orsay, France Michael L. Wagman Center for Theoretical Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, Batavia, IL 60510, USA André Walker-Loud Nuclear Science Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA

Chieh–Jen Yang Department of Physics, Chalmers University of Technology, 412 96 Göteborg, Sweden

Xilin Zhang Department of Physics, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, USA

Facility for Rare Isotope Beams, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA